PRECISE SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS LTD Form 425 February 04, 2003

Filed by VERITAS Software Corporation Pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended Subject Company: Precise Software Solutions Ltd. Commission File No.: 0-30828

#### EXPLANATORY NOTE

This filing relates to a proposed merger between an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of VERITAS Software Corporation, a Delaware corporation (VERITAS), and Precise Software Solutions Ltd., an Israeli company (Precise), pursuant to the terms of an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 19, 2002, by and among VERITAS, Precise, and Argon Merger Sub Ltd., an Israeli company. The merger agreement was previously filed by each of VERITAS and Precise under cover of current reports on Form 8-K each filed on December 24, 2002 and is also included in this filing as Annex A hereto.

On January 17, 2003, VERITAS announced that as a result of the previously disclosed review of its transactions with AOL Time Warner Inc. entered into in September 2000 (see VERITAS quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 14, 2002), VERITAS will restate its financial results for its fiscal years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001 and its quarters ended December 31, 2000 through September 30, 2002. Please see VERITAS current report on Form 8-K, dated January 17, 2003, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 17, 2003, for a discussion of the restatement.

VERITAS expects to file restated financial statements for the affected periods with the Securities and Exchange Commission by March 31, 2003. Following the filing of the restated financial statements for the affected periods, VERITAS will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission a registration statement on Form S-4 in connection with its proposed merger with Precise. VERITAS and Precise expect to complete the proposed merger in the quarter ended June 30, 2003.

In order to provide investors with important information regarding the proposed merger prior to the filing of the Form S-4 registration statement, VERITAS and Precise have prepared this document, which consists of certain non-financial information related to the merger agreement and the merger that will be included in the proxy statement/prospectus that will form a part of the Form S-4 registration statement. The Form S-4 registration statement that VERITAS will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission following the filing of the restated financial statements for the affected periods will include the information included herein as well as additional financial and non-financial information required to be included in a Form S-4 registration statement, which additional information is not included herein, and will also incorporate by reference certain other information regarding VERITAS and Precise, including certain documents filed by VERITAS and Precise under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The information contained herein is preliminary and incomplete. Investors are urged not to make a decision regarding their vote on the proposed merger reflected in this filing, or any decision as to the form of consideration they may elect to receive if the merger is consummated, until after they have received a definitive and complete copy of the proxy statement/prospectus relating to the proposed merger.

All references in this filing to the registration statement are references to the registration statement on Form S-4 to which we refer above to be filed by VERITAS, and all references in this filing to the proxy statement/prospectus are references to the proxy statement/prospectus to form a part of such registration statement on Form S-4.

\* \* \*

#### Additional Information and Where to Find It

In connection with the proposed merger with Precise, VERITAS intends to file a registration statement on Form S-4, including a proxy statement/prospectus, with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Investors and security holders are urged to read the proxy statement/prospectus regarding the proposed merger when it becomes available because it will contain important information about the transaction. Investors and security holders may obtain a free copy of the proxy statement/prospectus when it is available and other documents filed by VERITAS and Precise with the Securities and Exchange Commission at the Securities and Exchange Commission s web site at www.sec.gov. The proxy statement/prospectus and these other documents also may be obtained for free from VERITAS and Precise.

#### **Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information**

This filing contains, and the proxy statement/ prospectus when it becomes available and the documents that will be incorporated by reference into the proxy statement/ prospectus when it becomes available will contain, forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 with respect to VERITAS and Precise s financial condition, results of operations and business, and the expected impact on VERITAS financial performance of the proposed merger with Precise. All statements other than statements of historical fact are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements, including: any projections of earnings, revenues or synergies; any statements of plans, strategies and objectives for future operations, including the execution of integration plans; and any statements concerning proposed new products. In some cases, words such as anticipates, expects, intends, plans, believes, seeks. estimates. coul may, will can and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements involve a number of risks and uncertainties, including: the risk that the merger is not completed or is delayed; the risk that the combined company will not successfully execute its product development and integration efforts; and the risk that the combined company will not gain market acceptance of its products and services. These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results contemplated by any forward-looking statements. VERITAS and Precise are not under any obligation and do not intend to update their respective forward-looking statements. In evaluating the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, you should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties that are described in the section titled Risks Related to the Merger which begins on the next page, and in the section to be titled Risk Factors in the proxy statement/ prospectus when it becomes available, and in the documents that will be incorporated by reference into the proxy statement/ prospectus when it becomes available.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER THE COMPANIES COMPARATIVE PER SHARE MARKET PRICE DATA **RISKS RELATED TO THE MERGER** THE MERGER Background of the Merger Precise s Reasons for the Merger VERITAS Reasons for the Merger Recommendation of Precise s Audit Committee and Board of Directors Opinion of Precise s Financial Advisor Interests of Precise s Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger Completion and Effectiveness of the Merger Structure of the Merger and Conversion of Precise Ordinary Shares Election and Exchange Procedures Material U.S. Federal and Israeli Income Tax Consequences to Precise Shareholders Accounting Treatment of the Merger Regulatory Filings and Approvals Required to Complete the Merger Other Approvals Israeli Tax Rulings Restrictions on Sales of Shares by Affiliates of Precise and VERITAS Nasdaq Listing of VERITAS Common Stock to be Issued in the Merger Delisting and Deregistration of Precise Ordinary Shares after the Merger Operations After the Merger THE MERGER AGREEMENT Conditions to Completion of the Merger **Representations and Warranties** Precise s Conduct of Business Before Completion of the Merger No Other Negotiations Involving Precise Other Matters Related to the Merger Termination of the Merger Agreement Payment of Termination Fee Extension, Waiver and Amendment of the Merger Agreement Voting Undertakings Affiliate Agreements WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION ANNEX A Agreement and Plan of Merger ANNEX B Form of Voting Undertaking FORM OF VOTING UNDERTAKING ANNEX C Form of Affiliate Agreement ANNEX D Form of Opinion of Goldman, Sachs & Co.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER	1
THE COMPANIES	6
COMPARATIVE PER SHARE MARKET PRICE DATA	7
RISKS RELATED TO THE MERGER	8
THE MERGER	12
Background of the Merger	12
Precise s Reasons for the Merger	17
VERITAS Reasons for the Merger	18
Recommendation of Precise s Audit Committee and Board of Dire	ectors 19
Opinion of Precise s Financial Advisor	19
Interests of Precise s Directors and Executive Officers in the Merg	ger 24
Completion and Effectiveness of the Merger	27
Structure of the Merger and Conversion of Precise Ordinary Shares	s 28
Election and Exchange Procedures	28
Material U.S. Federal and Israeli Income Tax Consequences to Pre	cise
Shareholders	30
Accounting Treatment of the Merger	32
Regulatory Filings and Approvals Required to Complete the Merge	er 32
Other Approvals	33
Israeli Tax Rulings	34
Restrictions on Sales of Shares by Affiliates of Precise and VERIT	
Nasdaq Listing of VERITAS Common Stock to be Issued in the M	e e
Delisting and Deregistration of Precise Ordinary Shares after the M	
Operations After the Merger	35
THE MERGER AGREEMENT	36
Conditions to Completion of the Merger	36
Representations and Warranties	37
Precise s Conduct of Business Before Completion of the Merger	39
No Other Negotiations Involving Precise	41
Other Matters Related to the Merger	43
Termination of the Merger Agreement	44
Payment of Termination Fee	45
Extension, Waiver and Amendment of the Merger Agreement	46
Voting Undertakings	46
Affiliate Agreements	47
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	47
LIST OF ANNEXES	
ANNEX A Agreement and Plan of Merger	A-1
ANNEX B Form of Voting Undertaking	B-1
ANNEX C Form of Affiliate Agreement	C-1
ANNEX D Form of Opinion of Goldman, Sachs & Co.	D-1

#### QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER

#### Q: When do you expect the merger to be completed?

A: We are working towards completing the merger as quickly as reasonably possible. In order to complete the merger, VERITAS must register the shares it will issue to Precise shareholders who elect to receive the mixed consideration on a registration statement on Form S-4 which must be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. VERITAS will file this registration statement upon the completion of the restatement of certain financial results as more fully described in the Explanatory Note at the beginning of this filing. In addition, several conditions must be satisfied or waived before the merger is completed. See the section of this filing titled The Merger Agreement Conditions to Completion of the Merger for a summary description of these conditions. We expect to complete the merger in the quarter ended June 30, 2003.

#### Q: What will I receive in the merger?

A: If the merger is completed, you will receive, at your election and subject to the election procedures described in this filing and in the proxy statement/prospectus when it becomes available, for each ordinary share of Precise that you own either:

the cash consideration, which consists of \$16.50 in cash;

or

the mixed consideration, which consists of (1) \$12.375 in cash, plus (2) 0.2365 of a share of VERITAS common stock.

Precise shareholders who are Israeli holders, as defined in the merger agreement, and who properly and timely elect to receive the mixed consideration will receive (1) \$12.375 in cash, plus (2) an amount of cash equal to 0.2365 multiplied by the closing price of one share of VERITAS common stock, as reported on The Nasdaq National Market, on the trading day immediately prior to the date the merger takes effect.

The consideration for your Precise ordinary shares, including the exchange ratio for the VERITAS common stock component of the mixed consideration, will not change even if the market prices of Precise ordinary shares or VERITAS common stock fluctuate. However, if you elect to receive the mixed consideration, the value of the VERITAS shares included in the mixed consideration will fluctuate up or down with fluctuations in the market price of VERITAS common stock.

Neither Precise nor VERITAS is making any recommendation as to whether Precise shareholders should elect to receive the cash consideration or the mixed consideration in connection with the merger.

- Q: Why will I be asked to indicate on the proxy card whether or not I am an Israeli holder? Why will Precise shareholders who declare that they are Israeli holders and who elect to receive the mixed consideration receive, instead of VERITAS common stock, the cash equivalent of the value of VERITAS common stock on the trading day immediately prior to the date the merger takes effect?
- A: To comply with Israeli securities laws, Israeli holders who properly and timely elect to receive the mixed consideration will be entitled to receive \$12.375 in cash, plus, instead of VERITAS common stock, an amount of cash equal to 0.2365 multiplied by the closing price of one share of VERITAS common stock, as reported on The Nasdaq National Market, on the trading day immediately prior to the date the merger takes effect. For this reason, you are being asked to declare whether or not you are an Israeli holder. You will be deemed to be an Israeli holder if (1) you have provided Precise or the broker through which you hold Precise ordinary shares with an address in the State of Israel for the purpose of sending notices or (2) the center of your vital interests, as evidenced by family, economic and social ties, is in Israel. In addition, you will be asked to indicate whether or not you are an Israeli resident, as defined in the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance [New Version], 1961, for Israeli tax purposes. This information may be of

#### **Table of Contents**

importance in determining whether any Israeli withholding tax obligation applies to the consideration for your Precise ordinary shares.

#### Q: Will I be able to trade any VERITAS common stock that I receive in the merger?

A: The VERITAS common stock you will receive if you properly make a timely election to receive the mixed consideration and are not an Israeli holder will be freely tradeable, unless you are an affiliate of VERITAS or Precise. VERITAS common stock is listed on The Nasdaq National Market under the symbol VRTS.

#### Q: What do I need to do now?

A: You do not need to do anything until you receive the proxy statement/prospectus, which you should carefully review when it becomes available. After you review the proxy statement/ prospectus in its entirety, you should mail your completed and signed proxy card in the return envelope enclosed with the proxy statement/prospectus or as indicated on the proxy card as soon as possible so that your ordinary shares can be voted at the extraordinary meeting of Precise shareholders. In order to be counted, your properly completed and signed proxy card must be received by Precise at least 24 hours before the start of the extraordinary meeting.

#### Q: Why will I be asked to indicate on the proxy card whether or not I am related to VERITAS or the merger subsidiary?

A: Under Israeli law, if VERITAS, the merger subsidiary or any person or entity holding 25% or more of either the voting power or the right to appoint a director of VERITAS or the merger subsidiary, holds shares in Precise, then there is an additional requirement for the approval of Proposal No. 1. The additional requirement is that a majority of the shareholders who are present at the extraordinary meeting, excluding VERITAS, the merger subsidiary or any person or entity holding 25% or more of either the voting power or the right to appoint a director of VERITAS, the merger subsidiary or any person or entity holding 25% or more of either the voting power or the right to appoint a director of VERITAS or the merger subsidiary, or anyone acting on their behalf, including their family members or entities under their control, shall not have objected to the merger.

#### Q: How do I elect to receive the cash consideration or the mixed consideration for my Precise ordinary shares?

A: A form for making an election will be enclosed with the proxy statement/ prospectus when it becomes available. Additional copies of the election form may be obtained from the exchange agent. For your election to be effective, your properly completed election form, along with your Precise share certificates or an appropriate guarantee of delivery, must be sent to and received by the exchange agent to be specified in the proxy statement/prospectus, on or before 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the election deadline to be specified in the proxy statement/prospectus. **Do not send your election form or share certificates together with your proxy card**. Instead, use the separate envelope that will be specifically provided for the election form and your share certificates. Please carefully read this filing and the proxy statement/ prospectus when it becomes available for more information about the procedures for electing to receive the cash consideration.

If you do not properly and timely send in your completed election form, along with your Precise share certificates or an appropriate guarantee of delivery, you will be deemed to have elected the cash consideration and will receive \$16.50 in cash for each of your Precise ordinary shares if the merger is completed.

# Neither Precise nor VERITAS is making any recommendation as to whether Precise shareholders should elect to receive the cash consideration or the mixed consideration in connection with the merger.

#### Q: Should I send in my share certificates now?

A: Do not send your election form or share certificates together with your proxy card. However, if you want to elect to receive the mixed consideration in exchange for your Precise ordinary shares, you must send your Precise share certificates, or an appropriate guarantee of delivery, and your completed election form indicating your election of the mixed consideration to the exchange agent in the separate envelope that will be specifically provided for the election form and share certificates.

# Q: Can I elect to receive the cash consideration for some of my Precise ordinary shares and the mixed consideration for some of my Precise ordinary shares?

A: No. You may only elect to receive one consideration alternative for all of your Precise ordinary shares. A holder of record of Precise ordinary shares who holds such ordinary shares as a nominee, trustee or in another representative capacity may submit multiple election forms, provided that such record holder certifies that each such election form covers all the Precise ordinary shares held by such record holder for a particular beneficial owner.

#### Q. What is the value of the consideration I will receive if I elect to receive the mixed consideration?

A. If you properly and timely elect to receive the mixed consideration, the value of the consideration you will receive will depend in part upon the value of VERITAS common stock, which fluctuates. The following table illustrates the effect of changes in the value of VERITAS common stock on the value of the mixed consideration.

	Cash Value Per Precise Ordinary Share		
Price Per Share of VERITAS Common Stock	Mixed Election	Cash Election	
\$ 16.50	\$16.277	\$16.50	
\$ 17.442 <sup>1</sup>	\$ 16.50	\$16.50	
\$ 19.00	\$16.869	\$16.50	

1) The price per share of VERITAS common stock at which the value of the mixed consideration is equal to the value of the cash consideration.

Historically, the price of VERITAS common stock has fluctuated significantly and if you elect to receive the mixed consideration in exchange for your Precise ordinary shares, the value of the VERITAS shares will fluctuate up and down with fluctuations in the market price of VERITAS common stock. The value of the consideration you receive in the merger if you properly and timely elect to receive the mixed consideration may be more or less than the \$16.50 that you would have received if you elected to receive the cash consideration. In addition, the trading price of VERITAS common stock on the date you receive the cash consideration or the mixed consideration in exchange for your Precise ordinary shares could be more or less than the trading price of VERITAS common stock on the date you make your election to receive either the cash consideration or the mixed consideration. This means that the then-current value of the mixed consideration that you would receive for each Precise ordinary share if you properly and timely elect to receive the mixed consideration could be more or less than the value of the mixed consideration on the date you make your election to receive the mixed consideration or the mixed consideration for receive the mixed consideration or the date you make your election to receive the mixed consideration or the mixed consideration or receive either the cash consideration or the date you make your election to receive the mixed consideration or the mixed consideration or the date you make your election to receive either the cash consideration or the mixed consideration or the mixed consideration.

#### Q. Can I sell my Precise ordinary shares after the record date for the Precise extraordinary meeting?

A. If you have not already made an election with respect to your Precise ordinary shares, you can sell them and you will still be entitled to vote those shares at the extraordinary meeting because you were the holder of record on the record date.

However, if you have already made an effective election with respect to your Precise ordinary shares by delivering an election form and your share certificates or a guarantee of delivery to the exchange agent, you may not sell your Precise ordinary shares until you have effectively revoked your election and have received your share certificates from the exchange agent.

#### Q. If I want to change or revoke my election, what should I do?

A. You may change your election at any time prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the election deadline to be specified in the proxy statement/prospectus by written notice accompanied by a properly completed and signed later-dated election form received by the exchange agent prior to that time. You may revoke your election at any time prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the election deadline to be specified in the proxy statement/prospectus by withdrawing your share certificates by written notice received by the exchange agent prior to that time. All elections will be revoked automatically if the merger agreement is terminated.

# Q. If I purchase Precise ordinary shares after the record date for the Precise extraordinary meeting, which record date has not yet been established, can I vote these shares at the Precise extraordinary meeting? How do I make an election with respect to these shares?

A. You cannot vote shares that you may purchase after the record date (which has not yet been established) at the extraordinary meeting because you would not have been the record holder of those shares on the record date. However, you are entitled to make an election with respect to those shares at any time prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the election deadline to be specified in the proxy statement/prospectus when it becomes available. You may obtain an election form from VERITAS by calling VERITAS Investor Relations at (650) 537-2508 or at the investor relations section of VERITAS website at www.veritas.com. If you do not make an election with respect to your shares, you will receive the cash consideration, which consists of \$16.50 in cash.

# Q: What happens if the merger is completed and I have not properly made a timely election to receive either the cash consideration or the mixed consideration for my Precise ordinary shares?

A: If you do not properly make a timely election pursuant to the election procedures described in this filing and in the proxy statement/prospectus when it becomes available:

you will be deemed to have elected to receive the cash consideration of \$16.50 for each ordinary share of Precise that you own; and

the exchange agent will send you written instructions for surrendering your Precise ordinary shares for the cash consideration after the merger is completed.

#### Q: What do the Precise audit committee and board of directors recommend?

A: The Precise audit committee and board of directors have unanimously approved the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and recommend that you vote FOR the merger. The Precise board of directors makes no recommendation as to whether you should elect to receive the cash consideration or the mixed consideration.

#### Q: Will I recognize gain or loss for tax purposes?

A: Generally, yes. See the section of this filing titled The Merger Material U.S. Federal and Israeli Income Tax Consequences to Precise Shareholders for a summary discussion of material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger to U.S. holders and material Israeli tax considerations in connection with the merger.

#### You should consult your tax advisor about the particular tax consequences of the merger to you.

#### Q: Am I entitled to dissenters rights?

A: No. Under Israeli law, holders of Precise ordinary shares are not entitled to statutory dissenters rights in connection with the merger.

## Q: Is VERITAS stockholder approval required to complete the merger?

A: No.

#### Q: Who can help answer my questions?

A: You can write or call Investor Relations at Precise Software Solutions Ltd., 690 Canton Street, Westwood, Massachusetts 02090, telephone (800) 310-4777, with any questions about the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

#### THE COMPANIES

#### **VERITAS Software Corporation**

350 Ellis Street Mountain View, California 94043 (650) 527-8000

VERITAS is a leading independent supplier of storage software products and services. Storage software includes storage management and data protection software as well as clustering, replication and storage area networking or network attached storage software. VERITAS develops and sells products for most popular operating systems, including various versions of Windows, UNIX and Linux. VERITAS also develops and sells products that support a wide variety of servers, storage devices, databases, applications and network solutions. VERITAS also provides a full range of services to assist its customers in assessing, architecting and implementing their storage software solutions.

#### Precise Software Solutions Ltd.

10 Hata asiya Street, P.O. Box 1066 Or-Yehuda, Israel 60408 972 (3) 735-2222

Precise is a provider of software that assists organizations in monitoring and optimizing the performance of their Information Technology infrastructure. This IT infrastructure consists of networks, operating systems, servers, applications, databases and storage devices that help manage traditional and electronic business activities. Precise s software allows an organization to continuously monitor its infrastructure performance and be alerted when performance parameters exceed user-established thresholds. When Precise s software detects a performance problem, it also provides technology support personnel with a thorough set of diagnostic data that pinpoints the specific cause of performance degradation and offers suggested alternatives to alleviate the problem. Precise s software serves businesses that rely on enterprise applications to cut costs and improve efficiencies, as well as those that have implemented e-business applications. Businesses have become increasingly reliant on the proper functioning of their Information Technology infrastructure and Precise s software assists them in achieving this goal.

#### Argon Merger Sub Ltd.

22 Rivlin Street Jerusalem, Israel 94263

Argon Merger Sub Ltd. is a newly-formed, wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of VERITAS. VERITAS formed this subsidiary as an Israeli corporation solely to effect the merger, and this subsidiary has not conducted and will not conduct any business during any period of its existence. We refer to this subsidiary throughout this filing as the merger subsidiary.

#### COMPARATIVE PER SHARE MARKET PRICE DATA

VERITAS common stock is traded on The Nasdaq National Market under the symbol VRTS. Precise ordinary shares are traded on The Nasdaq National Market under the symbol PRSE.

The following table shows the high and low per share sales prices of VERITAS common stock and Precise ordinary shares as reported on The Nasdaq National Market on December 18, 2002, the last full trading day preceding public announcement that VERITAS and Precise had entered into the merger agreement.

The table also includes the equivalent high and low sales prices per Precise ordinary share on those dates for (1) the cash consideration and (2) the mixed consideration. In the case of the cash consideration, these equivalent high and low sales prices per share reflect the \$16.50 in cash that you would receive for each Precise ordinary share surrendered for the cash consideration. In the case of the mixed consideration, these equivalent high and low sales prices per share reflect the \$12.375 in cash plus the fluctuating value of the 0.2365 of a share of VERITAS common stock that you would receive for each Precise ordinary share surrendered for the mixed consideration if the merger had been completed on either of these dates.

						Equivalent P	rice Per Shar	e
		ITAS on Stock		cise y Shares		ash eration		xed leration
	High	Low	High	Low	High	Low	High	Low
December 18, 2002	\$17.93	\$17.11	\$12.20	\$11.49	\$16.50	\$16.50	\$16.62	\$16.42

The above table shows only historical comparisons. These comparisons may not provide meaningful information to you in determining whether to approve the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement or whether to elect to receive the cash consideration or the mixed consideration for your Precise ordinary shares. If the merger is completed and you have properly made a timely election to receive the mixed consideration, the actual value of the consideration you will receive in the merger may be higher or lower than the amounts set forth above, depending on the actual value of VERITAS common stock. VERITAS and Precise urge you to obtain current market quotations for VERITAS common stock and Precise ordinary shares and to review carefully the information contained in this filing and the proxy statement/ prospectus when it becomes available or that will be incorporated by reference into the proxy statement/ prospectus when it becomes available, in considering whether to approve the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and whether to elect to receive the cash consideration or the mixed consideration for your Precise ordinary shares.

# Neither Precise nor VERITAS is making any recommendation as to whether you should elect to receive the cash consideration or the mixed consideration in connection with the merger.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **RISKS RELATED TO THE MERGER**

VERITAS and Precise operate in a market environment that cannot be predicted and that involves significant risks, many of which are beyond their control. In addition to the other information and risk factors contained in this filing, or that will be included or incorporated by reference into the proxy statement/ prospectus when it becomes available, you should carefully consider the risks described below and included or incorporated by reference in the proxy statement/ prospectus when it becomes available before deciding how to vote your Precise ordinary shares and before deciding whether to elect to receive the cash consideration or the mixed consideration for your Precise ordinary shares in the merger. If you properly make a timely election to receive the mixed consideration for your Precise ordinary shares in the merger and you are not an Israeli holder, you will be choosing to exchange your current investment in Precise ordinary shares for, in part, an investment in VERITAS common stock. An investment in VERITAS common stock involves a high degree of risk. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to VERITAS, Precise, or VERITAS and Precise as a combined company.

# While VERITAS and Precise s share prices have been volatile in recent periods, the merger consideration, including the exchange ratio for the VERITAS common stock component of the mixed consideration, is fixed.

Upon completion of the merger, each ordinary share of Precise will be exchanged for either \$16.50 in cash or a combination of \$12.375 in cash and 0.2365 of a share of VERITAS common stock. Precise shareholders who are Israeli holders, as defined in the merger agreement, and who properly and timely elect to receive the mixed consideration will receive (1) \$12.375 in cash, plus (2) an amount of cash equal to 0.2365 multiplied by the closing price of one share of VERITAS common stock, as reported on The Nasdaq National Market, on the trading day immediately prior to the date the merger takes effect. The merger consideration, including the exchange ratio for the VERITAS common stock component of the mixed consideration, will not change even if the market price of either or both the Precise ordinary shares and VERITAS common stock fluctuates. However, if you elect to receive the mixed consideration, the value of the VERITAS shares included in the mixed consideration will fluctuate up or down with fluctuations in the market price of VERITAS common stock.

Neither Precise nor VERITAS may withdraw from the merger, and Precise may not resolicit the vote of its shareholders, solely because of changes in the market price of Precise ordinary shares or VERITAS common stock. If you elect to receive the mixed consideration for your Precise ordinary shares in the merger, the specific dollar value of VERITAS common stock you will receive upon completion of the merger will depend on the market value of VERITAS common stock at that time, which may be different from the closing price of VERITAS common stock on the last full trading day preceding public announcement of the merger agreement, the date of this filing, the last full trading day prior to the date of the proxy statement/ prospectus, the date you make your election or the date of the Precise extraordinary meeting. The mixed consideration may represent more or less value than the cash consideration, depending on fluctuations in VERITAS stock price.

# If you are an Israeli holder or you elect, or fail to properly make a timely election and are deemed to have elected, to receive the cash consideration for your Precise ordinary shares, you will not be entitled to receive any VERITAS common stock and you will not have an investment in the combined company following the merger.

You may only elect to receive either the cash consideration or the mixed consideration for all of your Precise ordinary shares. If the merger is completed and you are an Israeli holder or you elect to receive the cash consideration or you fail to properly make a timely election and are deemed to have elected to receive the cash consideration, you will not be entitled to receive any VERITAS common stock and you will not have an investment in the combined company following the merger. The mixed consideration may represent greater or less value than the cash consideration, depending on fluctuations in the price of VERITAS common stock.



#### **Table of Contents**

# VERITAS stock price may be volatile in the future, and if you elect to receive the mixed consideration in the merger, you could lose the value of your investment in VERITAS common stock.

The market price of VERITAS common stock has experienced significant fluctuations and may continue to fluctuate significantly, and if you elect to receive the mixed consideration in the merger, you could lose the value of your investment in VERITAS common stock. The market price of VERITAS common stock may be adversely affected by a number of factors, including:

announcements of VERITAS quarterly operating results or those of its competitors or its original equipment manufacturer customers;

rumors, whether or not accurate, announcements or press articles regarding changes in VERITAS management, organization, operations or prior financial statements;

inquiries by the Securities and Exchange Commission, Nasdaq or regulatory bodies;

changes in earnings estimates by securities analysts;

announcements of planned acquisitions by VERITAS or by its competitors;

the gain or loss of a significant customer or increases or decreases in purchases by customers;

litigation;

announcements of new products by VERITAS, its competitors or its original equipment manufacturer customers; and

economic slowdowns in general.

The stock market in general, and the market prices of stocks of other software companies in particular, have experienced extreme price volatility, which has adversely affected and may continue to adversely affect the market price of VERITAS common stock for reasons unrelated to VERITAS business or operating results.

# Although VERITAS and Precise expect that the merger will result in benefits to the combined company, those benefits may not occur because of integration and other challenges.

Achieving the expected benefits of the merger will depend in part on the integration of VERITAS and Precise s technology, operations and personnel in a timely and efficient manner. The challenges involved in this integration include:

incorporating Precise s technology and products into VERITAS next generation of products;

integrating Precise s products into VERITAS business because VERITAS does not currently sell Precise products;

integrating Precise s technical team with VERITAS larger and more widely dispersed engineering organization;

coordinating the efforts of the Precise sales organization with VERITAS larger and more widely dispersed sales organization;

persuading our employees that our business cultures are compatible; and

timely release of products to market.

The integration of VERITAS and Precise will be complex, time consuming and expensive, may disrupt VERITAS and Precise s businesses and may result in the loss of customers or key employees or the diversion of the attention of management. Some of Precise s suppliers, distributors, customers and licensors are VERITAS competitors or work with VERITAS competitors and as a result may terminate their business relationships with Precise as a result of the merger. In addition, the integration process may strain the combined company s financial and managerial controls and reporting systems and procedures. This may result

#### **Table of Contents**

in the diversion of management and financial resources from the combined company s core business objectives. There can be no assurance that VERITAS and Precise will successfully integrate their businesses or that the combined company will realize any of the anticipated benefits of the merger.

# The directors and executive officers of Precise have a personal interest that could have affected their decision to support or approve the merger.

The personal interest of the directors and executive officers of Precise in the merger and their participation in arrangements that are different from, or are in addition to, those of Precise shareholders generally could have affected their decision to support or to approve the merger. These interests include the following:

VERITAS assumption of Precise share options in the merger;

acceleration of vesting of Precise director share options immediately after the merger and the extension of the period for exercise of the share options, in the event that Precise shareholders approve a proposal to this effect that is expected to be considered at the Precise extraordinary meeting;

acceleration of vesting of specified share options of executive officers immediately prior to the merger;

potential severance compensation and additional accelerated option vesting under existing and new employment agreements if the executive officer s employment is terminated;

retention awards payable under specified circumstances;

VERITAS agreement to assume the obligations of Precise pursuant to any existing indemnification agreements and to enter into new indemnification agreements in favor of current and former Precise directors and specified Precise officers; and

acquisition of tail or runoff insurance coverage under Precise s existing directors and officers liability insurance covering a period of seven years after the merger.

As a result of these interests, these directors and executive officers may be more likely to recommend that you vote in favor of the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, than if they did not have these interests.

#### General uncertainty related to the merger could harm the combined company.

VERITAS or Precise s customers may, in response to the announcement of the proposed merger, delay or defer purchasing decisions. If VERITAS or Precise s customers delay or defer purchasing decisions, the combined company s revenue could materially decline or any increases in revenue could be lower than expected. Similarly, VERITAS and Precise employees may experience uncertainty about their future roles with the combined company. This may harm the combined company s ability to attract and retain key management, marketing, sales and technical personnel. Also, speculation regarding the likelihood of the closing of the merger could increase the volatility of VERITAS and Precise s share prices.

#### Third parties may terminate or alter existing contracts or relationships with Precise.

Precise has contracts with some of its suppliers, distributors, customers, licensors and other business partners. Some of these contracts require Precise to obtain consent from these other parties in connection with the merger. If these consents cannot be obtained, Precise may suffer a loss of potential future revenue and may lose rights that are material to Precise s business and the business of the combined company. In addition, third parties with whom Precise currently has relationships may terminate or otherwise reduce the scope of their relationship with Precise as a result of the merger.

#### Failure to complete the merger could harm Precise s ordinary share price and future business and operations.

If the merger is not completed, Precise may be subject to the following risks:

if the merger agreement is terminated under specified circumstances, Precise will be required to pay VERITAS a termination fee of \$16.2 million;

the price of Precise s ordinary shares may decline to the extent that the current market price of Precise s ordinary shares reflects a market assumption that the merger will be completed;

costs related to the merger, such as some legal, accounting and certain financial advisory fees, must be paid even if the merger is not completed; and

if the merger is terminated and Precise s board of directors determines to seek another merger or business combination, Precise may not be able to find a partner willing to pay an equivalent or more attractive price than that which would be paid in the merger.

#### Regulatory agencies must approve the merger and could impose conditions on, delay or refuse to approve the merger.

VERITAS and Precise intend to comply with the securities and antitrust laws of the United States, and any other jurisdiction in which the merger is subject to review, as well as with Israeli regulatory requirements. The reviewing authorities may seek to impose conditions on VERITAS and Precise before giving their approval or consent to the merger, and those conditions could harm the combined company s business. In addition, a delay in obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals will delay the completion of the merger. On January 17, 2003, VERITAS and Precise received early termination of the statutory waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act. On January 26, 2003, the Investment Center of Israel s Ministry of Industry and Trade consented to the change in ownership of Precise resulting from the merger. VERITAS and Precise have not yet obtained other governmental or regulatory approvals required to complete the merger. VERITAS and Precise may be unable to obtain these approvals, or obtain them within the timeframe contemplated by the merger agreement.

#### THE MERGER

The following is a description of the material aspects of the merger, including the merger agreement. While we believe that the following description covers the material terms of the merger, the description may not contain all of the information that is important to you. We encourage you to read carefully this entire filing, as well as the proxy statement/ prospectus when it becomes available, including the merger agreement attached to this filing as Annex A, for a more complete understanding of the merger.

#### **Background of the Merger**

VERITAS and Precise have been familiar with each other s businesses for several years and have periodically engaged in discussions regarding possible business arrangements. For example, in early 2002, employees of VERITAS and Precise engaged in several discussions regarding possible licensing or reseller arrangements between the two companies.

On April 22, 2002, Michael J. Miracle was appointed to the Precise board of directors, and elected for a three year term by Precise s shareholders on May 30, 2002. Mr. Miracle formerly served as the vice president of corporate business development of VERITAS from February 1998 to October 2001.

On April 24, 2002, employees of VERITAS met with Shimon Alon, the chief executive officer of Precise, Itzhak ( Aki ) Ratner, the president of Precise and Benjamin H. Nye, the chief operating officer of Precise, in Westwood, Massachusetts to explore the potential for VERITAS to be a reseller of Precise s products.

On May 7, 2002, Kris Hagerman, the senior vice president of strategic operations of VERITAS and other employees of VERITAS met with Messrs. Alon and Nye in Mountain View, California to discuss the potential for a business combination between VERITAS and Precise. Both parties indicated a willingness to proceed with discussions.

On May 23, 2002, Mr. Hagerman indicated VERITAS interest in a possible business combination with Precise in a conference call with Messrs. Alon and Nye.

From May 30, 2002 to June 5, 2002, representatives of VERITAS and representatives of Credit Suisse First Boston, VERITAS financial advisor, held several telephone conferences to discuss a potential business combination with Precise.

During the week of June 3, 2002, Mr. Hagerman and other employees of VERITAS held several telephone conferences with Messrs. Alon and Nye to discuss the potential for a business combination between VERITAS and Precise.

On June 9, 2002, an employee of VERITAS telephoned Mr. Nye to discuss financial due diligence on Precise.

On June 12, 2002, Messrs. Hagerman and Alon had a telephonic meeting to further discuss the possibility of a business combination between the companies.

On June 13, 2002, VERITAS and Precise executed a nondisclosure agreement to facilitate discussions between the parties.

On June 14, 2002, VERITAS presented to Precise a non-binding proposal outlining terms for a potential business combination between the companies.

On June 17, 2002, Mr. Hagerman had a telephonic meeting with Messrs. Alon and Nye to discuss VERITAS non-binding proposal. During that conversation, Messrs. Alon and Nye informed Mr. Hagerman that Precise was not willing to accept VERITAS non-binding proposal.

On June 25, 2002, Mr. Hagerman and other employees of VERITAS met with Messrs. Alon and Nye in Westwood, Massachusetts to discuss valuation. No resolution was reached as to the pricing of the potential business combination.

#### **Table of Contents**

During the period from July 8, 2002 to July 12, 2002, Mr. Hagerman and other employees of VERITAS held several telephone conferences with Messrs. Alon and Nye to discuss potential synergies and benefits of the potential business combination.

On July 15, 2002 and August 28, 2002, the VERITAS board of directors held meetings at which the potential business combination with Precise was discussed.

On August 29, 2002, VERITAS presented to Precise a revised non-binding proposal outlining terms for a possible business combination between the companies.

During the week of September 2, 2002, Messrs. Alon and Nye discussed the possible business combination with Ron Zuckerman, Precise s chairman of the board, and individually with other members of Precise s board of directors.

On September 4, 2002, VERITAS formally engaged Credit Suisse First Boston to act as VERITAS financial advisor in connection with the possible business combination with Precise.

On September 5, 2002, Precise engaged Goldman, Sachs & Co. to act as Precise s financial advisor in connection with the possible business combination with VERITAS.

On September 6, 2002, a second party expressed to Precise an interest in a potential business combination with Precise and requested an opportunity to conduct financial and legal due diligence on Precise.

On September 10, 2002, a telephone conference to discuss upcoming diligence sessions in Dedham, Massachusetts was held between Mr. Hagerman and other employees of VERITAS, Mr. Nye and other employees of Precise, representatives of Credit Suisse First Boston, representatives of Goldman, Sachs & Co., representatives of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation, legal counsel for VERITAS, and representatives of Piper Rudnick LLP, legal counsel for Precise.

From September 10, 2002 to September 11, 2002, representatives of Precise and the second party and their respective financial advisors and legal counsel met in Dedham, Massachusetts to conduct financial and legal due diligence on Precise.

On September 12, 2002, the second party presented to Precise a non-binding proposal outlining terms for a possible business combination between Precise and the second party, subject to additional due diligence and exclusivity.

On September 13, 2002, the Precise board of directors held a special meeting to consider the proposals by VERITAS and the second party. Representatives from Goldman Sachs and Piper Rudnick advised the board on the status of the proposals. The board designated Mr. Zuckerman, Gary Fuhrman, a Precise director, and Anton Simunovic, a Precise director, to advise Precise s management regarding the proposals. The Precise board of directors determined that the current VERITAS proposal was more favorable than the proposal submitted by the second party. The board directed Goldman Sachs to continue its discussions on behalf of Precise with VERITAS and to communicate to the second party that its proposal was not sufficient for Precise to agree to negotiate exclusively with the second party.

From September 13, 2002 to September 14, 2002, employees of VERITAS, Mr. Nye and other employees of Precise, and representatives of the respective financial advisors and legal counsel for VERITAS and Precise met in Dedham, Massachusetts to conduct financial and legal due diligence on Precise.

During the week of September 16, 2002, the second party revised its non-binding proposal originally submitted on September 12, 2002. Goldman Sachs, on behalf of Precise, indicated to the second party that the second party s revised proposal was not competitive at that time.

From September 15, 2002 to September 18, 2002, an employee of VERITAS and representatives of Credit Suisse First Boston participated in several telephone conferences with representatives of Goldman Sachs to discuss the potential business combination with Precise.

#### **Table of Contents**

In mid-September 2002, VERITAS engaged KPMG LLP to conduct accounting due diligence on Precise, following which representatives of KPMG conducted accounting due diligence on Precise in Westwood, Massachusetts and in Israel.

On September 17, 2002, employees of VERITAS met with employees of Precise in Reston, Virginia, to conduct technical due diligence on Precise s storage resource management (SRM) products.

From September 18, 2002 to September 19, 2002, Fred van den Bosch, VERITAS chief technology officer and executive vice president of the advanced technology group, and other employees of VERITAS met with Rami Schwartz, Precise s executive vice president of research and development, in Tel Aviv, Israel, to discuss technical due diligence on Precise.

On September 20, 2002, Gary L. Bloom, the president and chief executive officer of VERITAS, had a telephonic meeting with Mr. Alon. During this discussion, Messrs. Bloom and Alon agreed to suspend their discussions until after September 30, 2002.

On October 3, 2002, at the instruction of VERITAS, Credit Suisse First Boston delivered to Precise a draft merger agreement and a draft exclusivity agreement prepared by Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati.

On October 7, 2002, Precise agreed to negotiate exclusively with VERITAS until October 23, 2003 with respect to a potential business combination.

On October 11, 2002, Piper Rudnick delivered comments to Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati to the draft merger agreement previously delivered on October 3, 2002.

From October 14, 2002 to October 16, 2002, employees of VERITAS, representatives of Precise, including Mr. Nye and Marc Venator, the chief financial officer of Precise, and other employees of Precise, and representatives of Credit Suisse First Boston and Goldman Sachs met in Dedham, Massachusetts to continue due diligence on Precise. During this time, Mark Bregman, VERITAS executive vice president, product operations, and other employees of VERITAS met with Messrs. Ratner and Schwartz in Tel Aviv, Israel, to conduct operational due diligence on Precise.

On October 17, 2002, Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati delivered to Precise a revised draft of the merger agreement. On that same day, Mr. Bregman and other employees of VERITAS met with employees of Precise in Reston, Virginia, to conduct operational due diligence on Precise.

From October 17, 2002 to October 22, 2002, the parties and their respective legal and financial advisors continued to negotiate terms, valuation and structure of a potential transaction, and representatives of VERITAS, Credit Suisse First Boston, KPMG and Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati continued to conduct due diligence on Precise. On October 18, 2002, Paul Sallaberry, VERITAS executive vice president, sales strategy, and other employees of VERITAS held a telephone conference with Messrs. Alon and Nye and other employees of Precise, to discuss Precise s sales operation.

On October 21, 2002, the Precise board of directors held a regularly scheduled board meeting at which the status of the potential business combination with VERITAS was discussed.

During the evening of October 22, 2002, representatives of Credit Suisse First Boston and Goldman Sachs had a telephone conference to discuss valuation. Goldman Sachs, on behalf of Precise, responded that it believed that the valuation proposed by VERITAS would be insufficient to conclude a transaction with Precise.

On October 23, 2002, the period during which Precise agreed to negotiate exclusively with VERITAS expired.

On October 24, 2002, Goldman Sachs, on behalf of Precise, contacted the second party regarding its continued interest in a potential transaction with Precise and indicated Precise s desire to resume discussions with the second party.

On October 25, 2002, the VERITAS board of directors held a special telephonic meeting to discuss the potential business combination with Precise.

#### **Table of Contents**

On October 26, 2002, Mr. Bloom telephoned Mr. Alon to discuss a revised non-binding proposal.

During the week of October 28, 2002, Mr. Bloom contacted Mr. Alon to discuss the revised non-binding proposal. No agreement was reached, but Messrs. Bloom and Alon determined that Messrs. Hagerman and Nye should continue to explore the terms of VERITAS proposal. Messrs. Hagerman and Nye discussed the proposal several times during the following week.

During the weeks of October 28, 2002 and November 4, 2002, Goldman Sachs, on behalf of Precise, conducted further discussions with the second party regarding its continued interest in a potential transaction with Precise. No proposal from the second party resulted from these discussions.

On November 5, 2002, Messrs. Bloom and Hagerman and another employee of VERITAS and Messrs. Alon and Nye met in Menlo Park, California to discuss valuation issues. During this meeting, VERITAS increased the valuation in its proposal from the initial level proposed during the October 22, 2002 telephone conference, but Precise stated that such valuation remained inadequate and decided to terminate discussions regarding a business combination at that time.

During the weeks of November 11, 2002 and November 18, 2002, representatives of Credit Suisse First Boston, on behalf of VERITAS, and Goldman Sachs, on behalf of Precise, held additional discussions regarding valuation issues at the request of their respective clients.

On November 22, 2002, discussions were held between representatives of Credit Suisse First Boston, on behalf of VERITAS, and Goldman Sachs, on behalf of Precise, concerning a revised non-binding proposal from VERITAS, at the request of their respective clients. Terms of that proposal included consideration for each Precise ordinary share of \$16.50 in cash, with an ability to elect to receive 25% of the consideration in VERITAS common stock.

On November 24, 2002, Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati delivered a revised draft of the merger agreement to Piper Rudnick. From November 24, 2002 to December 2, 2002, the parties and their respective legal and financial advisors continued to discuss open issues relating to the merger agreement.

On November 26, 2002, at the instruction of VERITAS, Credit Suisse First Boston delivered to Goldman Sachs drafts of the employment agreements prepared by Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati for Messrs. Alon, Nye, Ratner, and Schwartz.

On December 4, 2002, Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati delivered a revised draft of the merger agreement to Piper Rudnick. Also on December 4, 2002, representatives of VERITAS and Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati met in New York with representatives of Piper Rudnick to discuss open issues on the revised draft merger agreement. At that time, Piper Rudnick delivered to Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati a list of business issues related to the draft employment agreements.

From December 5, 2002 to December 10, 2002, VERITAS and Precise discussed open business issues related to the draft employment agreements. VERITAS delivered revised drafts of the employment agreements to Precise on December 10, 2002.

On December 11, 2002, a telephone conference was held between an employee of VERITAS and representatives of Precise and their respective legal and financial advisors to discuss outstanding due diligence items. Also on December 11, 2002, Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati delivered a revised draft of the merger agreement to Piper Rudnick.

From December 11, 2002 to December 16, 2002, the parties and their legal and financial advisors continued due diligence and discussions on the merger agreement and the employment agreements. On December 16, 2002, Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati delivered a revised draft of the merger agreement to Piper Rudnick. On December 17, 2002, Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati delivered revised drafts of the employment agreements to Piper Rudnick. From December 16, 2002 to December 19, 2002, the parties and their respective legal counsel finalized the merger agreement and the related agreements.

On December 15, 2002, Mr. Alon discussed with Mr. Zuckerman the status of the potential business combination with VERITAS.

From December 16, 2002 to December 18, 2002, the parties and their respective legal and financial advisors continued due diligence, and Precise and its advisors conducted financial and legal due diligence on VERITAS.

On December 17, 2002, the VERITAS board of directors convened a special telephonic meeting to consider the proposed business combination with Precise and the terms and conditions of the merger agreement. After discussion, the meeting was adjourned until the next day. On December 18, 2002, the VERITAS board of directors reconvened the meeting adjourned the prior evening. A representative of Credit Suisse First Boston and a representative of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati attended the December 17-18, 2002 meeting. Credit Suisse First Boston discussed its financial analyses of the merger, and responded to various questions raised by members of VERITAS board of directors regarding such financial analyses. The VERITAS board of directors reviewed a draft of the merger agreement and related documents. A representative from Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati responded to questions regarding such documents from the VERITAS board of directors and advised the board of directors regarding their fiduciary duties. After considering the terms of the proposed transaction, the VERITAS board of directors approved the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

On December 17, 2002, Messrs. Zuckerman, Fuhrman and Simunovic consulted with Messrs. Alon and Nye in a telephonic meeting regarding the business combination with VERITAS and the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. Representatives of Goldman Sachs made a presentation regarding its analyses of the consideration to be received by Precise shareholders in the merger, and responded to various questions raised by these directors. Representatives of Piper Rudnick also attended the meeting and provided an outline of the terms and conditions of the proposed merger agreement, and responded to various questions raised by these directors. Discussion ensued.

On December 18, 2002, the Precise board of directors, including the members of the audit committee, held a special telephonic meeting with respect to the business combination with VERITAS and the terms and conditions of the merger agreement. Representatives of Goldman Sachs and Piper Rudnick attended the meeting of the board of directors. Goldman Sachs presented its analyses of the consideration to be received by Precise shareholders in the merger and delivered its oral opinion, which was subsequently confirmed in writing, that as of the date of its written opinion and subject to the assumptions and limitations set forth therein, the aggregate merger consideration to be received by all holders of Precise ordinary shares pursuant to the merger agreement was fair from a financial point of view to such holders, in the aggregate. Representatives of Piper Rudnick gave a presentation on the merger agreement and related documents previously distributed to the directors and advised the board of directors regarding their fiduciary duties. The Precise board of directors asked clarification questions of representatives of Goldman Sachs and Piper Rudnick regarding their respective presentations and the representatives responded to such questions. The Precise board of directors did not engage in any discussions or adopt any resolutions at this meeting. Because Precise s directors and non-director office holders have a personal interest, directly or indirectly, in the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated thereby, as required by Israeli law, the consideration of these matters was referred to Precise is a audit committee.

Immediately after conclusion of the special telephonic meeting of Precise s board of directors on December 18, 2002, Precise s audit committee convened a special telephonic meeting to consider the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and the proposed modifications to the director share options. Representatives of Goldman Sachs and Piper Rudnick attended the meeting of the audit committee and responded to various questions raised by members of the audit committee regarding the matters being considered at the meeting. After discussing the terms of the proposed transactions, including the personal interests of Precise s directors and non-director office holders in the merger, the audit committee approved the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and the modifications to the director share options and recommended that these matters be submitted to Precise s entire board of directors for discussion and approval.



#### Table of Contents

Immediately after the conclusion of the special telephonic meeting of Precise s audit committee on December 18, 2002, the entire board of directors of Precise reconvened to consider the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, the merger and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, the modifications to the director share options and the proposed amendment of the articles of association regarding indemnification and insurance. Representatives of Goldman Sachs and Piper Rudnick attended the meeting of the board of directors and responded to various questions raised by members of Precise s board of directors. After discussing the terms of the proposed transactions, including the personal interests of Precise s directors and non-director office holders in the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and in the modifications to the director share options, the board of directors approved the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, the merger approved the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, the merger approved the merger agreement of the articles of association regarding indemnification and insurance and recommended that these matters be submitted to Precise s shareholders for approval at the extraordinary meeting.

During the early morning of December 19, 2002, VERITAS and Precise executed the merger agreement on substantially the same terms as the draft distributed to the Precise board of directors and the VERITAS board of directors, the applicable parties signed the related agreements, and VERITAS and Precise issued a joint press release announcing the execution of the merger agreement.

#### Precise s Reasons for the Merger

On December 18, 2002, the board of directors of Precise unanimously (1) determined that the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement are fair to, and in the best interests of, Precise and its shareholders, and (2) approved the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. The board of directors of Precise has unanimously recommended that the Precise shareholders vote FOR the approval of the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement for the reasons set forth below:

The cash merger consideration of \$16.50 proposed by VERITAS represented a premium of approximately 36.9% over \$12.05, the closing price per Precise ordinary share as reported on The Nasdaq National Market on December 18, 2002. In addition, the ability of Precise shareholders to elect to receive the mixed consideration at any time prior to the election deadline to be specified in the proxy statement/ prospectus represented the potential for Precise shareholders to receive consideration with a value in excess of \$16.50. Based on the per share closing price of VERITAS common stock of \$17.29 as reported on The Nasdaq National Market on December 18, 2002, the value of the mixed consideration would have been \$16.46 per Precise ordinary share. Since Precise s initial public offering on June 28, 2000, Precise ordinary shares had traded between \$6.45 and \$44.38 per share.

The opinion of Precise s financial advisor, Goldman, Sachs & Co., that as of December 19, 2002, and based upon and subject to the facts and assumptions set forth in the opinion, the aggregate merger consideration to be received by all holders of Precise ordinary shares pursuant to the merger agreement was fair from a financial point of view to such shareholders, in the aggregate, as more fully described below under the caption Opinion of Precise s Financial Advisor.

Considering the financial position of the merging companies, no reasonable concern exists that Precise, as the surviving corporation in the merger, will be unable to fulfill the obligations of Precise to its creditors.

In connection with the approval of the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and the recommendation to the Precise shareholders, the board of directors of Precise also considered, among others, the following positive and potentially negative factors:

The terms and conditions of the merger agreement and related agreements, including the willingness of Precise s directors, each in his or her capacity as a shareholder, officers and certain affiliated shareholders to commit to vote in favor of the proposed merger.

#### **Table of Contents**

The review of, and discussions with, Precise s senior management, financial and legal advisors and accountants, regarding certain business, financial, legal and accounting aspects of the proposed merger and the results of business due diligence reviews.

The ability to leverage VERITAS global distribution channels, proven brand recognition and existing customer, partner and strategic relationships to accelerate Precise s market penetration.

The ability to benefit from VERITAS greater corporate resources and increase competitiveness through synergies and internal economies of scale.

The impact of the proposed merger on Precise s customers, distributors and employees, including the possibility that the proposed merger might adversely affect relationships between Precise and certain of its customers and distributors, the risk that key management and technical personnel might leave Precise and the resulting effect on both the prospects of consummating the proposed merger and the business of Precise if the proposed merger were not consummated.

VERITAS ability to integrate Precise, and VERITAS record of integrating companies previously acquired by it.

The likelihood of the proposed merger being approved by the appropriate regulatory authorities.

The terms of the proposal by the second party and the opportunities and alternatives available to Precise if the proposed merger were not consummated.

The ability of Precise to accept a superior proposal, as defined in the merger agreement, after payment of a termination fee.

The possibility that certain provisions of the merger agreement, including the non-solicitation and other protective provisions, might have the effect of discouraging other persons potentially interested in acquiring Precise from pursuing such an opportunity.

The above discussion of the information and factors considered by the board of directors of Precise is not intended to be exhaustive. In view of the variety of factors considered and qualitative judgments made with respect to such factors in connection with its evaluation of the proposed merger, the board of directors did not find it practicable to quantify, analyze or assign relative weights to each individual factor to reach its determination. Individual members of Precise s board may have assigned different relative weights or conclusions to each factor affecting the board s determination.

#### VERITAS Reasons for the Merger

VERITAS board of directors has approved the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. VERITAS board of directors consulted with VERITAS senior management, as well as its legal counsel and financial advisors in reaching its decision to approve the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated the merger agreement. VERITAS board of directors has identified several potential benefits of the merger that it believes will contribute to the success of the combined company, including:

enhancing VERITAS ability to reach certain of its strategic and business objectives, which include extending VERITAS product and service offerings to include Precise s products, enabling VERITAS to bridge across storage, databases and application administrators;

enabling VERITAS to leverage its distribution channels, international presence, customer base, and brand recognition to accelerate Precise s market penetration and growth;

enabling VERITAS to enhance its position in areas where VERITAS is already strong by offering complementary products and services developed by Precise;

enhancing its product offerings in a variety of its core product areas; and

#### **Table of Contents**

providing an end-to-end solution for application performance and availability stretching from the end-user all the way through the underlying data layers.

VERITAS board of directors also considered the following when assessing the transaction:

Historical information concerning the business operations, positions and results of operations, technology and management style, competitive position, industry trends and prospects of VERITAS and Precise.

Information contained in filings by Precise with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Information and advice based on due diligence investigations by members of VERITAS management and VERITAS legal, financial and accounting advisors concerning the business, financial condition, operating results and prospects of Precise; and

Data on companies comparable to Precise and other financial analyses.

After taking into account these and other factors, the VERITAS board of directors determined that the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement are in the best interests of VERITAS and its stockholders and that VERITAS should enter into the merger agreement. Except as outlined above, VERITAS board of directors did not find it practicable to quantify, analyze or assign relative weights to each individual factor to reach its determination. Individual members of VERITAS board may have assigned different relative weights or conclusions to each factor affecting the board s determination.

#### Recommendation of Precise s Audit Committee and Board of Directors

On December 18, 2002, the members of the audit committee and board of directors of Precise unanimously determined that the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement are fair to, and in the best interests of, Precise and its shareholders, and that, considering the financial position of the merging companies, no reasonable concern exists that following the merger Precise, as the surviving corporation, would not be able to fulfill its obligations to its creditors. The audit committee and board of directors of Precise unanimously recommend that the Precise shareholders vote FOR approval of the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement for the reasons set forth above.

#### **Opinion of Precise s Financial Advisor**

Goldman Sachs delivered its opinion to the Precise board of directors that, as of December 19, 2002, and based upon and subject to the factors and assumptions set forth in the opinion, the aggregate merger consideration to be received by all holders of Precise ordinary shares pursuant to the merger agreement was fair from a financial point of view to such holders, in the aggregate.

The full text of the written opinion of Goldman Sachs, dated December 19, 2002, which sets forth assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations on the review undertaken in connection with the opinion, will be attached to the proxy statement/prospectus which will form a part of the registration statement on Form S-4 to be filed by VERITAS. A form of the opinion of Goldman Sachs is attached to this filing as Annex D. Precise shareholders should read the opinion in its entirety. Goldman Sachs provided its opinion for the information and assistance of the Precise board of directors in connection with its consideration of the merger. The Goldman Sachs opinion is not a recommendation as to how any holder of Precise ordinary shares should vote with respect to the merger or whether to elect to receive the cash consideration or the mixed consideration in connection with the merger.

#### **Table of Contents**

In connection with rendering its opinion and performing its financial analyses, Goldman Sachs reviewed, among other things:

the merger agreement;

Annual Reports to Shareholders and Annual Reports on Form 10-K of Precise for the two years ended December 31, 2001 and of VERITAS for the three years ended December 31, 2001;

the Registration Statement on Form F-1 of Precise, including the prospectus contained therein, dated June 29, 2000, relating to Precise s initial public offering;

certain interim reports to shareholders and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q of Precise and VERITAS;

certain other communications from Precise and VERITAS to their respective shareholders; and

certain internal financial analyses and forecasts for Precise prepared by its management.

Goldman Sachs also held discussions with members of the senior management of Precise regarding their assessment of the strategic rationale for, and potential benefits of, the merger and the past and current business operations, financial condition, and future prospects of the company, including discussions with respect to risks and uncertainties relating to Precise s ability to realize the internal forecasts prepared by its management in the amounts and time periods contemplated thereby. In addition, Goldman Sachs reviewed the reported price and trading activity of the Precise ordinary shares and VERITAS common stock, compared certain financial and stock market information for Precise and VERITAS with similar information for certain other companies the securities of which are publicly traded, reviewed the financial terms of certain recent business combinations in the software industry specifically and in other industries generally and performed such other studies and analyses as Goldman Sachs considered appropriate.

Goldman Sachs relied upon the accuracy and completeness of all of the financial, accounting, tax and other information discussed with or reviewed by it and assumed such accuracy and completeness for purposes of rendering its opinion. As the Precise board of directors was aware, VERITAS did not make available its forecasts of future financial performance. Accordingly, Goldman Sachs review of such matters was limited to discussion with senior management of VERITAS of certain publicly available research analyst estimates of VERITAS. In addition, Goldman Sachs did not make an independent evaluation or appraisal of the assets and liabilities, including any derivative or off-balance sheet assets and liabilities, of Precise or VERITAS or any of their respective subsidiaries, and Goldman Sachs was not furnished with any such evaluation or appraisal. Goldman Sachs assumed that all material governmental, regulatory or other consents and approvals necessary for the completion of the merger will be obtained without any adverse effect on Precise or VERITAS or any of their respective subsidiaries or on the expected benefits of the merger.

The following is a summary of the material financial analyses used by Goldman Sachs in connection with providing the opinion described above. The following summary, however, does not purport to be a complete description of the analyses performed by Goldman Sachs. The order of analyses described does not represent relative importance or weight given to those analyses by Goldman Sachs. Some of the summaries of financial analyses include information presented in tabular form, which should be read together with the text accompanying each summary. Except as otherwise noted, the following quantitative information, to the extent that it is based on market data, is based on market data as it existed on or before December 18, 2002, and is not necessarily indicative of current market conditions.

*Premium Analysis.* Goldman Sachs compared the implied transaction price of \$16.50 per share to the closing price of Precise s ordinary shares on December 18, 2002. In addition, Goldman Sachs compared this implied transaction price to the average closing prices for the 10-, 20-, 30-, 60-, 90-, and 180-day, and one-year periods ending and including the close on December 18, 2002 to derive the implied transaction premia or discounts. Goldman Sachs performed this calculation by determining the arithmetic means of various closing prices, or simple averages , and the arithmetic means of various closing prices weighted individually by the volume of trading on that day, or weighted averages . Goldman Sachs also analyzed the implied transaction price to derive the implied transaction premia or discounts based on the six-month and one-year high and low

closing prices of Precise s ordinary shares as of December 18, 2002. The results of this analysis are set forth below.

	Pre	emium at \$16.50
December 18, 2002		36.9%
Averages	Simple	Weighted
10-day	42.5%	42.9%
20-day	34.8%	33.8%
30-day	38.0%	36.9%
60-day	47.1%	53.5%
90-day	40.8%	44.1%
180-day	35.8%	37.6%
One-year	8.2%	13.2%
	Prei	nium at \$16.50
Low		
Six-month (June 24, 2002)		140.9%
One-year (June 24, 2002)		140.9%
High		
Six-month (August 19, 2002)		10.0%
One-year (January 8, 2002)		(37.5%)

Selected Companies Analysis. Goldman Sachs reviewed certain financial information and public market multiples relating to Precise and VERITAS and compared them to corresponding data for the following publicly traded companies in the software industry:

BMC Software, Inc.;

Computer Associates International, Inc.;

Compuware Corporation;

Embarcadero Technologies, Inc.;

Legato Systems, Inc.;

Mercury Interactive Corporation;

NetIQ Corp.; and

Quest Software, Inc.

Although none of the selected companies is directly comparable to Precise or VERITAS, the companies included were chosen because they are publicly traded U.S. companies with operations that for purposes of analysis may be considered similar to certain operations of Precise and VERITAS.

#### **Table of Contents**

Goldman Sachs then calculated the percentage of each company s closing market price per share on December 18, 2002 to the highest price per share in the previous 52 weeks. In its analysis, Goldman Sachs used publicly available information. The results of this analysis are set forth below.

Company	Price as % of 52-week high (December 18, 2002)
BMC Software, Inc.	76.4%
Mercury Interactive Corporation	72.0%
Precise Software Solutions Ltd.	43.1%
Quest Software, Inc.	37.6%
VERITAS Software Corp.	34.6%
Computer Associates International, Inc.	34.3%
Compuware Corporation	33.6%
NetIQ Corp.	32.2%
Legato Systems, Inc.	27.2%
Embarcadero Technologies, Inc.	22.3%

Goldman Sachs also calculated the multiple of price to earnings per share, or P/E, of Precise, VERITAS and the selected companies and the ratio of price to earnings per share for Precise at an implied \$16.50 purchase price, using estimates of calendar year 2003 earnings per share, or EPS, based on median estimates it obtained from the Institutional Broker Estimate Service, or IBES, a data service which monitors and publishes a compilation of earnings estimates produced by selected research analysts on publicly traded companies.

In its analysis, Goldman Sachs also calculated and compared the implied enterprise value, which is the implied diluted equity value plus net debt, as a multiple of estimated revenues for the calendar year 2003, based on estimates it obtained from publicly available research analyst estimates and IBES.

The results of these analyses are summarized as follows:

Company	Implied Enterprise Value/ Estimated 2003 Revenue	Price/ Estimated 2003 EPS
Mercury Interactive Corporation	5.4x	38.3x
VERITAS Software Corp.	3.6x	28.7x
Computer Associates International, Inc.	3.1x	53.2x
Precise Software Solutions Ltd.	2.6x	30.5x
Quest Software, Inc.	2.5x	33.5x
Embarcadero Technologies, Inc.	2.2x	23.5x
BMC Software, Inc.	2.2x	39.6x
Legato Systems Inc.	1.7x	242.0x
Compuware Corporation	0.9x	14.0x
NetIQ Corp.	0.5x	22.4x
Proposed Transaction	4.2x	41.8x

Selected Transactions Analysis. Goldman Sachs analyzed the implied transaction premium of 36.9%, which was calculated based upon an implied transaction price of \$16.50 and the closing price of Precise s ordinary shares on December 18, 2002, and compared it to other premia based on pre-announcement closing

#### Table of Contents

prices for 10 public transactions in the software industry that were announced since September 2001. The results of this analysis are set forth below.

Announced Date	Transaction	Premium
September 24, 2001	Verisign, Inc./ Illuminet Holdings, Inc.	1.8%
October 30, 2001	International Business Machines Corporation/ Crossworlds Software, Inc.	31.1%
January 5, 2002	TIBCO Software Inc./ Talarian Corporation	68.8%
February 20, 2002	Legato Systems, Inc./ OTG Software, Inc.	21.0%
March 18, 2002	MSC Software Corporation/ Mechanical Dynamics, Inc.	57.0%
April 29, 2002	Fair, Isaac and Company, Incorporated/ HNC Software Inc.	27.2%
May 7, 2002	Microsoft Corporation/ Navision a/s	37.0%
June 10, 2002	Novell, Inc./ Silverstream Software, Inc.	75.1%
June 10, 2002	SkillSoft Corporation/ Smartforce plc	18.5%
December 6, 2002	International Business Machines Corporation/ Rational Software Corporation	28.5%
December 19, 2002	Proposed Transaction VERITAS Software Corp./ Precise Software Solutions Ltd.	36.9%

Goldman Sachs also analyzed the implied enterprise value to revenue multiple related to the transaction of 4.2x derived from the analysis above and compared it to other implied enterprise value to forward revenue multiples relating to 13 transactions in the software industry that were announced since September 2001 based on information from public filings, press releases and publicly available research analyst estimates. The results of this analysis are set forth below.

Announced Date	Transaction	Implied Enterprise Value/ Forward Revenue Multiple
September 24, 2001	Verisign, Inc./ Illuminet Holdings, Inc.	4.8x
October 30, 2001	International Business Machines Corporation/ Crossworlds Software, Inc.	1.0x
January 5, 2002	TIBCO Software Inc./ Talarian Corporation	3.7x
February 20, 2002	Legato Systems, Inc./ OTG Software, Inc.	3.9x
March 18, 2002	MSC Software Corporation/ Mechanical Dynamics, Inc.	1.6x
April 29, 2002	Fair, Isaac and Company, Incorporated/ HNC Software Inc.	2.8x
May 7, 2002	Microsoft Corporation/ Navision a/s	5.1x
June 10, 2002	Novell, Inc./ Silverstream Software, Inc.	1.9x
June 10, 2002	SkillSoft Corporation/ Smartforce plc	1.2x
September 22, 2002	BMC Software, Inc./ Remedy Corporation	1.9x
October 23, 2002	Quest Software, Inc./ Sitraka Inc.	2.9x
October 30, 2002	Borland Software Corporation/ TogetherSoft Corporation	2.8x
December 6, 2002	International Business Machines Corporation/ Rational Software Corporation	2.5x

The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex process and is not necessarily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. Selecting portions of the analyses or of the summary set forth above, without considering the analyses as a whole, could create an incomplete view of the processes underlying Goldman Sachs opinion. In arriving at its opinion, Goldman Sachs considered the results of all of its analyses and did not attribute any particular weight to any factor or analysis considered by it. Rather, Goldman Sachs made its determination as to fairness on the basis of its experience and professional judgment after considering the

#### **Table of Contents**

results of all of its analyses. No company or transaction used in the above analyses as a comparison is directly comparable to Precise or VERITAS or the merger.

The analyses were prepared solely for purposes of Goldman Sachs providing its opinion to the Precise board of directors as to the fairness from a financial point of view of the aggregate merger consideration to be received by all holders of Precise ordinary shares in the aggregate and do not purport to be appraisals or necessarily reflect the prices at which businesses or securities actually may be sold.

Analyses based upon forecasts of future results are not necessarily indicative of actual future results, which may be significantly more or less favorable than suggested by these analyses. Because these analyses are inherently subject to uncertainty, being based upon numerous factors or events beyond the control of the parties or their respective advisors, neither Precise, VERITAS, Goldman Sachs nor any other person assumes responsibility if future results are materially different from those forecasted.

As described above, Goldman Sachs opinion to the Precise board of directors was one of many factors taken into consideration by the Precise board of directors in making its determination to approve the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. The foregoing summary does not purport to be a complete description of the analyses performed by Goldman Sachs in connection with the opinion and is qualified by reference to the written opinion of Goldman Sachs, the form of which is set forth in Annex D.

Goldman Sachs, as part of its investment banking business, is continually engaged in performing financial analyses with respect to businesses and their securities in connection with mergers and acquisitions, negotiated underwritings, competitive biddings, secondary distributions of listed and unlisted securities and private placements as well as for estate, corporate and other purposes. Goldman Sachs is familiar with Precise having acted as its financial advisor in connection with, and having participated in certain of the negotiations leading to, the merger agreement. Goldman Sachs also has provided certain investment banking services to VERITAS from time to time. Goldman Sachs also may provide investment banking services to VERITAS and its affiliates in the future.

The Precise board of directors selected Goldman Sachs as its financial advisor because it is an internationally recognized investment banking firm that has substantial experience in transactions similar to the transaction contemplated by the merger agreement.

Goldman Sachs provides a full range of financial advisory and securities services and, in the course of its normal trading activities, may from time to time effect transactions and hold positions in securities, including derivative securities, of Precise or VERITAS for its own account and for the accounts of customers.

Pursuant to a letter agreement dated September 5, 2002, Precise engaged Goldman Sachs as its financial advisor in connection with the possible sale of all or a portion of the shares or assets of Precise. Pursuant to the terms of the Goldman Sachs engagement letter, if the proposed merger is completed Goldman Sachs will receive from Precise a customary transaction fee which is payable upon consummation of the merger. In addition, Precise has agreed to reimburse Goldman Sachs for its reasonable expenses, including attorney s fees and disbursements, and to indemnify Goldman Sachs and related persons against various liabilities, including certain liabilities under the federal securities laws.

#### Interests of Precise s Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger

When considering the recommendation of the Precise audit committee and board of directors with respect to the approval of the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, Precise shareholders should be aware that Precise s directors and executive officers, as well as several other members of Precise s senior management, may have a personal interest in the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement that is different from, or in addition to, the interests of Precise shareholders generally, which may have influenced their decision to support or recommend the merger.

#### Employment Agreements Following the Merger

In connection with the merger, four executive officers of Precise, Shimon Alon, Precise s chief executive officer; Itzhak (Aki) Ratner, Precise s president; Benjamin H. Nye, Precise s chief operating officer; and Rami Schwartz, Precise s executive vice president, research and development, have entered into employment agreements with either VERITAS or Precise. Upon completion of the merger, these agreements will supersede any agreements each of these individuals previously had with Precise. The following are summaries of these executive officers new employment agreements:

*Shimon Alon.* Mr. Alon agreed to be employed by VERITAS following the merger in order to facilitate the integration of the Precise business into VERITAS. Pursuant to this agreement, VERITAS agreed to provide Mr. Alon with (1) an annual base salary of \$320,000, (2) a semi-annual bonus of \$100,000 based upon mutually agreed upon performance criteria, and (3) an option to purchase 300,000 shares of VERITAS common stock which will vest as to 1/48 of the shares per month following the closing date, subject to Mr. Alon s continued employment by VERITAS. In addition, VERITAS acknowledges that 100% of Mr. Alon s unvested options to purchase Precise ordinary shares will become fully vested and exercisable immediately prior to completion of the merger. If Mr. Alon s employment with VERITAS is terminated for any reason other than for cause, Mr. Alon, subject to his execution of a release of claims with VERITAS, will receive the following severance benefits for 12 months following the date of termination:

\$270,000 payable in a lump sum at termination, or in VERITAS discretion, in 12 equal installments;

continued medical, dental and vision benefits; and

a monthly car allowance.

*Itzhak ( Aki ) Ratner.* Mr. Ratner agreed to serve as senior vice president, integration, for Precise following the merger. Pursuant to this agreement, Precise agreed to provide Mr. Ratner with (1) an annual base salary of \$300,000, (2) an annual bonus of \$100,000 based upon mutually agreed upon performance criteria, and (3) an option to purchase 200,000 shares of VERITAS common stock which will vest as to 1/48 of the shares per month following the closing date, subject to Mr. Ratner s continued employment by Precise. In addition, 100% of Mr. Ratner s unvested options to purchase Precise ordinary shares will become fully vested and exercisable on the date of the merger. One-half of the Precise ordinary shares subject to the option that vest on the date of the merger or, if such shares are sold, the proceeds net of any withholding taxes attributable to the exercise of the option, will be held in escrow for a period of one year following the merger. If Mr. Ratner s employment with Precise is terminated for cause or if he resigns voluntarily, in either case, prior to the one-year anniversary of the merger, the shares and proceeds placed in an interest bearing escrow account will be forfeited by Mr. Ratner and the exercise price of the forfeited shares will be refunded.

If Mr. Ratner voluntarily terminates his employment with Precise within 12 months following the merger, subject to his execution of a release of claims with Precise and VERITAS, Mr. Ratner will receive the following severance benefits for a maximum of nine months following the date of termination:

continued payment of base salary; and

continued medical, dental and vision benefits.

If Mr. Ratner s employment with Precise is involuntarily terminated at any time after the merger or if Mr. Ratner voluntarily terminates his employment with Precise at any time after the first anniversary of the merger, subject to his execution of a release of claims with Precise and VERITAS, Mr. Ratner will receive the following severance benefits for a maximum of 16 months following the date of termination:

continued payment of base salary;

a pro-rata amount of Mr. Ratner s bonus for the fiscal year in which the termination occurs;

continued medical, dental and vision benefits; and

release of all shares and proceeds held in escrow by Precise.

#### **Table of Contents**

*Benjamin H. Nye.* Mr. Nye agreed to serve as senior vice president, integration for VERITAS following the merger. Pursuant to this agreement, VERITAS agreed to provide Mr. Nye with (1) an annual base salary of \$300,000, (2) an annual bonus of \$100,000 based upon mutually agreed upon performance criteria, and (3) an option to purchase 200,000 shares of VERITAS common stock which will vest as to 1/48 of the shares per month following the closing date, subject to Mr. Nye s continued employment by VERITAS. In addition, 100% of Mr. Nye s unvested options to purchase Precise ordinary shares will become fully vested and exercisable on the date of the merger. One-half of the Precise ordinary shares subject to the option that vest on the date of the merger or, if such shares are sold, the proceeds of sale, will be held in escrow for a period of one year following the merger. If Mr. Nye s employment with VERITAS is terminated for cause or if he resigns voluntarily, in either case, prior to the one-year anniversary of the merger, the shares and proceeds placed in escrow will be forfeited by Mr. Nye and the exercise price for the forfeited shares will be refunded.

If Mr. Nye s employment with VERITAS is involuntarily terminated within 12 months following the merger, subject to his execution of a release of claims with VERITAS, Mr. Nye will receive the following severance benefits for 12 months following the date of termination:

continued payment of base salary;

a pro-rata amount of Mr. Nye s bonus for the fiscal year in which the termination occurs;

continued medical, dental and vision benefits; and

release of all shares and proceeds held in escrow by VERITAS.

If Mr. Nye s employment with VERITAS is involuntarily terminated at any time after the first anniversary of the merger, subject to his execution of a release of claims with VERITAS, Mr. Nye will receive the following severance benefits for six months following the date of termination:

continued payment of base salary;

a pro-rata amount of Mr. Nye s bonus for the fiscal year in which the termination occurs; and

continued medical, dental and vision benefits.

*Rami Schwartz.* Mr. Schwartz agreed to serve as vice president and general manager of Precise following the merger. Pursuant to this agreement, Precise agreed to provide Mr. Schwartz with (1) an annual base salary of \$220,000, (2) an annual bonus of \$55,000, and (3) an option to purchase 100,000 shares of VERITAS common stock which will vest as to 1/48 of the shares per month following the closing date, subject to Mr. Schwartz s continued employment by Precise. In addition, 50% of Mr. Schwartz s unvested options to purchase Precise ordinary shares will become fully vested and exercisable immediately prior to completion of the merger.

If Mr. Schwartz s employment with Precise is terminated by Precise for any reason other than cause, death, or disability, subject to his execution of a release of claims with Precise and VERITAS, Mr. Schwartz will receive the following severance benefits for a maximum of 12 months following the date of termination:

continued payment of base salary;

a pro-rata amount of Mr. Schwartz s bonus for the fiscal year in which the termination occurs; and

immediate vesting of all options to acquire Precise ordinary shares.

Each of Messrs. Alon, Ratner, Nye and Schwartz has also agreed that for one year following the termination of his employment with VERITAS, he will not engage in, whether as an employee, agent, consultant, advisor, independent contractor, proprietor, partner, officer, director or otherwise, have any interest in (except for ownership of 1% or less of a public company), or participate in the financing, operation, management or control of any firm, partnership, corporation, entity or business that is engaged in the design, development, marketing and/or sale of storage or storage-related software, hardware and/or services.

#### Options

As of the date of the merger agreement, the total number of Precise ordinary shares issuable upon the exercise of share options held by the executive officers and directors of Precise as a group (13 persons) was 3,892,250. These options have exercise prices ranging from \$0.38 to \$20.20 per share and a weighted average exercise price of \$11.23 per share. These options and all other Precise share options will be assumed by VERITAS and solely exercisable for VERITAS common stock as a result of the merger. Shimon Alon, Benjamin H. Nye and Aki Ratner hold Precise options that will vest in full immediately prior to or upon completion of the merger. One-half of the unvested options held by Marc Venator, Rami Schwartz, Joseph McCurdy and Andrew Bird will vest immediately prior to completion of the merger. In addition, all of the Precise options held by each of Messrs. Venator, Schwartz, McCurdy and Bird will fully vest if he is involuntarily terminated or, in some cases, if there is a significant adverse change in his title, job functions or responsibilities, following the completion of the merger. In addition, if Precise shareholders approve a proposal to this effect that is expected to be considered at the Precise extraordinary meeting, the share options held by the directors of Precise, including members of Precise s audit committee, will vest in full immediately after the completion of the merger, and the exercise period for these options will be extended for their original 10-year term.

#### Director and Officer Indemnification

VERITAS has agreed to cause Precise, as the surviving corporation in the merger, to fulfill and honor in all respects Precise s obligations under indemnification agreements between Precise and its directors and officers existing immediately prior to the effective time of the merger. If the Precise shareholders approve a proposal to this effect that is expected to be considered at the Precise extraordinary meeting, then VERITAS will cause Precise, as the surviving corporation, to undertake the indemnification obligations contained in indemnification agreements in the form to be attached to the proxy statement/prospectus when it becomes available to be entered into with Shimon Alon, all other directors of Precise and with Itzhak ( Aki ) Ratner, Benjamin H. Nye, Rami Schwartz, Marc Venator and certain other officers. VERITAS has agreed that, if the Precise shareholders do not approve a proposal to this effect that is expected to be considered at the Precise extraordinary meeting, but do approve the merger, then VERITAS will effect the amendment contemplated by such proposal and will cause the surviving corporation to undertake the indemnification obligations contained in the indemnification agreements in the form attached to the proxy statement/prospectus when it becomes available.

#### Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

As permitted under the terms of the merger agreement, Precise intends to purchase tail or runoff directors and officers liability insurance covering those persons who are currently covered by Precise s directors and officers liability insurance policy for a period of seven years from the completion of the merger. Under the terms of the merger agreement, Precise is not permitted to pay more than \$2 million, in the aggregate, for the premium for such coverage.

#### **Completion and Effectiveness of the Merger**

The merger will be completed when all of the conditions to completion of the merger are satisfied or waived, including approval of the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement by the shareholders of Precise. The merger will become effective in the manner provided for in Section 323 of the Israeli Companies Law 5759-1999 as promptly as practicable after the satisfaction of the conditions to the completion of the merger as set forth in the merger agreement. See the section of this filing titled The Merger Agreement Conditions to Completion of the Merger, for a summary of the conditions to the completion of the merger as reasonably possible and hope to complete the merger promptly after the Precise extraordinary meeting of shareholders.

#### Structure of the Merger and Conversion of Precise Ordinary Shares

In accordance with the merger agreement and with the Israeli Companies Law, the merger subsidiary, a transitory indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of VERITAS formed solely for the purpose of the merger, will be merged with and into Precise. As a result of the merger, the separate corporate existence of the merger subsidiary will cease and Precise will survive the merger as an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of VERITAS.

Upon completion of the merger, each outstanding ordinary share of Precise, other than dormant shares of Precise or shares held by any direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Precise, will be converted into and represent the right to receive, at the election of each Precise shareholder, either (1) the cash consideration of \$16.50 in cash or (2) the mixed consideration of \$12.375 in cash plus 0.2365 of a fully paid and nonassessable share of VERITAS common stock. Precise shareholders who are Israeli holders and who properly and timely elect to receive the mixed consideration will receive \$12.375 in cash plus an amount in cash equal to 0.2365 multiplied by the closing sale price of one share of VERITAS common stock on the trading day immediately prior to the time the merger takes effect. The exchange ratio will be proportionately adjusted for any future stock split, stock dividend or similar event with respect to Precise ordinary shares or VERITAS common stock effected between the date of the merger agreement and the completion of the merger.

You will be deemed to be an Israeli holder if: (1) you have provided Precise or the broker through which you hold Precise shares with an address in the State of Israel for the purpose of sending notices or (2) you declare that your center of vital interests, as evidenced by family, economic and social ties, is in Israel. Precise shareholders will be asked to sign a declaration as part of the election form stating whether or not they are Israeli holders in accordance with these criteria.

No certificate or scrip representing fractional shares of VERITAS common stock will be issued in connection with the merger. Instead, in lieu of a fraction of a share of VERITAS common stock, Precise shareholders will be entitled to receive an amount of cash, rounded to the nearest whole cent, without interest equal to the product of the fraction and the average closing price of one share of VERITAS common stock for the five most recent trading days prior to the time the merger takes effect.

#### **Election and Exchange Procedures**

An election form will be provided with the proxy statement/ prospectus when it becomes available. Precise shareholders will be able to obtain additional copies of the election form when it becomes available from the exchange agent or from VERITAS by calling VERITAS investor relations at (650) 527-2508 or at the investor relations section of VERITAS website at www.veritas.com. Each election form entitles the holder of the Precise ordinary shares to elect to receive the cash consideration or the mixed consideration. However, to comply with Israeli securities laws, Precise shareholders who are Israeli holders and who properly and timely elect to receive the mixed consideration will receive \$12.375 in cash plus an amount in cash equal to 0.2365 multiplied by the closing sale price of one share of VERITAS common stock on the trading day immediately prior to the time the merger takes effect. You may only receive one form of consideration for all of your Precise ordinary shares.

A holder of record of Precise ordinary shares who holds such ordinary shares as a nominee, trustee or in another representative capacity may submit multiple election forms, provided that such record holder certifies that each such election form covers all the Precise ordinary shares held by such record holder for a particular beneficial owner.

To make an effective election, you must submit a properly completed election form, along with your Precise share certificates representing all ordinary shares of Precise covered by the election form (or an appropriate guarantee of delivery) to the recipient to be specified in the proxy statement/prospectus when it becomes available on or before 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the election deadline to be specified in the proxy statement/prospectus when it becomes available. An entity to be specified in the proxy statement/prospectus when it becomes available. An entity to be specified in the proxy statement/prospectus when it becomes available. An entity to be specified in the proxy statement/prospectus when it becomes available will act as exchange agent in the merger and in that role will process the exchange of Precise share certificates for cash or cash and shares of VERITAS common stock. If you do not submit an election form, you will receive instructions from the exchange agent on where to

surrender your Precise share certificates after the merger is completed and will be entitled only to receive the \$16.50 cash consideration in exchange for your Precise shares. In any event, do not forward your election form or Precise share certificates with your proxy card. Instead, use the separate envelope to be specifically provided for the election form and your share certificates.

# Once you have made an effective election with respect to your Precise ordinary shares by delivering an election form and your share certificates or a guarantee of delivery to the exchange agent, you may not sell your Precise ordinary shares until you have effectively revoked your election and have had your share certificates returned to you by the exchange agent.

You may change your election at any time prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the election deadline to be specified in the proxy statement/prospectus when it becomes available, by written notice accompanied by a properly completed and signed later-dated election form received by the exchange agent prior to such time or by withdrawal of your share certificates by written notice received by the exchange agent prior to such time or by withdrawal of your share certificates by written notice received by the exchange agent prior to such time. All elections will be revoked automatically if the merger agreement is terminated. If you have a preference for receiving either cash or a combination of cash and VERITAS common stock, you should complete and return the election form. If you do not make an election, you will receive only cash consideration.

## Neither VERITAS nor Precise makes any recommendation as to whether you should elect to receive the cash consideration or the mixed consideration in the merger. You must make your own decision with respect to your election.

If certificates for Precise ordinary shares are not immediately available or you are unable to send the election form and other required documents to the exchange agent prior to the election deadline, Precise shares may be properly exchanged, and an election will be effective, if:

such exchanges are made by or through a member firm of a registered national securities exchange or of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., or by a commercial bank or trust company having an office, branch or agency in the U.S.;

the exchange agent receives, prior to the election deadline, a properly completed and duly executed election form and notice of guaranteed delivery substantially in the form provided with the election form and delivered by hand, mail, telegram, telex or facsimile transmission; and

the exchange agent receives, within three business days after the election deadline, the certificates for all exchanged Precise ordinary shares, or confirmation of the delivery of all such certificates into the exchange agent s account with The Depository Trust Company in accordance with the proper procedures for such transfer, together with any other documents required by the election form.

Precise shareholders who do not submit a properly completed election form or revoke their election form prior to the election deadline will have their Precise ordinary shares treated as shares for which no election has been made and will be entitled to receive only the \$16.50 cash consideration for their shares. Precise share certificates represented by elections that have been revoked will be promptly returned without charge to the Precise shareholder revoking the election upon written request.

After the completion of the merger, the exchange agent will mail a letter of transmittal together with instructions for the exchange of Precise share certificates for the \$16.50 cash merger consideration to Precise shareholders who do not submit election forms or who have revoked such forms prior to the election deadline. Until you surrender your Precise share certificates for exchange after completion of the merger, you will not be paid dividends or other distributions declared after the merger with respect to any VERITAS common stock into which your Precise ordinary shares have been converted. When you surrender your Precise share certificates, VERITAS will pay any unpaid dividends or other distributions, without interest. After the completion of the merger, there will be no further transfers of Precise ordinary shares. Precise share certificates presented for transfer after the completion of the merger will be canceled and exchanged for the merger consideration.

29

#### **Table of Contents**

If your Precise share certificates have been either lost, stolen or destroyed, you will have to prove your ownership of the certificates and that they were lost, stolen or destroyed before you receive any consideration for your shares. You may also be required to provide the exchange agent with an indemnity bond covering any lost, stolen or destroyed certificates before you receive any consideration for your shares. Upon request, either the exchange agent to be specified in the proxy statement/prospectus when it becomes available or Precise s transfer agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, will send you instructions on how to provide evidence of ownership.

VERITAS will only issue a check for the cash merger consideration, a VERITAS stock certificate or a check in lieu of a fractional share in a name other than the name in which a surrendered Precise share certificate is registered if you present the exchange agent with all documents required to show and effect the unrecorded transfer of ownership and show that you paid any applicable stock transfer taxes.

#### Material U.S. Federal and Israeli Income Tax Consequences to Precise Shareholders

#### U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following summary describes certain material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger to U.S. holders. This summary is based on current provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code), final, temporary and proposed Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, and administrative and judicial interpretations thereof, all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. Except as specifically discussed below with respect to non-U.S. holders, this summary is addressed only to holders of Precise ordinary shares if such holders are U.S. citizens, individuals resident in the U.S. for U.S. federal income tax purposes, partnerships or corporations created or organized in the U.S. or under the laws of the U.S. or any state in the U.S., estates the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of the source of their income and any trust if either: (1) a U.S. court is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all the substantial decisions of the trust, or (2) the trust properly elects to be treated as a U.S. trust, all of whom are referred to collectively as U.S. holders. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, income earned through a domestic partnership, S corporation or certain trusts is attributed to its owners. This discussion does not consider all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to particular U.S. holders by reason of their particular circumstances, including potential application of the alternative minimum tax, or any aspect of state, local or non-U.S. federal tax laws. In addition, this summary does not address the considerations that may be applicable to particular classes of U.S. holders who are subject to special tax treatment under the Code, including U.S. holders who acquired their Precise ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of employee stock options or otherwise as compensation, insurance companies, dealers or brokers in securities or currencies, tax exempt organizations, financial institutions, holders of securities as part of a straddle, hedge, conversion or other risk-reduction transaction, or U.S. holders who own or at any time held, directly, indirectly or through attribution, 10% or more of the outstanding Precise ordinary shares. In addition, the following discussion does not address the U.S. federal income tax consequences to holders of options and warrants to purchase Precise ordinary shares.

## Each U.S. holder should consult the holder s own tax advisor as to the particular tax consequences of the merger to the holder, including the effects of applicable state, local, foreign or other tax laws and possible changes in the tax laws.

The receipt by a U.S. holder of cash and, in the case of a U.S. holder who so elects, VERITAS common stock, in exchange for Precise ordinary shares in the merger will be a taxable transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Generally, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, a U.S. holder will recognize gain or loss equal to the excess, if any, of the amount of cash plus, in the case of a U.S. holder who receives VERITAS common stock in the merger, the fair market value on the date of the merger of such stock over the aggregate adjusted tax basis of the shares surrendered by him in the merger. Assuming that a U.S. holder s Precise ordinary shares are held by him as capital assets, the gain or loss recognized by him will be capital gain or loss, and will be long-term capital gain or loss if his holding period for his Precise ordinary shares exceeds one year. The use of capital losses is generally subject to limitations.



#### Table of Contents

Certain noncorporate Precise shareholders may be subject to U.S. backup withholding, which is currently 30%, on cash payments received in the merger. Backup withholding generally will not apply, however, to a Precise shareholder who furnishes, on a properly executed IRS Form W-9, such shareholder s taxpayer identification number and certifies under penalties of perjury that the number is correct and that the Precise shareholder is not subject to backup withholding, who furnishes a properly executed IRS Form W-8BEN certifying that the Precise shareholder is not a U.S. person, or who otherwise certifies such shareholder s exemption from backup withholding. Special rules apply in the case of Precise ordinary shares held by a partnership or other flow-through entity. The backup withholding tax is not an additional tax; rather, it may be credited against the U.S. federal income tax liability of the U.S. holder if the required information is provided to the IRS. If backup withholding results in an overpayment of tax, a refund may be obtained by filing a U.S. federal income tax return.

Any gain recognized by a U.S. holder with respect to the merger will generally be treated as U.S. source and will be considered passive income for purposes of the foreign tax credit limitation which may have adverse consequences with respect to your ability to claim foreign tax credit benefits. Because the application of the foreign tax credit is complex and will depend on your particular tax circumstances, you are urged to consult your own tax advisor with respect to this issue.

#### Israeli Tax Consequences

The following is a summary discussion of certain Israeli tax considerations in connection with the merger. The following summary is included for general information purposes only and is based upon Israeli tax law as in effect as of the date of this filing. No assurance can be given that new or future legislation, regulations or interpretations will not significantly change the tax considerations described below, and any such change may apply retroactively. This summary does not discuss all material aspects of Israeli tax consequences which may apply to particular holders of Precise ordinary shares in light of their particular circumstances, such as investors subject to special tax rules or other investors referred to below. Because individual circumstances may differ, holders of Precise shares should consult their own tax advisors as to the Israeli tax consequences applicable to them.

In general, under the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance [New Version], 1961, the transfer of shares of an Israeli company is deemed to be a sale of capital assets. Israeli law generally imposes a capital gains tax on the sale of capital assets located in Israel, including shares in Israeli resident companies, by both residents and non-residents of Israel, unless a specific exemption is available or unless a treaty between Israel and the country of the non-resident provides otherwise. Regulations promulgated under the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance provided for an exemption from Israeli capital gains tax for gains accrued before January 1, 2003 and derived from the sale of shares of industrial companies that are traded on specified non-Israeli markets, including The Nasdaq National Market, provided that the sellers purchased their shares either in the company s initial public offering or in public market transactions thereafter. This exemption does not apply to shareholders who are in the business of trading securities, or to shareholders that are Israeli resident companies subject to the Income Tax (Adjustments for Inflation) Law 1985. Precise believes that it is currently an industrial company, as defined in the Encouragement of Industry (Taxes) Law 1969. The status of a company as an industrial company may be reviewed by the tax authorities from time to time. There can be no assurance that the Israeli tax authorities will not deny Precise s status as an industrial company, including with retroactive effect.

On January 1, 2003, the Law for Amendment of the Income Tax Ordinance (Amendment No. 132), 5762-2002, known as the tax reform, came into effect, thus imposing capital gains tax at a rate of 15% on gains derived on or after January 1, 2003 by Israeli residents, from the sale of shares in Israeli companies publicly traded on the TASE or (subject to a necessary determination by the Israeli Minister of Finance) on a recognized stock exchange outside of Israel. This tax rate does not apply to: (1) dealers in securities; (2) shareholders that report in accordance with the Income Tax Law (Inflationary Adjustment) 1985; or (3) shareholders who acquired their shares prior to an initial public offering. The tax basis of shares acquired prior to January 1, 2003 will be determined in accordance with the average closing share price in the three trading days preceding January 1, 2003. However, a request may be made to the tax authorities to consider the



#### **Table of Contents**

actual adjusted cost of the shares as the tax basis if it is higher than such average price. Non-Israeli residents shall, under pending regulations subject to final approval, be exempt from Israeli capital gains tax on any gains derived from the sale of shares publicly traded on a stock exchange, provided such shareholders did not acquire their shares prior to an initial public offering. In any event, the provisions of the tax reform shall not affect the exemption from capital gains tax for gains accrued before January 1, 2003, as described in the previous paragraph.

In addition, the Convention Between the Government of the United States of America and the Government of Israel with respect to Taxes on Income (the Tax Treaty) generally exempts persons who qualify under the treaty as residents of the U.S. from Israeli capital gains tax in connection with the disposition of the shares in the merger, provided that these persons have not held, directly or indirectly, ordinary shares representing 10% or more of the voting power of Precise at any time during the 12 month period preceding the merger.

Precise shareholders who acquired their shares prior to Precise s initial public offering in 2000 and who do not qualify for an exemption from Israeli capital gains tax under any tax treaty to which the State of Israel is a party, including the Tax Treaty described above, may be subject to Israeli capital gains tax on the sale of their Precise ordinary shares in the merger. Such shareholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the tax consequences of the merger to them.

In some instances where Precise shareholders may be liable for Israeli tax on the sale of their shares, the payment of the consideration may be subject to the withholding of Israeli tax at the source.

#### Accounting Treatment of the Merger

The merger will be accounted for as a purchase transaction under generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S.

#### **Regulatory Filings and Approvals Required to Complete the Merger**

#### U.S. Regulatory Filings

The merger is subject to the requirements of the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, which prevents this transaction from being completed until required information and materials are furnished to the Antitrust Division of the U.S. Department of Justice and the U.S. Federal Trade Commission and the related waiting period expires or is terminated early. VERITAS and Precise have made the required filings with the Department of Justice and the Federal Trade Commission. On January 17, 2003, VERITAS and Precise received early termination of the statutory waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act, however, the Department of Justice and the Federal Trade Commission, retaining jurisdiction under general antitrust laws, may challenge the merger at any time before or after its completion.

#### German Regulatory Filing

VERITAS is required to file notice of the merger with the German Federal Cartel Office pursuant to Section 39 of Germany s Act against Restrictions of Competition. VERITAS has filed this notification and remains subject to a one-month waiting period during which the transaction may not close. Either before or after the end of the waiting period, the Federal Cartel Office may attempt to seek to prohibit the merger or order the divestment or disposal of assets if certain statutory conditions for prohibition are found to exist.

#### Israeli Governmental Approvals

Israeli Companies Registrar. Under the Israeli Companies Law, VERITAS and Precise may not complete the merger without making certain filings and notifications to the Israeli Companies Registrar.

*Merger Proposal.* Each merging company is required to file with the Israeli Companies Registrar, jointly with the other merging company, a merger proposal setting forth specified details with respect

to the merger. Precise and the merger subsidiary filed the required merger proposals with the Companies Registrar on December 29, 2002.

*Notice to Creditors.* In addition, each merging company is required to notify its creditors of the proposed merger. Pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law, a copy of the merger proposal must be sent to the secured creditors of each company, substantial creditors must be informed individually of the filing of the merger proposal with the Israeli Companies Registrar, and where it can be reviewed, and creditors must be informed of the merger by publication in daily newspapers in Israel and, where necessary, elsewhere and by making the merger proposal available for review. Precise and the merger subsidiary have notified their respective creditors of the merger in accordance with these requirements to the extent applicable and, because Precise s shares are traded on The Nasdaq National Market, Precise has also published an announcement of the merger in The Wall Street Journal. The merging companies have notified the Israeli Companies Registrar of the notices to their creditors.

*Shareholder Approval Notice.* The merger must then be approved by the shareholders of each merging company. After the shareholders vote, each of the merging companies must file a notice with the Israeli Companies Registrar concerning the decision of the shareholders. Assuming that the shareholders of each of the merging companies approve the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions

contemplated by the merger agreement and that all of the statutory procedures and requirements have been complied with, and so long as at least 70 days have passed from the date of the filing of the merger proposal with the Israeli Companies Registrar and the Israeli Commissioner of Restrictive Trade Practices has not filed an objection to the merger, the merger will become effective and the Israeli Companies Registrar will be required to register the merger in the surviving company s register and to issue the surviving company a certificate regarding the merger.

*Office of the Chief Scientist.* The Office of the Chief Scientist is a part of Israel s Ministry of Industry and Trade and provides research and development grants to companies, subject to an obligation to pay royalties on revenue derived from products incorporating technology developed under programs funded by the grants or based on technology funded by the grants. Precise has obtained grants from the Office of the Chief Scientist in connection with the development of the technology embedded in Precise/ Indepth for Oracle software. The consent of the Office of the Chief Scientist is required for the merger. Pursuant to the merger agreement, VERITAS has agreed to provide the Office of the Chief Scientist with any information and to execute any undertakings customarily requested by the Office of the Chief Scientist as a condition to its approval. However, we cannot assure you that these actions will be sufficient for this consent to be obtained.

*Israeli Investment Center in the Israeli Ministry of Industry and Trade.* The Investment Center, which is a part of Israel s Ministry of Industry and Trade, provides various benefits to Israeli companies, including grants to finance capital investments and tax benefits ranging from reduced rates of corporate tax to a full tax exemption for a fixed period, depending on a number of factors. Precise expects to receive tax benefits from the Investment Center, subject to compliance with applicable conditions. On January 26, 2003, the Investment Center of Israel s Ministry of Industry and Trade consented to the change in ownership of Precise resulting from the merger.

*Israeli Securities Authority.* In connection with the merger, VERITAS will require an exemption, pursuant to Section 15D of the Israeli Securities Law, 1968, from the requirement to publish a prospectus in respect of the assumption by VERITAS of the Precise share options granted to employees of Precise. The Israeli Securities Authority has granted this exemption, subject to specified conditions.

#### **Other Approvals**

If any additional governmental approvals or actions are required, VERITAS and Precise intend to try to obtain them. VERITAS and Precise cannot assure you, however, that VERITAS and Precise will be able to obtain these approvals or actions.

33

#### Israeli Tax Rulings

Precise and VERITAS have agreed to request specified rulings from the Israeli tax authorities. The first ruling request will seek to clarify that the assumption of share options held by Precise employees by VERITAS will not result in a taxable event for the employees. This ruling will also request that, with respect to employee share options eligible for preferential treatment under section 102 of the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance, the requisite holding period for such options will be deemed to have begun at the time of issuance of the option, and not at the time of assumption by VERITAS. The second ruling request will seek to clarify if any Israeli withholding tax will be required to be withheld at the source from the consideration paid to Precise shareholders, and if so, from which classes or categories of shareholders withholding will be required and what the rate of required withholding will be.

Receipt of these rulings is not a condition for closing of the merger, and there can be no assurance that these rulings will actually be issued.

#### **Restrictions on Sales of Shares by Affiliates of Precise and VERITAS**

The shares of VERITAS common stock to be issued in connection with the merger to Precise shareholders who properly make a timely election to receive the mixed consideration will be registered under the Securities Act of 1933 and will be freely transferable under the Securities Act, except for shares of VERITAS common stock issued to any person who is deemed to be an affiliate of either VERITAS or Precise. Persons who may be deemed to be affiliates include individuals or entities that control, are controlled by, or are under common control with, either VERITAS or Precise and may include some of each company s respective officers and directors, as well as some of each company s respective principal shareholders. Certain shareholders of Precise and VERITAS who may be considered affiliates of Precise and VERITAS, respectively, entered into affiliate agreements in connection with the merger. Affiliates may not sell their shares of VERITAS common stock acquired in connection with the merger unless:

the sale, transfer or other disposition is made in conformity with the requirements of Rule 145(d) under the Securities Act;

the sale, transfer or other disposition is made pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act or an appropriate exemption from registration; or

the affiliate delivers to VERITAS a written opinion of counsel, reasonably acceptable to VERITAS in form and substance, that the sale, transfer or other disposition is otherwise exempt from registration under the Securities Act.

The registration statement of which the proxy statement/ prospectus will form a part will not cover the resale of shares of VERITAS common stock to be received by affiliates in the merger.

Under the affiliate agreements, VERITAS will be entitled to place appropriate legends on the certificates evidencing any VERITAS common stock to be received by each of the persons who has entered into an affiliate agreement and to issue stop transfer instructions to the transfer agent for VERITAS common stock. These persons have also acknowledged the resale restrictions imposed by Rule 145 under the Securities Act on shares of VERITAS common stock to be received by them in the merger.

#### Nasdaq Listing of VERITAS Common Stock to be Issued in the Merger

VERITAS will list the shares of VERITAS common stock to be issued in the merger on The Nasdaq National Market.

#### Delisting and Deregistration of Precise Ordinary Shares after the Merger

If the merger is completed, Precise s ordinary shares will be delisted from The Nasdaq National Market and will be deregistered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Operations After the Merger**

Following the merger, Precise will continue its operations as an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of VERITAS. The shareholders of Precise who properly and timely elect to receive the mixed consideration, other than Israeli holders, will become stockholders of VERITAS, and their rights as stockholders will be governed by the VERITAS certificate of incorporation, as then in effect, the VERITAS bylaws and the laws of the State of Delaware. See the sections of this filing titled Comparison of the Rights of Holders of Precise Ordinary Shares and VERITAS Common Stock.

#### THE MERGER AGREEMENT

The following summary describes the material provisions of the merger agreement. The provisions of the merger agreement are complicated and not easily summarized. This summary may not contain all of the information about the merger agreement that is important to you. The merger agreement is attached to this filing as Annex A and is incorporated by reference into this filing, and we encourage you to read it carefully in its entirety for a more complete understanding of the merger agreement.

#### **Conditions to Completion of the Merger**

In addition to the conditions applicable to either VERITAS or Precise set forth below, VERITAS and Precise s obligations to complete the merger are subject to the satisfaction or mutual waiver of each of the following conditions:

the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement must be approved by the requisite vote of the holders of Precise ordinary shares entitled to vote;

VERITAS registration statement, of which the proxy statement/ prospectus will form a part, must be effective, no stop order suspending its effectiveness shall have been issued, and no proceedings for suspension of its effectiveness, and no similar proceeding in respect of the proxy statement/ prospectus, shall have been initiated or threatened in writing by the Securities and Exchange Commission;

the shares of VERITAS common stock to be issued in the merger shall have been authorized for listing on The Nasdaq National Market, subject to official notice of issuance;

no governmental entity shall have enacted or issued any statute, rule, regulation, executive order, decree, injunction or other order which has the effect of making the merger illegal or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the merger;

all applicable waiting periods under U.S. antitrust laws relating to the merger must have expired or been terminated, and all material notifications, approvals, or waiting periods required under applicable foreign competition laws comparable to the U.S. antitrust laws reasonably determined to apply to the merger shall have been satisfied; and

VERITAS and Precise shall have received all Israeli governmental approvals required for the consummation of the merger.

Precise s obligation to complete the merger is subject to the satisfaction at or prior to the date the merger is to be completed of each of the following conditions, any of which may be waived, in writing, exclusively by Precise:

The representations and warranties of VERITAS and merger subsidiary contained in the merger agreement shall have been true and correct as of December 19, 2002 and shall be true and correct on and as of the date that the merger is completed with the same force and effect as if made on such date, except:

in each case, or in the aggregate, where the failure to be true and correct would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on VERITAS; or

for those representations and warranties which address matters only as of a particular date, which representations shall have been true and correct, subject to the qualifications as set forth in the preceding clause, as of such particular date;

Precise shall have received a certificate with respect to the above condition signed on behalf of VERITAS by an authorized officer of VERITAS; and

VERITAS and the merger subsidiary must have performed or complied with in all material respects all of the agreements and covenants required by the merger agreement to be performed or complied with by VERITAS at or before completion of the merger and deliver a signed certificate to Precise to that effect.

#### Table of Contents

VERITAS and the merger subsidiary s obligations to complete the merger are subject to the satisfaction at or prior to the date the merger is to be completed of each of the following conditions, any of which may be waived, in writing, exclusively by VERITAS:

The representations and warranties of Precise contained in the merger agreement shall have been true and correct as of December 19, 2002 and shall be true and correct on and as of the date the merger is completed with the same force and effect as if made on such date except:

in each case, or in the aggregate, and subject to certain limited exceptions, where the failure to be true and correct would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Precise; or

for those representations and warranties which address matters only as of a particular date, which representations shall have been true and correct, subject to the qualifications as set forth in the preceding clause, as of such particular date;

VERITAS shall have received a certificate with respect to the above condition signed on behalf of Precise by the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of Precise;

Precise must have performed or complied with in all material respects all of the agreements and covenants required by the merger agreement to be performed or complied with by Precise at or before completion of the merger and deliver a signed certificate to VERITAS to that effect;

Neither VERITAS nor Precise shall have received any written or oral indication from the Investment Center or the Israeli income tax authorities to the effect that the completion of the merger will jeopardize or adversely affect the tax status and benefits of Precise, including its approved enterprise tax status and its status as an industrial company, and VERITAS shall have received a certificate to that effect signed on behalf of Precise by the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of Precise;

Approval of the Israeli Commissioner of Restrictive Trade Practices shall have been obtained without any conditions, other than a response with standard conditions, or, alternatively, the waiting period prescribed under the Restrictive Trade Practices Act, 1988, including any extensions thereof, shall have expired without receipt of a response from the Israeli Commissioner of Restrictive Trade Practices;

The resignations of all directors of Precise and Precise Software Solutions, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Precise, shall be in full force and effect at the closing date;

Each officer of Precise shall have surrendered his authority over all of Precise s finances, including without limitation Precise s bank accounts, and evidence of the surrender of such authority, in form and substance satisfactory to VERITAS, shall have been delivered to VERITAS; and

Precise shall have delivered to VERITAS the documentation necessary or advisable, in form and substance satisfactory to VERITAS, to transfer authority over Precise s finances, including without limitation, all of Precise s bank accounts, to VERITAS. **Representations and Warranties** 

VERITAS and Precise each made a number of representations and warranties in the merger agreement regarding aspects of their respective businesses, financial condition, structure and other facts pertinent to the merger.

The representations and warranties given by Precise cover the following topics, among others, as they relate to Precise and its subsidiaries:

corporate organization and qualification to do business;

memorandum of association and articles of association;

capitalization;

#### **Table of Contents**

corporate authority to enter into, and carry out the obligations under, the merger agreement and the enforceability of the merger agreement;

absence of a breach of Precise s memorandum of association, articles of association, material agreements, or, subject to obtaining the requisite approval by Precise s shareholders and compliance with the procedures prescribed under applicable U.S. and Israeli law, any law, rule, regulation, or judgment as a result of the merger;

receipt of regulatory approvals required to complete the merger;

compliance with applicable laws and its receipt of material permits required to conduct its business;

environmental matters;

forms and reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission;

financial statements contained in its filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission;

liabilities;

changes or events in Precise s business since September 30, 2002;

litigation involving Precise;

employee matters and benefit plans;

information supplied by Precise for use in the registration statement of which the proxy statement/ prospectus will form a part;

restrictions on the conduct of Precise s business;

title to the properties Precise owns and the validity of its leases;

taxes, tax returns and audits;

payment by Precise of fees to brokers or finders in connection with the merger agreement and the merger;

intellectual property;

material agreements, contracts and commitments;

the opinion of Precise s financial advisor;

insurance policies;

approval of the board of directors of Precise;

inapplicability of certain takeover laws to the merger;

pending or outstanding grants, incentives or subsidies from the Government of the State of Israel to Precise; and

Precise s use, development of, or engagement in encryption technology or other technology whose development, commercialization, or export is restricted under Israeli law.

#### Table of Contents

The representations and warranties given by VERITAS cover the following topics, among others, as they relate to VERITAS and its subsidiaries:

corporate organization and qualification to do business;

certificate of incorporation and bylaws;

capitalization;

corporate authority to enter into, and carry out the obligations under, the merger agreement and the enforceability of the merger agreement;

38

#### **Table of Contents**

absence of a breach of VERITAS certificate of incorporation, bylaws, material agreements, or, subject to compliance with the procedures prescribed under applicable U.S. and Israeli law, any law, rule, regulation, or order as a result of the merger;

financing for the cash consideration to be paid as a result of the merger;

the issuance of VERITAS common stock as a result of the merger;

receipt of regulatory approvals required to complete the merger;

forms and reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission;

financial statements contained in VERITAS filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission;

information supplied by VERITAS for use in the registration statement of which the proxy statement/ prospectus will form a part;

absence of a material adverse effect on VERITAS;

VERITAS ownership of Precise s ordinary shares;

payment by VERITAS of fees to brokers or finders in connection with the merger agreement and the merger; and

approval by the board of directors of the merger subsidiary.

The representations and warranties in the merger agreement are complicated and not easily summarized. You are urged to carefully read the articles of the merger agreement entitled Representations and Warranties of Company and Representations and Warranties of Parent and Merger Sub.

#### Precise s Conduct of Business Before Completion of the Merger

Precise has agreed that until the earlier of the completion of the merger or the termination of the merger agreement, unless VERITAS consents in writing, or as contemplated by the merger agreement, Precise will operate its business in the ordinary course and in substantially the same manner as previously conducted and in material compliance with all applicable laws and regulations, pay its debts and taxes, subject to good faith disputes over such debts or taxes, and pay or perform its other material obligations when due and use its commercially reasonable efforts consistent with past practices and policies to:

preserve intact its current business organization;

keep available the services of its current officers and employees; and

preserve its relationships with customers, suppliers, distributors, licensors, licensees and others with which it has significant business dealings.

Precise has also agreed that until the earlier of the completion of the merger or the termination of the merger agreement, unless VERITAS consents in writing, or as contemplated by the merger agreement, Precise will not do any of the following:

waive any stock repurchase rights, accelerate, amend or change the period of exercisability of any options, or reprice any options;

grant any severance or termination pay except pursuant to existing agreements or policies;

with certain exceptions, grant any equity-based compensation;

transfer or license its intellectual property other than non-exclusive licenses to end-users granted in the ordinary course of business;

enter into, renew or modify any contracts relating to the distribution, sale, licensing or marketing by third parties of Precise s products;

#### **Table of Contents**

declare, set aside or pay any dividends or make other distributions on its capital stock or split, combine or reclassify any capital stock or issue any other securities in respect of, in lieu or in substitution for any capital stock;

with certain exceptions, purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of its capital stock or other securities to acquire any shares of its capital stock;

with certain exceptions, issue, deliver, sell, authorize, pledge or encumber any shares of capital stock or other securities convertible to acquire any shares of capital stock;

cause, permit or propose any amendment to its memorandum of association or articles of association;

acquire or agree to acquire another entity or business or substantially all of the assets of another entity or business;

with certain exceptions, sell, lease, license, encumber, convey, assign, sublicense or dispose of or transfer its assets other than in the ordinary course of business;

grant or otherwise create or consent to the creation of any lien on any owned or leased real property;

with certain exceptions, incur or guarantee any indebtedness for borrowed money;

with certain exceptions, adopt or amend any management, employment, severance, consulting, relocation, repatriation, expatriation, visa, work permit or other contract between Precise or any ERISA affiliate or employee or any employee benefit program, plan or policy, enter into any employment contract or collective bargaining agreement, agree to pay or pay any special bonus or special remuneration to any director or employee, increase the salaries or wage rates or benefits of a director, officer, employee or consultant of Precise;

pay, discharge, settle or satisfy any litigation other than in the ordinary course of business;

waive the benefits of, agree to modify in any manner, terminate, release any person from or knowingly fail to enforce any confidentiality or similar agreement to which Precise or any of its subsidiaries is a beneficiary;

with certain exceptions, enter into or modify any contracts relating to the distribution, sale, license or marketing of Precise s products;

modify, amend or terminate any other material contracts;

except as required by GAAP, revalue assets or change accounting methods, principles or practices;

hire any employee with an annual compensation level in excess of \$150,000;

with certain exceptions, make any individual or series of related payments outside the ordinary course of business in excess of \$1.5 million in the aggregate;

with certain exceptions, enter into any contract or series of related contracts requiring a payment of more than \$500,000 over the term of such contract or series of contracts;

make any tax election inconsistent with past practice, agree to settle any material tax liability or negotiate any tax rulings;

agree to pay, settle or compromise any material tax liability or consent to any extension or waiver of any limitation period with respect to taxes or request, negotiate, or agree to any tax rulings; or

agree in writing or otherwise take any of the actions described above.

The agreements related to the conduct of Precise s business in the merger agreement are complicated and not easily summarized. You are urged to carefully read the article of the merger agreement entitled Conduct Prior to the Effective Time.

40

#### No Other Negotiations Involving Precise

Precise has agreed that until the merger is completed or the merger agreement is terminated, subject to limited exceptions, neither it nor any of its subsidiaries, nor any of its officers, directors, employees, investment bankers, attorneys or other advisors or representatives, will, directly or indirectly:

solicit, initiate or take any action intended to encourage or induce the making, submission or announcement of any acquisition proposal;

engage or participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding any acquisition proposal;

furnish to any person any information with respect to any acquisition proposal;

take any other action intended to facilitate any inquiries or the making of any proposal that constitutes or may reasonably be expected to lead to an acquisition proposal;

approve, endorse or recommend any acquisition proposal; or

enter into any letter of intent or similar document or any contract, agreement or commitment contemplating or otherwise relating to an acquisition transaction, as defined below.

Notwithstanding the above provisions, between the date of the merger agreement and at any time prior to the approval of the merger agreement and the merger by Precise s shareholders, Precise s board of directors is not prohibited from complying with Rule 14d-9 or 14e-2(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Section 329 of the Israeli Companies Law with regard to a tender offer or exchange offer.

Further, notwithstanding the above provisions, between the date of the merger agreement and at any time prior to the approval of the merger agreement and the merger by Precise s shareholders, Precise s board of directors may engage or participate in discussions or negotiations with and furnish information to a person or group making an acquisition proposal, if all of the following conditions are met:

Precise s board of directors reasonably concludes that the acquisition proposal constitutes a superior proposal, as defined below;

the acquisition proposal is unsolicited, bona fide and is not withdrawn;

Precise s board of directors concludes in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, that the action is required in order for Precise s board of directors to comply with its fiduciary obligations to Precise s shareholders, which fiduciary obligations, for purposes of the merger agreement, shall be determined in accordance with Delaware law as if Precise were a Delaware corporation;

concurrently with furnishing any information to, or entering into discussions or negotiations with the person or group, Precise gives VERITAS written notice of the identity of the person or group and of Precise s intention to take these actions, and Precise receives from the person or group an executed agreement with confidentiality provisions at least as restrictive as the confidentiality agreement between Precise and VERITAS; and

concurrently with furnishing any information to the person or group, Precise furnishes the same information to VERITAS, to the extent this information has not been previously furnished by Precise to VERITAS.

Precise has agreed to provide VERITAS at least 48 hours prior notice, or lesser notice as given to Precise s board, of a meeting of its board of directors at which its board of directors is reasonably expected to consider an acquisition proposal and to provide VERITAS at least three business days prior written notice, or lesser notice as given to Precise s board, of any meeting of its board of directors and a copy of the definitive documentation relating to a superior proposal in which its board of directors is reasonably expected to recommend a superior proposal to its shareholders.

Precise has agreed to promptly as practicable, and in any event within 24 hours, advise VERITAS orally and in writing of any request received by Precise for information which Precise reasonably believes would lead

#### **Table of Contents**

to an acquisition proposal, or the receipt of any acquisition proposal, or any inquiry received by Precise which Precise reasonably believes would lead to any acquisition proposal, including the following:

the material terms and conditions of such request, acquisition proposal or inquiry; and

the identity of the person or group making any such request, acquisition proposal or inquiry.

Precise has further agreed to keep VERITAS informed in all material respects of the status and details, including material amendments or proposed amendments, of any such request, acquisition proposal or inquiry.

Under the merger agreement, Precise s board of directors is allowed to withhold, withdraw, modify, amend or change its unanimous recommendation in favor of the approval of the merger agreement if a superior proposal is made to Precise and not withdrawn, neither Precise nor any of its representatives has breached the nonsolicitation provisions of the merger agreement, and Precise s board of directors concludes in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, that, in light of the superior proposal, the withholding, withdrawing, amending, modifying or changing of its recommendation is required in order for Precise s board of directors to comply with its fiduciary obligations to Precise s shareholders, the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement have not yet been approved by Precise s shareholders at Precise s extraordinary meeting, and concurrently with any withholding, withdrawing, modification, or change of the board of directors recommendation, Precise shall have terminated the merger agreement in accordance with the procedures specified in Section 7.1(j) of the merger agreement and have entered into a definitive agreement providing for a superior proposal.

An acquisition proposal is any offer or proposal, other than an offer or proposal by VERITAS, relating to any acquisition transaction. An acquisition transaction is any transaction or series of related transactions, other than the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, that involves:

any acquisition or purchase from Precise by any person or group, as defined under Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act, of more than a 15% interest in the total outstanding voting securities of Precise or any tender offer or exchange offer that, if consummated, would result in any person or group beneficially owning 15% or more of the total outstanding voting securities of Precise;

any merger, consolidation, business combination or similar transaction involving Precise in which the shareholders of Precise immediately preceding the transaction hold less than 85% percent of the equity interests in the surviving or resulting entity;

any sale, lease, other than in the ordinary course of business, exchange, transfer, license, other than in the ordinary course of business, acquisition or disposition of more than 15% percent of the assets of Precise; or

any liquidation, dissolution, recapitalization or other significant corporate reorganization of Precise.

A superior proposal is any bona fide, unsolicited written acquisition proposal which is received and made in compliance with the nonsolicitation provisions of the merger agreement involving the acquisition of all outstanding voting securities of Precise where:

the cash consideration, if any is involved, shall not be subject to any financing contingency, and with respect to which Precise s board of directors shall have determined, taking into account the advice of Precise s financial advisors, that the acquiring party is capable of consummating the proposed acquisition transaction on the terms proposed and that receipt of all governmental and regulatory approvals required to consummate the proposed acquisition transaction is likely in a reasonable time period, and

Precise s board of directors shall have reasonably and in good faith determined that the proposed acquisition transaction provides greater value to the shareholders of Precise, from a financial point of view, than the merger with VERITAS, taking into account the advice of Precise s financial advisors.

42

#### Other Matters Related to the Merger

#### Merger Proposal; Notice to Creditors

Precise and the merger subsidiary executed a merger proposal and delivered this merger proposal to the Israeli Companies Registrar on December 29, 2002 in accordance with certain provisions of the Israeli Companies Law. Precise and the merger subsidiary have given notices of the merger to the creditors of each company, as required by the Israeli Companies Law and the regulations promulgated thereunder. See the related discussion in this filing.

#### **Precise Shareholder Meeting**

Precise is required to take all actions necessary to call and convene an extraordinary meeting of shareholders to vote on the proposal to approve the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and must use commercially reasonable efforts to solicit proxies in favor of approval of the merger. Within three days following approval of the merger by Precise s shareholders, Precise must inform the Israeli Companies Registrar of such approval.

#### Precise s Employee Benefit Plans

Precise is required to terminate, effective as of the day immediately before completion of the merger, any and all of its 401(k) plans unless VERITAS provides notice to do otherwise.

#### **Treatment of Precise Share Options**

Upon completion of the merger, each outstanding option to purchase Precise ordinary shares will be assumed by VERITAS and will become exercisable for the number of whole shares of VERITAS common stock equal to the option exchange ratio multiplied by the number of Precise ordinary shares to which the option related immediately prior to the completion of the merger, rounded down to the nearest whole share. The exercise price will be equal to the exercise price per Precise ordinary share subject to the option before the merger divided by the option exchange ratio, rounded up to the nearest whole cent. The other terms of each option and the Precise option plans under which the option exchange ratio shall be equal to the greater of (1) the quotient obtained by dividing \$16.50 by the average closing sale price of one share of VERITAS common stock as reported on The Nasdaq National Market for the five consecutive trading days ending immediately prior to the time the merger takes effect, and (2) the sum of (a) 0.2365, and (b) the quotient obtained by dividing \$12.375 by the average closing sale price of one share of VERITAS common stock as reported on The Nasdaq National Market for the five consecutive trading days ending immediately prior to the time the merger takes effect.

VERITAS will file a registration statement on Form S-8 for the shares of VERITAS common stock issuable with respect to assumed options under the Precise share option plans as soon as is reasonably practicable after the completion of the merger and to the extent the shares issuable under such assumed options qualify for registration on Form S-8.

#### Precise Warrants

Upon completion of the merger, VERITAS will assume each outstanding warrant to purchase Precise ordinary shares. Each warrant assumed by VERITAS will continue to have, and be subject to, the same terms and conditions of that warrant immediately prior to the completion of the merger, except that each warrant will be exercisable for that number of shares of VERITAS common stock that were issuable upon exercise of the warrant immediately prior to the completion of the merger multiplied by the option exchange ratio and the per share exercise price for the shares of VERITAS common stock will be equal to the quotient obtained by dividing the exercise price per share immediately prior to the completion of the merger ratio.

#### Indemnification

VERITAS has agreed to cause Precise, as the surviving corporation in the merger, to fulfill and honor in all respects Precise s obligations under indemnification agreements between Precise and its directors and executive officers existing immediately prior to the effective time of the merger. If the Precise shareholders approve a proposal to this effect that is expected to be considered at the Precise extraordinary meeting, then VERITAS will cause Precise, as the surviving corporation, to undertake the indemnification obligations contained in indemnification agreements in the form expected to be attached to the proxy statement/prospectus when it becomes available. VERITAS has agreed that, if the Precise shareholders do not approve a proposal to this effect that is expected to be considered at the Precise extraordinary meeting, but do approve the merger, then VERITAS will effect the amendment contemplated by such proposal and will cause the surviving corporation to undertake the indemnification obligations contained in the indemnification agreements in the form expected to be attached to the proxy statement/prospectus when it becomes available.

#### Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

VERITAS has agreed to allow Precise to purchase tail or runoff directors and officers liability insurance covering those persons who are currently covered by Precise s directors and officers liability insurance policy for a period of seven years from the completion of the merger; provided that the premium for such coverage shall not exceed \$2 million, in the aggregate.

#### Nasdaq Listing

VERITAS will cause its shares of common stock that will be issued in connection with the merger to be approved for listing or trading on The Nasdaq National Market.

#### **Termination of the Merger Agreement**

#### Termination by Mutual Agreement

VERITAS and Precise may terminate the merger agreement at any time prior to the completion of the merger by mutual written consent duly authorized by the boards of directors of VERITAS and Precise.

#### Termination by either VERITAS or Precise

Either VERITAS or Precise may terminate the merger agreement at any time prior to the completion of the merger under circumstances specified in the merger agreement. Subject to specified exceptions, these circumstances generally include if:

The merger is not completed by June 30, 2003;

A final, non-appealable order or other action of a court or other governmental entity has the effect of permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the merger;

Precise s shareholders do not approve by the required vote the merger agreement and the merger at the extraordinary meeting;

A representation, warranty, covenant or agreement of the other party in the merger agreement has been breached or becomes inaccurate, which would prevent the conditions to completion of the merger from being satisfied and which cannot be cured through commercially reasonable efforts or is not cured within 30 days after delivery of notice of such breach or inaccuracy; or

A material adverse effect has occurred with respect to the other party, which cannot be cured through commercially reasonable efforts or is not cured within 30 days after delivery of notice of such material adverse effect.

44

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Termination by VERITAS

VERITAS may terminate the merger agreement at any time prior to the completion of the merger if:

a triggering event shall have occurred; or

VERITAS determines, in its reasonable judgment based on advice of patent counsel, that Precise and/or its intellectual property is infringing one or more specified patents in a manner that could lead to any injunction regarding one or more of Precise s products or services, material damages, material royalties or similar payments. For purposes of the merger agreement, material damages means damages in excess of \$2.5 million and material royalties means royalties in excess of \$2.5 million or similar payments.

A triggering event shall occur if:

Precise s board of directors, or any of its committees, withdraws or amends or modifies in a manner adverse to VERITAS, its recommendation in favor of the approval of the merger agreement, the merger or the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

Precise fails to include in the proxy statement/prospectus the recommendation of Precise s board of directors in favor of approval of the merger agreement, the merger or the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

Precise s board of directors, or any of its committees, approves or recommends any acquisition proposal;

Precise breaches the nonsolicitation provisions of the merger agreement in any material respect;

Precise enters into any letter of intent or similar document or any agreement, contract or commitment accepting any acquisition proposal; or

a tender or exchange offer relating to the securities of Precise is commenced by a person unaffiliated with VERITAS, and Precise does not send to its securityholders, within 10 business days after such tender or exchange offer is first published, sent or given, a statement disclosing that Precise recommends rejection of such tender or exchange offer. *Termination by Precise* 

Precise may terminate the merger agreement to enter into a binding definitive agreement providing for a superior proposal, as defined in the merger agreement, if:

Precise s board of directors determines in good faith after consultation with its outside legal counsel that entering into the alternative agreement is required for Precise s board of directors to comply with its fiduciary obligations to Precise shareholders;

immediately prior to the termination of the merger agreement, Precise pays VERITAS a termination fee of \$16.2 million;

Precise gives VERITAS at least three business days prior written notice of its intention to enter into the alternative agreement; and

concurrently with Precise s termination of the merger agreement, Precise enters into the alternative agreement. **Payment of Termination Fee** 

If the merger agreement is terminated by VERITAS because of the occurrence of a triggering event, Precise will pay VERITAS a termination fee of \$16.2 million within one business day after demand by VERITAS.

#### **Table of Contents**

Precise will pay VERITAS a termination fee of \$16.2 million prior to and as a condition of any termination of the merger agreement by Precise to enter into a binding definitive agreement providing for a Superior Proposal as described above.

Further, if (1) the merger agreement is terminated by VERITAS or Precise as a result of the Precise shareholders failure to approve the merger agreement or the failure of the completion of the merger to occur on or before June 30, 2003 and (2) prior to such termination, (a) there shall exist, or have been publicly proposed and not publicly definitively withdrawn at least five business days prior to such termination, an acquisition proposal, or (b) one or more board members shall have changed their recommendation that Precise s shareholders approve the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and such change was publicly known; and (3) within 12 months following the termination of the merger agreement a company acquisition is consummated, or Precise enters into an agreement providing for a company acquisition, Precise will pay VERITAS, at or prior to the consummation of, or entering into a definitive agreement providing for, such company acquisition, a termination fee of \$16.2 million.

A company acquisition is any of the following:

a merger, consolidation, business combination, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction involving Precise in which the shareholders of Precise immediately preceding the transaction hold less than 50% of the aggregate equity interests in the surviving or resulting entity of the transaction;

a sale or other disposition by Precise of assets representing in excess of 50% of the aggregate fair market value of Precise s business immediately prior to the sale; or

the acquisition by any person or group, including by way of a tender offer or an exchange offer or issuance by Precise, directly or indirectly, of beneficial ownership or a right to acquire beneficial ownership of shares representing in excess of 50% of the voting power of the then outstanding shares of capital stock of Precise.

#### Extension, Waiver and Amendment of the Merger Agreement

Subject to applicable law, VERITAS and Precise may amend the merger agreement at any time by a written amendment signed on behalf of each of VERITAS and Precise.

Either VERITAS or Precise may in writing extend the other s time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts under the merger agreement, waive any inaccuracies in the other s representations and warranties or documents delivered to the other, and waive compliance by the other with any of the agreements or conditions for the benefit of the waiving party contained in the merger agreement.

#### **Voting Undertakings**

As a condition to VERITAS entering into the merger agreement, Precise s directors, each in his or her capacity as a shareholder, officers and other affiliated shareholders entered into voting undertakings with VERITAS. By entering into the voting undertakings, these Precise shareholders have irrevocably appointed the directors of VERITAS as their sole and exclusive attorneys and proxies, providing such proxy the limited right to vote the shares of Precise beneficially owned by these Precise shareholders, including ordinary shares acquired after the date of the voting undertakings, in favor of the approval and adoption of the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. These Precise shareholders may vote their Precise ordinary shares on all other matters.

As of December 19, 2002, these individuals and entities collectively beneficially owned approximately 6.3% of the outstanding ordinary shares of Precise, as determined in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission. None of the Precise shareholders who are parties to the voting undertakings were paid or will be paid additional consideration in connection with them.

#### **Table of Contents**

Under these voting undertakings, the shareholders also have agreed not to transfer the Precise ordinary shares and options owned, controlled or acquired, either directly or indirectly, by them or their voting rights with respect to such shares until the earlier of the termination of the merger agreement or the completion of the merger, unless the transfer is in accordance with any affiliate agreement between the shareholder and VERITAS and each person to which any shares or any interest in any shares is transferred agrees in writing to be bound by the terms and provisions of the voting undertaking, including the proxy.

These voting undertakings will terminate upon the earlier to occur of the termination of the merger agreement or the completion of the merger. The form of voting undertakings is attached to this filing as Annex B.

#### Affiliate Agreements

As a condition to VERITAS entering into the merger agreement, each member of Precise s board of directors, each in his or her capacity as a shareholder, and certain officers and affiliated shareholders of Precise executed affiliate agreements. Under the affiliate agreements, VERITAS will be entitled to place appropriate legends on the certificates evidencing any VERITAS common stock to be received by each of the persons who have entered into an affiliate agreement and to issue stop transfer instructions to the transfer agent for VERITAS common stock. These persons have also acknowledged the resale restrictions imposed by Rule 145 under the Securities Act on shares of VERITAS common stock to be received by them in the merger. The form of affiliate agreement is attached to this filing as Annex C.

#### WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

Neither VERITAS nor Precise has authorized anyone to provide you with information that is different from or in addition to the information contained in this filing. The information contained in this filing with respect to VERITAS was provided by VERITAS and the information contained in this filing with respect to Precise was provided by Precise.

The registration statement on Form S-4 to be filed by VERITAS upon the completion of the restatement of certain financial results as more fully described in the Explanatory Note at the beginning of this filing pursuant to Rule 425 of the Securities Act will incorporate by reference certain information regarding VERITAS and Precise, including certain documents filed by VERITAS and Precise under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act.

Any statement contained in this filing or in the proxy statement/prospectus or in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference into the proxy statement/prospectus will be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this filing and the proxy statement/prospectus to the extent that a statement contained in the proxy statement/prospectus or any other subsequently filed document that is deemed to be incorporated by reference into the proxy statement/prospectus modifies or supersedes the statement. Any statement so modified or superseded will not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this filing or the proxy statement/prospectus.

This filing and the proxy statement/ prospectus do not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to buy, any securities, or the solicitation of a proxy, in any jurisdiction in which it is not lawful to make any such offer or solicitation or to any person to whom it is not lawful to make any such offer or solicitation. Neither the delivery of this filing or the proxy statement/ prospectus nor any distribution of this filing or the proxy statement/ prospectus shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the information set forth in this filing or set forth in or incorporated by reference into the proxy statement/ prospectus or in the affairs of VERITAS or Precise since the date of this filing or the proxy statement/ prospectus.



#### ANNEX A

#### **EXECUTION COPY**

## AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

by and among

#### VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

## ARGON MERGER SUB LTD.

and

#### PRECISE SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS LTD.

Dated as of December 19, 2002

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

-	Page
ARTICLE I THE MERGER	A-1
1.1 The Merger	A-1
1.2 Closing Date	A-2
1.3 Effective Time	A-2
1.4 Effect on Capital Stock	A-2
1.5 Surrender of Certificates	A-5
1.6 Company s Transfer Books Closed; No Further Ownership Rights	
in Company Shares	A-6
1.7 Lost, Stolen, Destroyed or Unissued Certificates	A-6
1.8 Taking of Necessary Action; Further Action	A-7
ARTICLE II REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF	
COMPANY	A-7
2.1 Organization and Qualification; Subsidiaries	A-7
2.2 Memorandum of Association; Articles of Association	A-7
2.3 Capitalization	A-7
2.4 Authority Relative to this Agreement	A-9
2.5 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents	A-9
2.6 Compliance with Laws; Environmental Matters; Permits	A-10
2.7 SEC Filings; Financial Statements	A-11
2.8 No Undisclosed Liabilities	A-12
2.9 Absence of Certain Changes or Events	A-12
2.10 Absence of Litigation	A-13
2.11 Employee Matters and Benefit Plans	A-13
2.12 Registration Statement; Prospectus/ Proxy Statement	A-17
2.13 Restrictions on Business Activities	A-18
2.14 Property	A-18
2.15 Taxes	A-18
2.16 Brokers	A-20
2.17 Intellectual Property	A-20
2.18 Contracts	A-25
2.19 Opinion of Financial Advisor	A-26
2.20 Insurance	A-26
2.21 Board Approval	A-26
2.22 Inapplicability of Certain Statutes	A-27
2.23 Grants, Incentives and Subsidies	A-27
2.24 Encryption and Other Restricted Technology	A-27
ARTICLE III REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF	A 27
PARENT AND MERGER SUB	A-27
3.1 Organization and Qualification	A-27
3.2 Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws; Articles of Association	A-28
3.3 Capitalization	A-28
<ul><li>3.4 Authority Relative to this Agreement</li><li>3.5 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents</li></ul>	A-28
3.6 Financing	A-28 A-29
3.7 Issuance of Parent Common Stock	A-29 A-29
J. / ISSUARCE OF FAREIR COMMON STOCK	H-29

		Page
3.8	SEC Filings; Financial Statements	A-29
	Registration Statement; Prospectus/ Proxy Statement	A-30
	Absence of Certain Changes or Events	A-30
3.11	Company Share Ownership	A-30
	2 Brokers	A-30
3.13	3 Merger Sub Board Approval	A-30
	CLE IV CONDUCT PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE TIME	A-30
4.1	Conduct of Business by Company	A-30
	CLE V ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS	A-33
5.1	Prospectus/ Proxy Statement; Registration Statement	A-33
5.2	Merger Proposal	A-34
	Company General Meeting	A-35
	Merger Sub General Meeting	A-36
	Israeli Approvals	A-36
	Confidentiality; Access to Information	A-38
	No Solicitation	A-38
5.8	Public Disclosure	A-40
5.9	Commercially Reasonable Efforts; Regulatory Filings	A-40
	) Third Party Consents	A-41
	Stock Options and Employee Benefits	A-41
	2 Form S-8	A-43
5.13	3 Notification	A-43
5.14	Indemnification and Insurance	A-43
5.15	5 Company Warrants	A-44
	5 Listing of Parent Common Stock	A-44
	7 Company Affiliates; Restrictive Legend	A-44
	B Parent Guaranty of Merger Sub Obligations	A-45
	Alternative Structure	A-45
ARTI	CLE VI CONDITIONS TO THE MERGER	A-45
6.1	Conditions to Obligations of Each Party to Effect the Merger	A-45
	Additional Conditions to Obligations of Company	A-46
	Additional Conditions to the Obligations of Parent and Merger	
Sub		A-46
ARTI	CLE VII TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER	A-47
7.1	Termination	A-47
	Notice of Termination; Effect of Termination	A-49
	Fees and Expenses	A-49
	Amendment	A-50
	Extension; Waiver	A-50
	CLE VIII GENERAL PROVISIONS	A-50
	Non-Survival of Representations and Warranties	A-50
	Notices	A-50
	Interpretation; Knowledge	A-52
8.4		A-53

ii

	Page
8.5 Entire Agreement; Third Party Beneficiaries	A-53
8.6 Severability	A-53
8.7 Other Remedies; Specific Performance	A-53
8.8 Applicable Law	A-53
8.9 Rules of Construction	A-54
8.10 Assignment	A-54
8.11 Waiver of Jury Trial	A-54

iii

## INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Exhibit A	Form of Voting Undertaking
Exhibit B	Form of Employment and Noncompetition Agreement
Exhibit C	Form of Company Affiliate Agreement
Exhibit D	Form of Director Resignation
Exhibit E	Form of Merger Proposal
Exhibit F	Form of Amendment to Company Articles of Association
Exhibit G	Form of New Indemnification Letter
Exhibit G	Form of New Indemnification Letter

#### iv

#### **Table of Contents**

#### AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This Agreement and Plan of Merger (the Agreement ) is made and entered into as of December 19, 2002, among VERITAS Software Corporation, a Delaware corporation ( Parent ), Argon Merger Sub Ltd., an Israeli company and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent ( Merger Sub ), and Precise Software Solutions Ltd., an Israeli company ( Company ).

#### RECITALS

A. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement and in accordance with the Israeli Companies Law-5759-1999 (the **Israeli Companies Law**), Parent, Merger Sub and Company intend to effect the merger of Merger Sub with and into Company, pursuant to which Merger Sub will cease to exist and Company will become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent.

B. The Board of Directors of Company has unanimously: (i) determined that this Agreement, the Merger (as defined in Section 1.1) and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement are fair to, and in the best interests of, Company and its shareholders, and that, considering the financial position of the merging companies, no reasonable concern exists that the Surviving Corporation (as defined in Section 1.1) will be unable to fulfill the obligations of Company to its creditors; (ii) approved this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and (iii) determined to recommend that the shareholders of Company approve this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

C. The Board of Directors of each of Parent and Merger Sub has approved this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and the Board of Directors of Merger Sub has determined that, considering the financial position of the merging companies, no reasonable concern exists that the Surviving Corporation will be unable to fulfill the obligations of Merger Sub to its creditors.

D. Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement and as a condition and inducement to Parent s willingness to enter into this Agreement: (i) all directors and officers and certain principal shareholders of Company are entering into voting undertakings in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the **Voting Undertakings**); (ii) certain individuals are entering into employment and noncompetition agreements in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the **Employment and Noncompetition Agreements**); (iii) all directors, executive officers and certain shareholders of Company who may be deemed to be affiliates of Company within the meaning of Rule 145 promulgated under the Securities Act (as defined below) are entering into Company affiliate agreements in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit C (the **Company Affiliate Agreements**); and (iv) all directors of Company and Precise Software Solutions, Inc. are executing resignation letters in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit D (the **Director Resignations**).

Now, therefore, in consideration of the foregoing premises, the mutual covenants, promises and representations set forth herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged and accepted, the parties agree as follows:

#### ARTICLE I

#### THE MERGER

1.1 *The Merger*. At the Effective Time (as defined in Section 1.3) and subject to and upon the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the applicable provisions of the Israeli Companies Law, Merger Sub (as the target company (Chevrat Yaad) in the Merger) shall be merged with and into Company (as the absorbing company (Chevra Koletet) in the Merger) in accordance with Sections 314 through 327 of the Israeli Companies Law (the **Merger**), the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease and Company: (i) shall continue as the surviving corporation (sometimes referred to herein as the **Surviving Corporation**); and (ii) shall succeed to and assume all of the rights, properties and obligations of Merger Sub in accordance with the aforesaid sections of the Israeli Companies Law.

#### Table of Contents

1.2 *Closing Date.* Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the closing of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the **Closing**) shall take place at the offices of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation, 650 Page Mill Road, Palo Alto, California, USA, at a time **and** on a date to be designated by the parties (the time and date upon which the Closing actually occurs being referred to herein as the **Closing Date**), which shall be no later than the second business day after the later to occur of: (i) the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Article VI hereof (other than those conditions which by their terms are to be satisfied or waived as of the Closing) or (ii) the 71st day after the delivery of the Merger Proposal (as defined in Section 5.2) to the office of the Registrar of Companies of the State of Israel (the **Companies Registrar**), or at such other time, date and location as the parties hereto shall mutually agree.

1.3 *Effective Time*. As soon as practicable on or after the Closing, Merger Sub shall, in coordination with Company, deliver (and Parent shall cause Merger Sub to deliver) to the Companies Registrar a notice (the **Merger Notice**) informing the Companies Registrar that the Merger was approved by the general shareholders meeting of Merger Sub. The Merger shall become effective (**Effective Time**) upon the issuance by the Companies Registrar of a certificate evidencing the completion of the Merger in accordance with Section 323(5) of the Israeli Companies Law.

1.4 *Effect on Capital Stock.* Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub, Company or the holders of any of the following securities, the following shall occur:

(a) Conversion of Company Shares. Each Ordinary Share, NIS 0.03 par value per share, of Company (the Company Shares ) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, other than any Company Shares owned by any direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Company or any dormant shares of Company, shall automatically be converted into and represent solely the right to receive, at the election of the holder thereof, one of the following (the Per Share Merger Consideration ): (i) for each Company Share with respect to which an election to receive cash has been effectively made, and not revoked, pursuant to Section 1.4(b) (a Cash Election ), and for each Company Share with respect to which a Cash Election is deemed to have been made pursuant to Section 1.4(b), \$16.50 in cash, subject to the provisions of Section 1.4(e) (the **Per Share Cash Consideration**); and (ii) for each Company Share with respect to which an election to receive a combination of cash and shares of common stock, \$.001 par value per share, of Parent ( Parent Common Stock ) has been effectively made, and not revoked, pursuant to Section 1.4(b) (a Mixed Election ), 0.2365 of a share of Parent Common Stock, subject to the provisions of Sections 1.4(e), 1.4(f) and 1.4(g), plus \$12.375 in cash, subject to the provisions of Section 1.4(e) (the **Per Share Mixed** Consideration ), in each case payable without interest to the holder of such Company Share upon surrender of the certificate representing such Company Share in the manner provided in Section 1.5 (or in the case of a lost, stolen, destroyed or unissued certificate, upon delivery of an affidavit (and bond, if required) in the manner provided in Section 1.7). Upon the issuance of any Parent Common Stock hereunder, and consistent with, pursuant to and subject to Parent s existing Rights Agreement, dated as of June 16, 1999 (as the same may be amended from time to time, the Rights Agreement ), between Parent and Mellon Investor Services, L.L.C., as rights agent, one right issuable pursuant to the Rights Agreement or any other right issued in substitution therefor (a Right ) shall be issued together with and shall attach to each share of Parent Common Stock issued pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, unless the Rights shall have expired or been redeemed prior to the Effective Time. As of the Effective Time, subject to Section 1.4(c) below, all of the Company Shares shall automatically be owned by Parent, and will be registered in its name in the shareholders registry of the Surviving Corporation.

#### (b) Election of Per Share Merger Consideration.

(i) Each person who, on or prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the business day immediately preceding the Election Date (as defined below) is a record holder of Company Shares shall be entitled, with respect to all such holder s Company Shares, to make an unconditional Cash Election or an unconditional Mixed Election on the basis hereinafter set forth.

Parent shall prepare a form of election, which form shall include a letter of transmittal, declaration and instructions, each in (ii) substantially the form contemplated by Section 1.5(c), and shall be subject to the reasonable approval of Company (the Form of Election ). The Form of Election shall be mailed with the Prospectus/ Proxy Statement (as defined in Section 2.12) to the record holders of Company Shares, as of the record date for the Company General Meeting (as defined in Section 5.3(a)), which Form of Election shall be used by each record holder of Company Shares who wishes to elect to receive the Per Share Cash Consideration or the Per Share Mixed Consideration for each of the Company Shares held by such holder. Company shall use reasonable efforts to make the Form of Election and the Prospectus/ Proxy Statement available to all persons who become record holders of Company Shares during the period between such record date and 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the business day immediately preceding the Election Date. Any such holder s election to receive the Per Share Cash Consideration or the Per Share Mixed Consideration, as applicable, for each of the Company Shares held by such holder shall have been properly made only if the Paying Agent (as defined in Section 1.5(a)) shall have received at its designated office, by 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the business day immediately preceding the date of the Company General Meeting (the Election Date ), a Form of Election properly completed and signed and accompanied by Certificates (as defined in Section 1.5(c)) for the Company Shares to which such Form of Election relates, duly endorsed in blank or otherwise in a form acceptable for transfer on the books of Company (or accompanied by an appropriate guarantee of delivery of such Certificates as set forth in such Form of Election signed by a bank, broker, dealer, credit union, savings association or other entity that is a member in good standing of the Securities Transfer Agent s Medallion Program, the New York Stock Exchange Medallion Signature Guarantee Program or the Stock Exchange Medallion Program), provided such Certificates are in fact delivered to the Paying Agent within five Nasdaq (as defined in Section 1.4(f)) trading days after the Election Date. If the Company General Meeting is delayed to a subsequent date, the Election Date shall be similarly delayed and Parent will promptly announce such rescheduled Election Date. All Certificates so surrendered shall be subject to the payment and exchange procedures set forth in Section 1.5 hereof. A holder of record of Company Shares who holds such Company Shares as a nominee, trustee or in another representative capacity (a Holder Representative ) may submit multiple Forms of Election, provided that such Holder Representative certifies that each such Form of Election covers all the Company Shares held by such Holder Representative for a particular beneficial owner.

(iii) Any Form of Election may be revoked, by the holder who submitted such Form of Election to the Paying Agent, only by written notice received by the Paying Agent (i) prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Election Date, or (ii) after such time, if and only to the extent that the Paying Agent is legally required to permit revocations and only if the Effective Time shall not have occurred prior to such date. In addition, all Forms of Election shall be automatically revoked after termination of this Agreement if the Paying Agent is notified in writing by Parent that this Agreement has been so terminated. If a Form of Election is revoked, unless the holder properly submits a new Form of Election prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Election Date, the Certificate or Certificates (or guarantees of delivery, as appropriate) for the Company Shares to which such Form of Election relates shall be promptly returned without charge to the holder that submitted the same to the Paying Agent.

(iv) The determination of Parent in its sole discretion, which it may delegate in whole or in part to the Paying Agent, shall be conclusive and binding as to whether or not elections to receive the Per Share Cash Consideration or the Per Share Mixed Consideration have been properly made or revoked pursuant to this Section 1.4(b) with respect to Company Shares and when elections and revocations were received by the Paying Agent. Parent shall have the discretion, which it may delegate in whole or in part to the Paying Agent, to disregard immaterial defects in Forms of Election. The decision of Parent (or the Paying Agent) in such matters, absent manifest error, shall be conclusive and binding so long as Parent has acted in good faith. Neither Parent nor the Paying Agent shall be under any obligation to notify any person of any defect in any Form of Election

#### **Table of Contents**

submitted to the Paying Agent. If (x) no Form of Election is received with respect to Company Shares, or (y) Parent determines in its sole discretion and acting in good faith, which it may delegate in whole or in part to the Paying Agent, that any election to receive the Per Share Mixed Consideration was not properly made with respect to Company Shares, the holder of such Company Shares shall be treated by the Paying Agent as having submitted a Cash Election with respect to such Company Shares, and each of such Company Shares shall be converted at the Effective Time into the right to receive the Per Share Cash Consideration.

(v) The Paying Agent may, with the mutual agreement of Parent and Company, make such rules as are consistent with this Section 1.4 for the implementation of the elections provided for herein as shall be necessary or desirable to effect such elections fully.

(c) *Dormant Shares; Subsidiary-Owned Stock.* At the Effective Time, each Company Share that is a dormant share or owned by any direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Company immediately prior to the Effective Time shall remain outstanding, shall not be converted under Section 1.4(a) and no Per Share Merger Consideration shall be delivered with respect thereto.

(d) *Stock Options; Warrants; Employee Stock Purchase Plan.* At the Effective Time, all options to purchase Company Shares then outstanding under Company s 1995 Share Option and Incentive Plan, Amended and Restated 1998 Share Option and Incentive Plan, and Stock Option Plan (f/k/a the Savant Corporation Stock Option Plan) (in the case of each such plan, both in their original form and as they may have been amended and/or restated prior to the date hereof) (collectively, the **Company Option Plans**), and under any agreement with Company described in Section 2.3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, in each case, whether vested or unvested, and the Company Option Plans themselves, shall be assumed by Parent in accordance with Section 5.11. At the Effective Time, all warrants to purchase Company Shares then outstanding shall be assumed by Parent in accordance with Section 5.15. Purchase rights outstanding under Company s 2000 Employee Share Purchase Plan (the **ESPP**) shall be treated as set forth in Section 5.11.

(e) Adjustments to Per Share Merger Consideration. The Per Share Merger Consideration shall be adjusted to reflect appropriately the effect of any forward or reverse stock split, stock dividend (including any dividend or distribution of securities convertible into Parent Common Stock or Company Shares), extraordinary cash dividends, reorganization, recapitalization, reclassification, combination, exchange of shares or other like change with respect to Parent Common Stock or Company Shares occurring on or after the date hereof and prior to the Effective Time.

(f) *No Fractional Shares*. No fraction of a share of Parent Common Stock will be issued by virtue of the Merger, but in lieu thereof each holder of Company Shares who would otherwise be entitled to a fraction of a share of Parent Common Stock (after aggregating all fractional shares of Parent Common Stock that would otherwise be received by such holder) shall, upon surrender of such holder s Certificates receive from Parent an amount of cash (rounded to the nearest whole cent), without interest, equal to the product of (i) such fraction, multiplied by (ii) the average closing price of one share of Parent Common Stock for the five (5) most recent trading days that Parent Common Stock has traded ending on the trading day ending immediately prior to the Effective Time, as reported on The Nasdaq Stock Market (**NASDAQ**).

(g) *Israeli Holders*. Unless the Israeli Securities Election Exemption (as defined in Section 5.5(d)) is obtained prior to the date that the Prospectus/ Proxy Statement is mailed to holders of Company Shares, each Israeli Holder who has effectively made and not revoked a Mixed Election with respect to Company Shares shall not be entitled to receive the Parent Common Stock included in the Per Share Mixed Consideration, and at the Effective Time each of such Company Shares shall be converted into and represent solely the right to receive, an amount in cash equal to the sum of (x) \$12.375, plus (y) the amount obtained by multiplying 0.2365 by the closing sale price of one share of Parent Common Stock on the trading day immediately prior to the Effective Time as reported on Nasdaq. For purposes of this Agreement, the term **Israeli Holder** shall mean a holder of Company Shares: (i) who has provided the Company or the broker through which such holder holds its Company Shares with an address in the

#### **Table of Contents**

State of Israel for the purpose of sending notices; or (ii) whose center of vital interests (as evidenced by family, economic and social ties) is in Israel.

1.5 Surrender of Certificates.

(a) *Paying Agent*. Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall select a bank or trust company reasonably acceptable to Company to act as the paying and exchange agent (the **Paying Agent**) in the Merger to receive the funds and shares of Parent Common Stock, if any, to which holders of such Company Shares shall become entitled pursuant to Section 1.4.

(b) *Parent to Provide Per Share Merger Consideration.* Promptly following the Effective Time, (i) Parent shall deposit with the Paying Agent, for exchange in accordance with this Article I, the shares of Parent Common Stock, if any, issuable pursuant to Section 1.4 in exchange for outstanding Company Shares, and (ii) Parent shall deliver or shall cause a U.S. bank or U.S. company to deliver such immediately available funds to the Paying Agent, as directed by the Paying Agent, to enable the Paying Agent to make prompt payment after the Effective Time pursuant to Section 1.5(c) of the funds payable and Parent Common Stock issuable to the holders of Company Shares who have properly delivered their Certificates to the Paying Agent prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time on the Election Date or who have properly surrendered their Certificates after the Effective Time. In addition, Parent shall make available or shall cause a U.S. bank or U.S. company to make available from time to time, if and as necessary after the Effective Time, cash in an amount sufficient for payment in lieu of fractional shares pursuant to Section 1.4(f) and for payment of any dividends or distributions to which holders of Company Shares may be entitled pursuant to Section 1.5(d). Such funds and shares of Parent Common Stock shall be held in trust by the Paying Agent for the benefit of the holders of Company Shares.

(c) Payment and Exchange Procedures. As soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Time, Parent shall cause the Paying Agent to mail to each holder of record (as of the Effective Time) of a certificate or certificates (each, a Certificate and collectively, the Certificates ), which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented outstanding Company Shares, whose shares were converted into the right to receive the applicable Per Share Merger Consideration pursuant to Section 1.4 (other than those holders who had previously properly delivered their Certificates to the Paying Agent along with their Forms of Election): (i) a letter of transmittal in customary form (which shall specify that delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to the Certificates shall pass, only upon delivery of the Certificates to the Paying Agent), (ii) a declaration form in which the holder of record states whether the holder is a resident of Israel as defined in the Income Tax Ordinance of Israel [New Version], 1961, as amended (the **Ordinance**) and whether the Company Shares held by such holder were held by such holder before the initial public offering of the Company and (iii) instructions for use in effecting the surrender of the Certificates in exchange for the applicable Per Share Merger Consideration. In the case of holders who prior to the Election Date properly delivered their Certificates to the Paying Agent along with their Forms of Election, such holders shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor promptly after the Effective Time the applicable Per Share Merger consideration into which their Company Shares were converted at the Effective Time (rounded to the nearest whole cent after aggregating all Company Shares held by such holder). With respect to holders who did not so deliver their Certificates and Forms of Election, such holders shall be entitled to receive, upon surrender of Certificates for cancellation to the Paying Agent or to such other agent or agents as may be appointed by Parent, together with such letter of transmittal and such declaration form, duly completed and validly executed in accordance with the instructions thereto, the applicable Per Share Merger Consideration into which their Company Shares were converted at the Effective Time (rounded to the nearest whole cent after aggregating all Company Shares held by such holder), and the Certificates so surrendered shall forthwith be canceled. No interest shall accrue or be paid on the amounts payable pursuant to Section 1.4 upon the surrender of any Certificate for the benefit of the holder of such Certificate. Until so surrendered, outstanding Certificates will be deemed from and after the Effective Time for all corporate purposes to evidence only the ownership of the right to receive the applicable Per Share Merger Consideration into which such Company Shares shall have been so converted and, if applicable, an amount of cash in lieu of the issuance of any fractional shares in accordance with Section 1.4(f) and any dividends or distributions payable pursuant to Section 1.5(d).



#### Table of Contents

(d) *Distributions With Respect to Unexchanged Shares*. No dividends or other distributions declared or made after the date of this Agreement with respect to Parent Common Stock with a record date after the Effective Time will be paid to the holders of any unsurrendered Certificates with respect to any shares of Parent Common Stock represented thereby until the holders of record of such Certificates shall surrender such Certificates. Subject to applicable law, following surrender of any such Certificates, the Paying Agent shall deliver to the record holders thereof, without interest, certificates representing whole shares of Parent Common Stock issued in exchange therefor along with payment in lieu of fractional shares pursuant to Section 1.4(f) hereof and the amount of any such dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time payable with respect to such whole shares of Parent Common Stock.

(e) *Transfers of Ownership.* If the payment of the amounts payable pursuant to Section 1.4 is to be made to, or if shares of Parent Common Stock issuable pursuant to Section 1.4 are to be issued in the name of, a person other than the person in whose name the Certificates surrendered in exchange therefor are registered, it will be a condition of the payment or issuance thereof that the Certificates so surrendered will be properly endorsed and otherwise in proper form for transfer and that the persons requesting such payment or issuance will have paid to Parent or any agent designated by it any transfer or other taxes required by reason of the payment of the amount specified in Section 1.4 to, or the issuance of the shares of Parent Common Stock specified in Section 1.4 in the name of, a person other than the registered holder of the Certificates surrendered, or established to the satisfaction of Parent or any agent designated by it that such tax has been paid or is not payable.

(f) *Withholding*. Each of the Paying Agent, Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any consideration payable or otherwise deliverable pursuant to this Agreement, including pursuant to Section 1.4(d) above, to any holder or former holder of Company Shares or Company Stock Options, such amounts as may be required to be deducted or withheld therefrom under the Code (as defined in Section 2.11(a)), the Ordinance, or under any provision of state, local, Israeli or other foreign law or any other applicable requirement, provided, however, that (i) in the event the Israeli Withholding Tax Ruling (as defined in Section 5.5(c)) is obtained, deduction and withholding of any amounts under the Ordinance or any other provision of Israeli law or requirement, if any, shall be made only in accordance with the provisions of the Israeli Withholding Tax Ruling; and (ii) in the event a Withholding Tax Extension (as defined in Section 5.5(c)) is obtained, the parties shall fully comply with the provisions of any such Withholding Tax Extension. To the extent such amounts are so deducted or withheld, such amounts shall be treated for all purposes under this Agreement as having been paid to the person to whom such amounts would otherwise have been paid.

(g) *No Liability*. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 1.5, neither the Paying Agent nor any party hereto shall be liable to a holder of Company Shares for any amount properly paid to a public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar law.

1.6 Company s Transfer Books Closed; No Further Ownership Rights in Company Shares. At the Effective Time: (i) the share transfer books of Company shall be deemed closed, and no transfer of any Company Shares or any Certificates in respect thereof shall thereafter be made or consummated; and (ii) all holders of Company Shares that were outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall cease to have any rights as shareholders of Company, other than the right to receive the Per Share Merger Consideration. No further transfer of any such Company Shares shall be made on such share transfer books after the Effective Time. If, after the Effective Time, a valid Certificate is presented to the Paying Agent or to the Surviving Corporation or Parent, such Certificate shall be canceled and shall be exchanged as provided in this Article I. The applicable Per Share Merger Consideration issued in accordance with the terms hereof shall be deemed to have been issued in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to such Company Shares.

1.7 Lost, Stolen, Destroyed or Unissued Certificates. In the event that any Certificates shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, or were never issued, the Paying Agent shall pay such amounts and, if applicable, issue such shares of Parent Common Stock, if any, specified in Section 1.4, in exchange for such lost, stolen, destroyed, or unissued Certificates, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the holder thereof; provided, however, that Parent and the Paying Agent may, in their sole discretion and as a condition precedent to such

#### **Table of Contents**

payment or issuance, require the owner of such lost, stolen, destroyed or unissued Certificates to deliver a bond in such sum as it may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against Parent, the Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent with respect to the Certificates alleged to have been lost, stolen, destroyed or unissued.

1.8 *Taking of Necessary Action; Further Action.* If, at any time after the Effective Time, any further action is necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement and to vest the Surviving Corporation with full right, title and possession to all assets, property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of Company and Merger Sub, the officers and directors of the Surviving Corporation will take all such lawful and necessary action.

#### ARTICLE II

#### REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF COMPANY

Company hereby represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub, as of the date hereof, subject to such exceptions as are specifically disclosed in writing in the disclosure schedule supplied by Company to Parent, dated as of the date hereof and certified by a duly authorized officer of Company (the **Company Disclosure Schedule**), as follows:

#### 2.1 Organization and Qualification; Subsidiaries.

(a) Each of Company and its subsidiaries is a corporation duly organized and validly existing and, where applicable, in good standing, under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and has the requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its assets and properties and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted. Each of Company and its subsidiaries is duly qualified or licensed as a foreign corporation to do business, and, where applicable is in good standing, in each jurisdiction where the character of the properties owned, leased or operated by it or the nature of its activities makes such qualification or licensing necessary, except for such failures to be so duly qualified or licensed and in good standing that would not, either individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Company.

(b) Section 2.1(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists each of Company s subsidiaries as of the date hereof, the jurisdiction of incorporation of each such subsidiary, and Company s equity interest therein. Except as set forth in Section 2.1(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, neither Company nor any of its subsidiaries has agreed, is obligated to make, or is bound by any written or oral agreement, contract, subcontract, lease, binding understanding, instrument, note, bond, mortgage, indenture, option, warranty, purchase order, license, sublicense, benefit plan, obligation, commitment or undertaking of any nature (a **Contract**) under which it may become obligated to make any future investment in, or capital contribution to, any other entity. Except as set forth in Section 2.1(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, neither Company nor any of its subsidiaries directly owns any equity or similar interest in or any interest convertible, exchangeable or exercisable for, any equity or similar interest in, any person.

2.2 *Memorandum of Association; Articles of Association.* Company has previously furnished to Parent a complete and correct copy of its Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association as amended to the date of this Agreement (together, the **Company Charter Documents**) and a complete and correct copy of the equivalent organizational documents of Precise Software Solutions, Inc. Such Company Charter Documents and equivalent organizational documents of each of Company subsidiaries are in full force and effect. Company is not in violation of any of the provisions of Company Charter Documents, and no subsidiary of Company is in violation of its equivalent organizational documents.

#### 2.3 Capitalization.

(a) The registered (authorized) share capital of Company consists of 70,000,000 Ordinary Shares, NIS 0.03 par value per share. The Company has no class of share capital authorized other than Company Shares. As of the close of business on December 18, 2002, (i) 29,819,727 Company Shares were issued and outstanding, all of which were validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable; (ii) except as set forth in

#### **Table of Contents**

Section 2.3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, no Company Shares were dormant shares and no shares were held in treasury by Company or by subsidiaries of Company; provided, that if Section 2.3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth any shares as being held by a subsidiary of Company, such shares are held by Precise Software Solutions, Inc.; (iii) 520,989 Company Shares were available for future issuance pursuant to Company s ESPP; (iv) 539,832 Company Shares were reserved for issuance under Company s 1995 Share Option and Incentive Plan, of which 57,406 were subject to outstanding options to purchase Company Shares and no Company Shares were available for future options grants; (v) 10,993,168 Company Shares were reserved for issuance under Company s Amended and Restated 1998 Share Option and Incentive Plan, of which 7,884,670 were subject to outstanding options to purchase Company Shares and 593,504 were available for future options grants; (vi) 16,882 Company Shares were reserved for issuance upon the exercise of outstanding options to purchase Company Shares under the Stock Option Plan (f/k/a the Savant Corporation Stock Option Plan); (vii) no Company Shares were reserved for issuance upon the exercise of certain stock options not issued under Company Option Plans as set forth in Section 2.3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule; and (viii) 15,965 Company Shares were reserved for issuance upon the exercise of certain warrants to purchase Company Shares as set forth in Section 2.3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule ( Company Warrants ). Other than as described in the preceding sentence and except as set forth in Section 2.3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, as of the close of business on December 18, 2002, Company had no other securities authorized, reserved for issuance, issued or outstanding. Except as set forth in Section 2.3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there are no commitments, agreements or understandings of any character to which Company is bound obligating Company to accelerate the vesting of any Company Stock Option (as defined in Section 5.11) as a result of the Merger.

(b) Section 2.3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth the following information with respect to each Company Stock Option outstanding as of the close of business on December 18, 2002: (i) the name and address of the optionee; (ii) the particular plan, if applicable, pursuant to which such Company Stock Option was granted, (iii) the number of Company Shares subject to such Company Stock Option; (iv) the exercise price of such Company Stock Option; (v) the date on which such Company Stock Option was granted; (vi) the applicable vesting schedule, including the vesting commencement date; (vii) the date on which such Company Stock Option expires; (viii) whether the vesting or exercisability of such Company Stock Option will be accelerated in any way by the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (whether alone or upon the occurrence of any additional or subsequent events), and the extent of any such acceleration; and (ix) whether, as of the close of business on December 18, 2002, the optionee was employed by Company, and if not so employed, the date of termination and expiration of such Company Stock Option. Company has made available to Parent accurate and complete copies of all stock option plans pursuant to which Company has granted such Company Stock Options that are currently outstanding and the form of all stock option agreements evidencing such Company Stock Options. All Company Shares subject to issuance as aforesaid have been duly authorized and, upon issuance on the terms and conditions specified in the instrument pursuant to which they are issuable, will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. Company has not issued any Company Shares which are unvested or subject to any repurchase option in favor of Company. All outstanding Company Shares, all outstanding Company Stock Options, and all outstanding shares of capital stock of each subsidiary of Company have been issued and granted (i) in compliance with all applicable securities laws and other applicable Legal Requirements (as defined below) and (ii) in material compliance with all applicable requirements set forth in Contracts. For the purposes of this Agreement, Legal Requirements means any Israeli or U.S. federal or state law, or material local or municipal law, or foreign or other law, statute, constitution, principle of common law, resolution, ordinance, code, edict, decree, rule, regulation, ruling or requirement issued, enacted, adopted, promulgated, implemented or otherwise put into effect by or under the authority of any Governmental Entity (as defined in Section 2.5(b)).

(c) Except for (i) securities that Company owns, directly or indirectly through one or more subsidiaries, free and clear of all liens, pledges, hypothecations, charges, mortgages, security interests, encumbrances, claims, infringements, interferences, options, right of first refusals, preemptive rights, community property interests or restrictions of any nature (including any restriction on the voting of any security, any restriction on the transfer of any security or other asset, any restriction on the possession, exercise or transfer of any other attribute of ownership of any asset), (Liens), other than Liens for Taxes not yet due and payable, and

#### Table of Contents

(ii) shares of capital stock or other similar ownership interests of subsidiaries of Company that are owned by certain nominee equity holders as required by the applicable law of the jurisdiction of organization of such subsidiaries (which shares or other interests do not materially affect Company s control of such subsidiaries), as of the date of this Agreement, there are no equity securities, partnership interests or similar ownership interests of any class of equity security of any subsidiary of Company, or any security exchangeable or convertible into or exercisable for such equity securities, partnership interests or similar ownership interests, issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding. Except as set forth in this Section 2.3 or Section 2.3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there are no subscriptions, options, warrants, equity securities, partnership interests or similar ownership interests, calls, rights (including preemptive rights), commitments or agreements of any character to which Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which it is bound obligating Company or any of its subsidiaries to issue, deliver or sell, or cause to be issued, delivered or sold, or repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, or cause the repurchase, redemption or acquisition of, any shares of capital stock, partnership interests or similar ownership interests of Company or any of its subsidiaries or obligating Company or any of its subsidiaries to grant, extend, accelerate the vesting of or enter into any such subscription, option, warrant, equity security, call, right, commitment or agreement. Except as contemplated by this Agreement or as set forth in Section 2.3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there are no registration rights and there is, except for the Voting Undertakings, no voting trust, proxy, rights plan, antitakeover plan or other similar agreement or understanding to which Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which they are bound with respect to any equity security of any class of Company or with respect to any equity security, partnership interest or similar ownership interest of any class of any of its subsidiaries. Shareholders of Company will not be entitled to statutory dissenters rights in connection with the Merger.

(d) Company s shares are not listed for trading on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange, or on any other foreign or domestic stock exchange other than Nasdaq, nor has Company applied to list its shares on any such stock exchange.

2.4 Authority Relative to this Agreement. Company has all necessary corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder and, subject to obtaining the approval of the shareholders of Company to this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Company and the consummation by Company of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Company and no other corporate proceedings on the part of Company are necessary to authorize this Agreement or to consummate the transactions so contemplated (other than the approval of this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement by the Required Company Shareholder Vote (as hereinafter defined)). This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by Company and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub, constitutes a legal and binding obligation of Company, enforceable against Company in accordance with its terms, except as the enforceability thereof may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws of general application affecting creditors rights generally and laws relating to the availability of specific performance, injunctive relief or other equitable remedies. Subject to the provisions of Section 320(c) of the Israeli Companies Law, the affirmative vote of 75% (seventy-five percent) of the voting shares of Company present and voting at the Company General Meeting (as defined below) at which a quorum is present is a sufficient vote of the holders of any Company Shares necessary to approve the Merger (the Required Company Shareholder Vote ). The quorum required for the Company General Meeting is shareholders holding collectively at least one-third of the issued share capital of Company (present in person or by proxy). No statutory vote of: (i) any creditor of Company, (ii) any holder of any option or warrant granted by Company; or (iii) any shareholder of any of Company s ubsidiaries is necessary in order to approve this Agreement, or to approve or permit the consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

#### 2.5 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents.

(a) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Company do not, and the performance of this Agreement by Company will not: (i) conflict with or violate Company Charter Documents or the equivalent

#### Table of Contents

organizational documents of any of Company s subsidiaries; (ii) subject to obtaining the Required Company Shareholder Vote and compliance with the requirements set forth in Section 2.5(b), conflict with or violate any law, rule, regulation, order, judgment or decree applicable to Company or any of its subsidiaries or by which its or any of their respective properties is bound or affected; or (iii) except for those Contracts set forth in Section 2.5(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, result in any breach of or constitute a default (or an event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default) under, or materially impair Company s or any of its subsidiaries rights or alter the rights or obligations of any third party under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of, or result in the creation of a Lien on any of the properties or assets of Company or any of its subsidiaries pursuant to, any material Contract to which Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which Company or any of its subsidiaries or its or any of their respective properties are bound or affected, except to the extent such conflict, violation, breach, default, impairment or other effect would not in the case of clauses (ii) or (iii), individually or in the aggregate: (A) reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Company or (B) prevent or materially delay consummation of the Merger or otherwise prevent the parties hereto from performing their obligations under this Agreement.

(b) Other than with respect to procedures under the Israeli Companies Law, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Company do not, and the performance of this Agreement by Company will not require any consent, approval, authorization or permit of, or filing with or notification to, any court, administrative agency, commission, governmental or regulatory authority, domestic or foreign (a Governmental Entity ) with respect to the Company or its subsidiaries, except: (i) for: (A) compliance with applicable requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act ), the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act ), and state securities laws ( Blue Sky Laws ); (B) compliance with the pre-merger notification requirements of the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (the HSR Act ) and under the comparable competition foreign laws that the parties reasonably determine to apply; (C) consent of the Office of the Chief Scientist of the Israeli Ministry of Trade & Industry ( OCS ) to the change in ownership of Company to be effected by the Merger (the OCS Approval ); (D) approval of the Israeli Commissioner of Restrictive Trade Practices pursuant to the Restrictive Trade Practices Act, 1988 (the **RTPA**); (E) filings with, and approval by, the Investment Center of the Israeli Ministry of Trade & Industry (the **Investment** Center ) of the change in ownership of Company to be effected by the Merger (the Investment Center Approval ); (F) compliance with the rules and regulations of Nasdaq; (G) obtaining the Israeli Income Tax Ruling and the Israeli Withholding Tax Ruling (each as defined in Section 5.5(c)) (which shall not be a condition precedent to its obligation to effect the Merger); (H) obtaining the Israeli Securities Exemptions (as defined in Section 5.5(d)) (which, in the case of the Israeli Securities Election Exemption (as defined in Section 5.5(d)), shall not be a condition precedent to its obligation to effect the Merger); and (I) other filings and recordation as required by Governmental Entities other than those in the United States or Israel; and (ii) where the failure to obtain such consents, approvals, authorizations or permits, or to make such filings or notifications: (A) would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Company or, after the Effective Time, Parent, or (B) would not prevent or materially delay consummation of the Merger or otherwise prevent the parties hereto from performing their obligations under this Agreement.

#### 2.6 Compliance with Laws; Environmental Matters; Permits.

(a) Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

(i) **Hazardous Material** is any material or substance that is prohibited or regulated by any Environmental Law or that has been designated by any Governmental Entity to be radioactive, toxic, hazardous or otherwise a danger to health, reproduction or the environment.

(ii) **Environmental Laws** are all applicable laws, rules, regulations, orders, treaties, statutes, and codes promulgated by any Governmental Entity which prohibit, regulate or control any Hazardous Material or any Hazardous Material activity, including, without limitation, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, the Resource Recovery and Conservation

#### **Table of Contents**

Act of 1976, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, the Clean Air Act, the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, the Clean Water Act, comparable laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, orders, treaties, statutes, and codes of other Governmental Entities, the regulations promulgated pursuant to any of the foregoing, and all amendments and modifications of any of the foregoing, all as amended to date.

(b) *Compliance with Laws.* Neither Company nor any of its subsidiaries is in conflict with, or in default or violation of, any law (including Environmental Laws and the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended), rule, regulation, order, judgment or decree applicable to Company or any of its subsidiaries or by which its or any of their respective properties is bound or affected, except for any conflicts, defaults or violations that (individually or in the aggregate) would not cause Company to lose any material benefit or incur any material liability. No investigation or review by any Governmental Entity is pending or, to the knowledge of Company, threatened against Company or its subsidiaries, nor has any Governmental Entity indicated to Company an intention to conduct the same, other than, in each such case, those the outcome of which could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have the effect of prohibiting or materially impairing any business practice of Company or any of its subsidiaries, any acquisition of material property by Company or any of its subsidiaries or the conduct of business by Company or any of its subsidiaries.

(c) *Environmental Matters.* Company has not disposed of, released, discharged or emitted any Hazardous Materials into the soil or groundwater at any properties owned or leased at any time by Company, or at any other property, or exposed any employee or other individual to any Hazardous Materials or any workplace or environmental condition in such a manner as would result in any liability or clean-up obligation of any kind or nature to Company except for such liability or clean-up obligation as would not be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. To the knowledge of Company, (i) no Hazardous Materials are present in, on, or under any properties owned, leased or used at any time by Company, and (ii) no reasonable likelihood exists that any Hazardous Materials will come to be present in, on, or under any properties owned, leased or used at any time by Company, in each case so as to give rise to any liability or clean-up obligation under any Environmental Laws except for such liability or clean-up obligation as would not be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(d) *Approvals*. Company and its subsidiaries hold all franchises, grants, permits, licenses, variances, easements, consents, certificates, exemptions, orders and approvals and other authorizations from Governmental Entities ( **Approvals** ) which are (i) material to the operation of the business of Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole and (ii) necessary to own, lease and operate the properties Company and its subsidiaries purport to own, operate or lease except in the case of clause (ii) where the failure to have such Approvals would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Company. Company and its subsidiaries have been and are in compliance in all material respects with the terms of such Approvals and any conditions placed thereon.

#### 2.7 SEC Filings; Financial Statements.

(a) Company has made and will make available to Parent a correct and complete copy of each report, schedule, registration statement and definitive proxy statement filed by Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) since the filing of Company's Registration Statement on Form F-1 (the Company SEC Reports), which are all the forms, reports and documents required to be filed by Company with the SEC since such time. The Company SEC Reports: (i) were and will be prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, as the case may be, and the rules and regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder; and (ii) did not and will not at the time of filing thereof (and if any Company SEC Report filed prior to the date of this Agreement was amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date of this Agreement then also on the date of filing of such amendment or superseded filing) contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. None of Company's subsidiaries is required to file any reports or other documents with the SEC.

(b) Each set of consolidated financial statements (including, in each case, any related notes thereto) contained in Company SEC Reports (including any Company SEC Report filed after the date of this

#### **Table of Contents**

Agreement): (i) complied and will comply as to form in all material respects with the published rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto in effect at the time of such filing; (ii) was and will be prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles ( **GAAP** ) applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto or, in the case of unaudited statements, may not contain footnotes as permitted by Form 10-Q of the Exchange Act) and each fairly presents the consolidated financial position of Company and its consolidated subsidiaries at the respective dates thereof and the consolidated results of its operations and cash flows for the periods indicated (subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to normal adjustments which were not or are not expected to be material in amount); and (iii) fairly presents in all material respects Company is revenue recognition policies.

(c) Company has previously furnished to Parent a complete and correct copy of any amendments or modifications, which have not yet been filed with the SEC but which are required to be filed, to agreements, documents or other instruments which previously had been filed by Company with the SEC pursuant to the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

(d) Company has furnished to Parent monthly unaudited consolidated balance sheets, income statements and statements of cash flows for the two-month period ended November 30, 2002, and such monthly financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved and fairly present in all material respects the financial position of Company as of and for the two-month period then ended.

(e) Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as amended, and SOP 98-9, Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition with Respect to Certain Transactions. Company s revenue recognition is and has been in compliance with all rules, regulations and statements of the SEC with respect thereto.

2.8 *No Undisclosed Liabilities*. Neither Company nor any of its subsidiaries has any liabilities (absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise) of a nature required to be disclosed in a Company SEC Report or on a consolidated balance sheet or in the related notes to consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP and the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder which are, individually or in the aggregate, material to the business, results of operations, assets or financial condition of Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole, except: (i) liabilities provided for in Company s balance sheet as of September 30, 2002 set forth in Company SEC Reports (or in the notes thereto) as of the date hereof; (ii) liabilities incurred since September 30, 2002 in the ordinary course of business that the Company would have been permitted to incur under Section 4.1, none of which is material to the business, results of operations or financial condition of Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole; and (iii) liabilities permitted to be incurred under this Agreement in accordance with Section 4.1.

2.9 Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Since December 31, 2001 to the date hereof, there has not been: (i) any Material Adverse Effect on Company; (ii) any declaration, setting aside or payment of any dividend on, or other distribution (whether in cash, stock or property) in respect of, any of Company s or any of its subsidiaries capital stock, or any purchase, redemption or other acquisition by Company of any of Company s capital stock or any other securities of Company or its subsidiaries or any options, warrants, calls or rights to acquire any such shares or other securities except for repurchases from employees following their termination pursuant to the terms of their pre-existing stock option or purchase agreements; (iii) any split, combination or reclassification of any of Company s or any of its subsidiaries capital stock; (iv) any granting by Company or any of its subsidiaries of any increase in compensation or benefits, except for normal increases of cash compensation in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, or any payment by Company or any of its subsidiaries of any increase in severance or termination pay or any entry by Company or any of its subsidiaries into any currently effective employment, severance, termination or indemnification agreement or any agreement the benefits of which are contingent or the terms of which are materially altered upon the occurrence of a transaction involving Company of the nature contemplated hereby; (v) entry by Company or any of its subsidiaries into any licensing or other agreement with regard to the acquisition or disposition of any Intellectual Property (as

#### **Table of Contents**

defined in Section 2.17) other than licenses in the ordinary course of business with terms and conditions consistent with past practice; or (vi) entry by Company or any of its subsidiaries into any amendment or consent with respect to any licensing agreement which has been filed or is required to be filed by Company with the SEC; (vii) any material change by Company in its accounting methods, principles or practices, except as required by concurrent changes in GAAP; (viii) any revaluation by Company of any of its assets, including, without limitation, writing down the value of capitalized inventory or writing off notes or accounts receivable; (ix) any sale of assets of Company other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; or (x) any Tax election or accounting method change inconsistent with past practice, agreement to pay, settlement or compromise of any material Tax liability or extension or waiver of any limitation period with respect to Taxes, or request or negotiation for or receipt of any Tax rulings.

2.10 Absence of Litigation. Except as specifically disclosed in Company SEC Reports as of the date hereof or in Section 2.10 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there are no claims, actions, suits or proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of Company, threatened (or, to the knowledge of Company, any governmental or regulatory investigation pending or threatened) against Company or any of its subsidiaries or any properties or rights of Company or any of its subsidiaries, before any court, arbitrator or administrative, governmental or regulatory authority or body, domestic or foreign except for such claims, actions, suits or proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business that are not material to the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

2.11 Employee Matters and Benefit Plans.

(a) Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

(i) **COBRA** shall mean the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended and as codified in Section 4980B of the Code and Sections 601 through 608 of ERISA;

(ii) Code shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended;

(iii) **Company Employee Plan** shall mean any plan, program, policy, practice, contract, agreement or other arrangement, other than an Employment Agreement, providing for compensation, severance, termination pay, deferred compensation, performance awards, stock or stock-related awards, fringe benefits or other employee benefits or remuneration of any kind, whether written or unwritten, funded or unfunded, including without limitation, each employee benefit plan, within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA which is or has been maintained, contributed to, or required to be contributed to, by Company or any ERISA Affiliate for the benefit of any Employee, or with respect to which Company or any ERISA Affiliate has or may have any liability or obligation including each International Employee Plan;

(iv) **DOL** shall mean the Department of Labor;

(v) Employee shall mean any current or former or retired employee, consultant or director of Company or any ERISA Affiliate;

(vi) **Employment Agreement** shall mean each management, employment, severance, consulting, relocation, repatriation, expatriation, visa, work permit or other Contract between Company or any ERISA Affiliate and any Employee;

(vii) ERISA shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended;

(viii) **ERISA AFFILIATE** shall mean any subsidiary of Company or other person or entity under common control with Company or any subsidiary of Company within the meaning of Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code and the regulations issued thereunder;

(ix) FMLA shall mean the Family Medical Leave Act of 1993, as amended;

(x) **International Employee Plan** shall mean each Company Employee Plan and each government-mandated plan or program that has been adopted or maintained by Company or any ERISA

#### **Table of Contents**

Affiliate, whether informally or formally, or with respect to which Company or any ERISA Affiliate will or may have any liability, for the benefit of Employees who perform services outside the United States. For the avoidance of doubt, this shall include, in Israel, manager s insurance or other provident or pension funds which are not government-mandated but were set up to provide for Company s legal obligation to pay statutory severance pay (Pitzuay Piturim) under the Severance Pay Law 5723-1963;

(xi) IRS shall mean the Internal Revenue Service;

(xii) **Multiemployer Plan** shall mean any Pension Plan (as defined below) which is a multiemployer plan, as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA;

(xiii) **Pension Plan** shall mean each Company Employee Plan which is an employee pension benefit plan, within the meaning of Section 3(2) of ERISA.

(b) *Schedule*. Section 2.11(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains an accurate and complete list, as of the date hereof, of each Company Employee Plan other than legally-mandated plans, programs and arrangements, and each Employment Agreement. Company does not have any plan or commitment to establish any new Company Employee Plan or Employment Agreement, to modify any Company Employee Plan or Employment Agreement (except to the extent required by law or to conform any such Company Employee Plan or Employment Agreements of any applicable law, in each case as previously disclosed to Parent in writing or as required by this Agreement), or to adopt or enter into any Company Employee Plan or Employment Agreement. Except as set forth on Section 2.11(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate is obligated to provide an Employee with any compensation or benefits pursuant to an agreement (for example, an acquisition agreement) with a former employer of such Employee.

(c) Documents. Company has provided or made available to Parent correct and complete copies of: (i) all documents embodying each Company Employee Plan, other than legally-mandated plans, programs and arrangements and each Employment Agreement including (without limitation) all amendments thereto and all related trust documents, administrative service agreements, group annuity contracts, group insurance contracts, and policies pertaining to fiduciary liability insurance covering the fiduciaries for each Plan; (ii) the most recent annual actuarial valuations, if any, prepared for each Company Employee Plan or any International Employee Plan; (iii) the three (3) most recent annual reports (Form Series 5500 and all schedules and financial statements attached thereto), if any, required under ERISA or the Code in connection with each Company Employee Plan; (iv) if Company Employee Plan is funded, the most recent annual and periodic accounting of Company Employee Plan assets; (v) the most recent summary plan description together with the summary(ies) of material modifications thereto, if any, required under ERISA with respect to each Company Employee Plan; (vi) all IRS determination, opinion, notification and advisory letters, and all applications and correspondence to or from the IRS or the DOL with respect to any such application or letter; (vii) all written communications material to any Employee or Employees relating to any Company Employee Plan and any proposed Company Employee Plans, in each case, relating to any amendments, terminations, establishments, increases or decreases in benefits, acceleration of payments or vesting schedules or other events which would result in any material liability to Company; (viii) all correspondence to or from any Governmental Entity relating to any Company Employee Plan; (ix) all COBRA forms and related notices (or such forms and notices as required under comparable law); (x) the three (3) most recent plan years discrimination tests for each Company Employee Plan; (xi) all registration statements, annual reports (Form 11-K and all attachments thereto) and prospectuses prepared in connection with each Company Employee Plan; (xii) any licenses or permits held by Company which enable it to employ foreign employees or employees from territories currently administered by Israel; and (xiii) any pamphlet, booklet or other employee manual distributed to employees of Company which discuss Company Employee Plans.

(d) *Employee Plan Compliance*. Except as set forth on Section 2.11(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (i) Company has performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it under, is not in default or violation of, and has no knowledge of any default or violation by any other party to each Company Employee Plan and Employment Agreement, and each Company Employee Plan and Employment Agreement has been established and maintained in all material respects in accordance with its

#### **Table of Contents**

terms and in material compliance with all applicable laws, statutes, orders, rules and regulations, including but not limited to ERISA or the Code; (ii) no prohibited transaction, within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Code or Sections 406 and 407 of ERISA, and not otherwise exempt under Section 4975 of the Code or Section 408 of ERISA (or any administrative class exemption issued thereunder), has occurred with respect to any Company Employee Plan; (iii) there are no actions, suits or claims pending, or, to the knowledge of Company, threatened or reasonably anticipated against any Company Employee Plan or Employment Agreement or against the assets of any Company Employee Plan, except for claims for benefits in the ordinary course; (iv) each Company Employee Plan and Employment Agreement can be amended, terminated or otherwise discontinued after the Effective Time, without material liability to Parent, Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates (other than ordinary administration expenses); (v) there are no audits, inquiries or proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of Company or any ERISA Affiliate is subject to any other Governmental Entity with respect to any Company Employee Plan; and (vi) neither Company nor any ERISA Affiliate is subject to any penalty or tax with respect to any Company Employee Plan under Section 502(i) of ERISA or Sections 4975 through 4980 of the Code.

(e) *Retirement Plans and Welfare Plans.* Neither Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has ever maintained, established, sponsored, participated in, contributed to, or is obligated to contribute to, or otherwise incurred any obligation or liability (including, without limitation, any contingent liability) under any Multiemployer Plan, any Pension Plan subject to Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, any multiple employer plan (as defined in ERISA or the Code), or any funded welfare plan within the meaning of Section 419 of the Code. Any Company Employee Plan intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code and each trust intended to qualify under Section 501(a) of the Code (i) has either applied for or obtained a favorable determination, notification, advisory and/or opinion letter, as applicable, as to its qualified status from the IRS or still has a remaining period of time under applicable Treasury Regulations or IRS pronouncements in which to apply for such letter and to make any amendments necessary to obtain a favorable determination, and (ii) incorporates or has been amended to incorporate all provisions required to comply with the Tax Reform Act of 1986 and subsequent legislation, except to the extent that there is still a remaining period of time under applicable Treasury Regulations or IRS pronouncements in which to incorporate such provisions. For each Company Employee Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code, to the knowledge of the Company, there has been no event, condition or circumstance that has adversely affected or is likely to adversely affect such qualified status. Except as set forth on Section 2.11(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, no Company Employee Plan provides health benefits that are not fully insured through an insurance contract.

(f) *No Post-Employment Obligations*. Except as set forth in Section 2.11(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, no Company Employee Plan provides, or reflects or represents any liability to provide post-termination life, health or other welfare benefits to any person for any reason, except as may be required by COBRA or other applicable statute, and, to the knowledge of the Company, Company has never represented, promised or contracted (whether in oral or written form) to any Employee (either individually or to Employees as a group) or any other person that such Employee(s) or other person would be provided with post-termination life, health or other welfare benefits, except to the extent required by statute.

#### (g) Effect of Transaction.

(i) Except as set forth on Section 2.11(g) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not (either alone or upon the occurrence of any additional or subsequent events) constitute an event under any Company Employee Plan, Employment Agreement, trust, loan or other agreement or arrangement that will or might result in any payment (whether of severance pay, gross-up, or indemnity with respect to any parachute payment (as defined in subclause (ii) below) or similar payment or otherwise), acceleration, forgiveness of indebtedness, vesting, distribution, increase in benefits or obligation to fund benefits with respect to any Employee.

(ii) Except as set forth on Section 2.11(g) of Company Disclosure Schedule, no payment or benefit which will or may be made by Company or its ERISA Affiliates with respect to any Employee will be characterized as a parachute payment, within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code.

#### **Table of Contents**

(h) *Employment Matters*. Except as set forth in Section 2.11(h) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, Company: (i) is in material compliance in all respects with all applicable foreign, federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations respecting employment, employment practices, terms and conditions of employment and wages and hours, in each case, with respect to Employees; (ii) is not liable for any arrears of wages or penalties with respect thereto; and (iii) is not liable for any payment to any trust or other fund governed by or maintained by or on behalf of any Governmental Entity, with respect to unemployment compensation benefits, social security or other benefits or obligations for Employees (other than routine payments to be made in the normal course of business and consistent with past practice). Except as set forth in Section 2.11(h) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, as of the date hereof, to the Company s knowledge, there are no pending, threatened or reasonably anticipated claims or actions against Company under any worker s compensation policy or long-term disability policy. Except as set forth in Section 2.11(h) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, each current Employee who resides in the United States of America is an at-will employee whose employment can be terminated by the Company or an ERISA Affiliate at any time, with or without cause.

(i) *Labor*. No work stoppage or labor strike against Company is pending, threatened or reasonably anticipated. Company does not know of any activities or proceedings of any labor union to organize any Employees. Except as set forth in Section 2.11(i) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there are no actions, suits, claims, labor disputes or grievances pending, or, to the knowledge of Company, threatened or reasonably anticipated relating to any labor, safety or discrimination matters involving any Employee, including, without limitation, charges of unfair labor practices or discrimination complaints, which, if adversely determined, would, individually or in the aggregate, result in any material liability to Company. Neither Company nor any of its subsidiaries has engaged in any unfair labor practices within the meaning of the National Labor Relations Act. Except as set forth in Section 2.11(i) of Company Disclosure Schedule, Company is not presently, nor has it been in the past, a party to, or bound by, any collective bargaining agreement or union contract with respect to Employees and no collective bargaining agreement is being negotiated by Company.

(j) International Employee Plan. Each International Employee Plan has been established, maintained and administered in material compliance with its terms and conditions and with the requirements prescribed by any and all statutory or regulatory laws that are applicable to such International Employee Plan. Furthermore, no International Employee Plan has unfunded liabilities, that as of the Effective Time, will not be offset by insurance or fully accrued. Except as required by law, no condition exists that would prevent Company or Parent from terminating or amending any International Employee Plan at any time for any reason without liability to Company or its ERISA Affiliates (other than ordinary administration expenses or routine claims for benefits).

(k) *Israeli Employees*. Solely with respect to Employees who reside or work in Israel (**Israeli Employees**), except as set forth in Section 2.11(k) of the Company Disclosure Schedule: (i) Company is not a party to any collective bargaining contract, collective labor agreement or other contract or arrangement with a labor union, trade union or other organization or body involving any of its Israeli Employees, or is otherwise required (under any legal requirement, under any contract or otherwise) to provide benefits or working conditions beyond the minimum benefits and working conditions required by law to be provided pursuant to rules and regulation of the Histadrut (General Federation of Labor), the Coordinating Bureau of Economic Organization and the Industrialists Association. Company has not recognized or received a demand for recognition from any collective bargaining representative with respect to any of its Israeli Employees. Company does not have and is not subject to, and no Israeli Employee of Company benefits from, any extension order (tzavei harchava) or any contract or arrangement with respect to employment agreements or applicable law; (iii) there is no Contract between Company and any of its Israeli Employees or directors that cannot be terminated by Company upon less than three months notice without giving rise to a claim for damages or compensation (except for statutory severance pay); (iv) Company s obligations to provide statutory severance pay to its Israeli Employees pursuant to the Severance Pay Law with respect to such statutory severance pay; (v) except as set forth in Section 2.11(k) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, Company has

no knowledge of any circumstance that could give rise to any valid claim by a current or former Israeli Employee for compensation on termination of employment (beyond the statutory severance pay to which employees are entitled); (vi) all amounts that Company is legally or contractually required either (x) to deduct from its Israeli Employees salaries or to transfer to such Israeli Employees pension or provident, life insurance, incapacity insurance, continuing education fund or other similar funds or (y) to withhold from their Israeli Employees salaries and benefits and to pay to any Governmental Entity as required by the Ordinance and National Insurance Law or otherwise have, in each case, been duly deducted, transferred, withheld and paid, and Company does not have any outstanding obligation to make any such deduction, transfer, withholding or payment; and (vii) Company is in compliance in all material respects with all applicable legal requirements and contracts relating to employment, employment practices, wages, bonuses and other compensation matters and terms and conditions of employment related to its Israeli Employees, including but not limited to The Prior Notice to the Employee Law 2002, The Notice to Employee (Terms of Employment) Law 2002, the Prevention of Sexual Harassment Law (5758-1998), and The Employment by Human Resource Contractors Law 1996, All obligations of Company with respect to statutorily required severance payments to Israeli Employees have been fully satisfied or have been fully funded by contributions to appropriate insurance funds pursuant to the Severance Pay Law (5723-1963). Other than as set forth in Section 2.11(k) of the Company Disclosure Schedule: (i) as of the date hereof, Company has not engaged any Israeli employees whose employment would require special licenses or permits, and (ii) there are no unwritten Company policies or customs which, by extension, could entitle Israeli Employees to benefits in addition to what they are entitled by law (including, by way of example but without limitation, unwritten customs concerning the payment of statutory severance pay when it is not legally required). Company has not engaged any consultants, sub-contractors or freelancers who, according to Israeli law, would be entitled to the rights of an employee vis a vis Company, including rights to severance pay, vacation, recuperation pay (dmei havaraa) and other employee-related statutory benefits. For purposes of this Agreement, the term Israeli Employee shall be construed to include consultants, sales agents and other independent contractors who spend (or spent) a majority of their working time in Israel on the business of Company or a subsidiary (each of whom shall be so identified in Section 2.11(k) of the Company Disclosure Schedule). In addition, Company has provided to Parent: (i) a correct and complete summary of the calculations concerning the components of the Israeli Employees salaries, including any components which are not included in the basis for calculation of amounts set aside for purposes of statutory severance pay and pension; (ii) any and all agreements with human resource contractors, or with consultants, sub-contractors or freelancers; (iii) a summary of its policies, procedures and customs regarding termination of Israeli Employees; and (iv) a summary of any dues it pays to the Histadrut Labor Organization and whether Company participates in the expenses of any worker s committee (Va ad Ovdim).

2.12 Registration Statement; Prospectus/ Proxy Statement. None of the information supplied or to be supplied by Company for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the registration statement on Form S-4 (or similar successor form) to be filed with the SEC by Parent in connection with the issuance of Parent Common Stock in the Merger (including amendments or supplements thereto) (the **Registration Statement** ) will, at the time the Registration Statement becomes effective under the Securities Act, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. None of the information supplied or to be supplied by Company for inclusion in the Prospectus/ Proxy Statement to be filed by Parent and Company with the SEC as part of the Registration Statement pursuant to Section 5.1(a) hereof (the **Prospectus/ Proxy Statement** ) will, at the date or dates mailed to the shareholders of Company, and at the time of Company General Meeting in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. The Prospectus/ Proxy Statement will comply as to form in all material respects with the provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. If at any time prior to Company General Meeting, any event relating to Company or any of its affiliates, officers or directors should be discovered by Company which should be set forth in an amendment to

#### **Table of Contents**

the Registration Statement or a supplement to the Prospectus/ Proxy Statement, Company shall promptly inform Parent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Company makes no representation or warranty with respect to any information supplied by Parent or Merger Sub which is contained or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement or Prospectus/ Proxy Statement.

2.13 *Restrictions on Business Activities.* There is no Contract, judgment, injunction, order or decree binding upon Company or its subsidiaries or to which Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party which has or could reasonably be expected to have the effect of prohibiting or impairing any material business practice of Company or any of its subsidiaries, any acquisition of property by Company or any of its subsidiaries or the conduct of business by Company or any of its subsidiaries as currently conducted.

2.14 *Property*. Neither Company nor any of its subsidiaries owns any material real property. Company and each of its subsidiaries have good and defensible title to, or in the case of leased properties and assets, valid leasehold interests in, all of their material properties and assets, free and clear of all Liens except: (a) Liens for Taxes not yet due and payable; and (b) such Liens or other imperfections of title, if any, as do not materially detract from the value of or materially interfere with the present use of the property affected thereby. All leases pursuant to which Company or any of its subsidiaries lease from others material real or personal property are valid and effective in accordance with their respective terms, and there is not, under any of such leases, any existing material default or event of default of Company or any of its subsidiaries or, to Company s knowledge, any other party (or any event which with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a material default and in respect of which Company or subsidiary has not taken adequate steps to prevent such default from occurring). All of the equipment of Company and its subsidiaries which is in regular use and which is material to the business of Company and its subsidiaries has been maintained in good operating condition and repair, reasonable wear and tear excepted, except for such failures to be in good operating condition and repair that would not, either individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to materially impact the operation of the business of the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

#### 2.15 Taxes.

(a) *Definition of Taxes*. For purposes of this Agreement, **Tax** or, collectively, **Taxes**, means: (i) any and all United States, Israeli, federal, provincial, state, local and foreign taxes, assessments and other governmental charges, duties, impositions and liabilities, including taxes based upon or measured by gross receipts, income, profits, sales, use and occupation, and value added, ad valorem, transfer, franchise, withholding, payroll, recapture, employment, excise and property taxes, together with all interest, linkage for inflation, penalties and additions imposed with respect to such amounts; (ii) any liability for the payment of any amounts of the type described in clause (i) as a result of being or ceasing to be a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group for any period (including, without limitation, any liability for the payment of any amounts of the type described in clause (i) or the payment of any amounts of the type described in clause (i) or the payment of any amounts of the type described in clause (i) or the payment of any amounts of the type described in clause (i) or (ii) as a result of any express or implied obligation to indemnify any other Person or as a result of any obligations under any agreements or arrangements with any other Person with respect to such amounts and including any liability for taxes of a predecessor entity.

(b) Tax Returns and Audits. Except as provided on Section 2.15 of the Company Disclosure Schedule:

(i) Company and each of its subsidiaries has timely filed, taking into account properly obtained extensions of time to file, all United States, Israeli, federal, state, local and foreign returns, estimates, declarations, information statements and reports (**Returns**) relating to Taxes required to be filed by Company and each of its subsidiaries with any Tax authority, and such Returns are true and correct in all material respects and have been completed in material accordance with applicable law. Company and each of its subsidiaries have paid all Taxes shown to be due on such Returns.

(ii) Company and each of its subsidiaries (A) has paid or accrued all Taxes it is required to pay or accrue and (B) has withheld from each payment or deemed payment made to its past or present employees, officers, directors and independent contractors, suppliers, creditors, stockholders or other third

#### **Table of Contents**

parties all material Taxes and other deductions required to be withheld and has, within the time and in the manner required by law, paid such withheld amounts to the proper governmental authorities.

(iii) Neither Company nor any of its subsidiaries has been delinquent in the payment of any material Tax nor is there any material Tax deficiency outstanding, proposed or assessed against Company, nor has Company nor any of its subsidiaries executed any waiver of any statute of limitations on or extensions of the period for the assessment or collection of any Tax.

(iv) No audit or other examination of any Return of Company or any of its subsidiaries is currently in progress, nor has Company or any of its subsidiaries been notified of any request for such an audit or other examination, nor is any taxing authority (including the Investment Center with respect to Company s status as an Approved Enterprise under Israel s Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investment, 1959) asserting, or to Company s knowledge, threatening to assert, against Company or any of its subsidiaries any claim for Taxes. There are no matters relating to material Taxes under discussion between any taxing authority and Company or any of its subsidiaries.

(v) No material adjustment relating to any Returns filed by Company or any of its subsidiaries (and no claim by a taxing authority in a jurisdiction in which Company does not file Returns that Company or any of its subsidiaries may be subject to taxation by such jurisdiction) has been proposed, formally or, to Company s knowledge, informally, by any Tax authority to Company or any of its subsidiaries or, to Company s knowledge, any Company accountant, attorney or other advisor or representative thereof.

(vi) Neither Company nor any of its subsidiaries has any liability for unpaid Taxes in excess of \$100,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies) (whether or not shown to be due on any Return) which has not been accrued for or reserved on the most recent Company balance sheet in accordance with gaap, whether asserted or unasserted, contingent or otherwise, other than any liability for unpaid Taxes that may have accrued since the date of Company s most recent balance sheet in connection with the operation of the business of Company and its subsidiaries in the ordinary course.

(vii) There is not any Contract, including but not limited to the provisions of this Agreement, covering any employee or former employee of Company or any of its subsidiaries that, individually or in the aggregate, could give rise to the payment of any amount that would not be deductible as an expense pursuant to Section 162(m) of the Code, nor has Company made any payment of any amount that would not be deductible as an expense pursuant to Section 404 of the Code.

(viii) Neither Company nor any of its subsidiaries: (A) has ever been a member of an affiliated group filing a consolidated Return, except for the affiliated group, the parent of which is Precise Software Solutions, Inc.; (B) has ever been a party to any Tax sharing or Tax allocation agreement, arrangement or understanding and does not owe any amount under any such agreement, other than this Agreement; (C) is liable for the Taxes of any other person under United States Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign law), as a transferee or successor, by contract or otherwise, except for liability created as a result of being a member of the affiliated group, the parent of which is Precise Software Solutions, Inc.; and (D) is currently a party to any joint venture, partnership or other arrangement that could be treated as a partnership for income Tax purposes.

(ix) There are no Liens on the assets of Company or any of its subsidiaries relating to or attributable to Taxes except for Liens for Taxes not yet due and payable.

(x) Except as otherwise contemplated in this Agreement, neither Company nor any of its subsidiaries has requested or received a ruling from any taxing authority or signed a closing or other agreement with any taxing authority which would reasonably be expected to have an adverse effect on Company.

(xi) Neither Company nor any of its subsidiaries has constituted either a distributing corporation or a controlled corporation in a distribution of stock qualifying for tax-free treatment under Section 355 of the Code: (A) in the two years prior to the date of this Agreement or; (B) in a distribution which

could otherwise constitute part of a plan or series of related transactions (within the meaning of Section 355(e) of the Code) in conjunction with the Merger.

(xii) To the knowledge of Company, it should qualify as an Industrial Company according to the meaning of that term in the Law for the Encouragement of Industry (Taxes), 1969, and the Company believes that after any applicable Tax holiday, Section 47(A1) of the Law Encouragement of Capital Investment, 1959 applies to the Company, considering its level of foreign investment. The Company also believes that as of the date hereof 90% or more of its shares are owned by non-Israeli residents. To the knowledge of Company, the consummation of the Merger will not have any adverse effect on such qualification as an Industrial Company.

(xiii) Company and each of its subsidiaries are in compliance in all material respects with all terms and conditions of any Tax exemptions, Tax holiday or other Tax reduction agreement, approval or order of any government and, to the knowledge of Company, subject to receipt of the Investment Center Approvals and the other Approvals required herein, the consummation of the Merger will not have any adverse effect on the validity and effectiveness of any such Tax exemptions, Tax holiday or other Tax reduction agreement or order.

(xiv) The Company Disclosure Schedule lists each material tax incentive granted to or enjoyed by Company and its subsidiaries under the laws of the State of Israel, the period for which such tax incentive applies, and the nature of such tax incentive. Company and its subsidiaries have complied with all material requirements of Israeli law to be entitled to claim all such incentives. To the knowledge of Company, subject to receipt of the Investment Center Approval and other Approvals required herein, consummation of the Merger will not adversely affect the continued qualification for the incentives or the terms or duration thereof or require any recapture of any previously claimed incentive, and no consent or approval of any Governmental Entity is required, other than as contemplated by the Disclosure Schedule, prior to the consummation of the Merger in order to preserve the entitlement of the Surviving Corporation or its subsidiaries to any such incentive.

(xv) To Company s knowledge, there has been no indication from any Tax authority that the consummation of the Merger would adversely affect the Surviving Corporation s ability to set off for tax purposes in the future any and all losses accumulated by Company as of the Closing Date.

2.16 *Brokers.* Except for fees and expenses payable to Goldman, Sachs & Co. ( **Goldman Sachs** ) pursuant to an Engagement Letter dated September 5, 2002, a true, correct and complete copy of which has been provided to Parent and which has not been amended or modified in any respect, Company has not incurred, nor will it incur, directly or indirectly, any liability for brokerage or finders fees or agent s commissions or any similar charges in connection with this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby, including the Merger.

#### 2.17 Intellectual Property.

(a) For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings set forth below:

**Intellectual Property** shall mean any or all of the following: (i) works of authorship including, without limitation, computer programs, source code and executable code, whether embodied in software, firmware or otherwise, documentation, designs, files, records, data and mask works; (ii) inventions (whether or not patentable), improvements, and technology; (iii) proprietary and confidential information, trade secrets and know how; (iv) databases, data compilations and collections and technical data; (v) logos, trade names, trade dress, trademarks and service marks; (vi) domain names, web addresses and sites; (vii) tools, methods and processes and (viii) all instantiations of the foregoing in any form and embodied in any media.

**Intellectual Property Rights** shall mean any and all worldwide, common law and/or statutory rights in, arising out of, or associated therewith: (i) all United States and foreign patents and utility models and applications therefor and all reissues, divisions, re-examinations, renewals, extensions, provisionals, continuations and continuations-in-part thereof, and equivalent or similar rights anywhere in

#### **Table of Contents**

the world in inventions and discoveries including without limitation invention disclosures (**Patents**); (ii) all trade secrets and other rights in know how and confidential or proprietary information; (iii) all copyrights, copyrights registrations and applications therefor, and mask works and mask work registrations and applications therefor, and all other rights corresponding thereto (**Copyrights**); (iv) all uniform resource locators, e-mail and other internet addresses and domain names and applications and registrations therefore (**URLs**); all trade names, logos, common law trademarks and service marks, trademark and service mark registrations therefor and all goodwill associated therewith (**Trademarks**); (v) all moral or economic rights of authors and inventors, however denominated throughout the world, and (vi) any similar, corresponding or equivalent rights to any of the foregoing.

**Company Intellectual Property** shall mean any Intellectual Property and Intellectual Property Rights, including Registered Intellectual Property Rights that are owned by or exclusively licensed to Company or any of its subsidiaries.

**Registered Intellectual Property Rights** shall mean all United States, international and foreign: (i) Patents, including applications therefor; (ii) registered Trademarks, applications to register Trademarks, including intent-to-use applications, or other registrations or applications related to Trademarks; (iii) Copyright registrations and applications to register Copyrights; and (iv) any other Intellectual Property Right that is the subject of an application, certificate, filing, registration or other document issued by, filed with, or recorded by, any state, government or other public legal authority at any time.

**Company Product** means any product or service offering of the Company or any of its subsidiaries being 26 m:2px;padding-right:2px;"> 279

Long-term debt

\$3,546 \$3,244

The floating rate term loan is part of the Company's senior credit facility, which is secured by pledges of capital stock of certain subsidiaries of the Company, and liens on substantially all of the Company's intellectual property and certain other real and personal property. As of June 30, 2017, the floating rate term loan due 2022 bears

- (a) and certain other real and personal property. As of June 30, 2017, the floating rate term loan due 2022 bears interest at three-month LIBOR plus 200 basis points, for an aggregate rate of 3.30%. The Company has entered into a swap to hedge \$700 million of its interest rate exposure related to the floating rate term loan at an aggregate rate of 3.75%.
- <sup>(b)</sup> Primarily includes capital leases which are secured by liens on the related assets.

In March 2017, the Company issued  $\pounds$ 250 million of  $4\frac{1}{2}\%$  euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2025, at par. In April 2017, the Company used the net proceeds from the offering to redeem its outstanding  $\pounds$ 175 million principal amount of 6% euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2021 for  $\pounds$ 180 million plus accrued interest. In June 2017, the Company used the remaining proceeds to redeem a portion of its Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2017.

In March 2017, the Company increased its Floating Rate Term Loan due 2022 to \$1.1 billion and reduced the loan interest rate to three-month LIBOR plus 2.00%. The Company used the incremental term loan proceeds to repay all of its outstanding Floating Rate Term Loan due 2019. In June 2017, the Company used the remaining proceeds to redeem the remainder of its outstanding Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2017.

Committed Credit Facilities and Available Funding Arrangements

At June 30, 2017, the committed corporate credit facilities available to the Company and/or its subsidiaries were as follows:

	Total	Outstanding	Letters of	Available
	Capacity	Borrowings	Credit Issued	Capacity
Senior revolving credit facility maturing 2021 <sup>(a)</sup>	\$ 1,800	\$ -	-\$ 1,301	\$ 499

Other facilities (b)

3 3

The senior revolving credit facility bears interest at one-month LIBOR plus 200 basis points and is part of the

- (a) Company's senior credit facility, which is secured by pledges of capital stock of certain subsidiaries of the Company, and liens on substantially all of the Company's intellectual property and certain other real and personal property.
- <sup>(b)</sup> These facilities encompass bank overdraft lines of credit, bearing interest of 3.05% to 3.10% as of June 30, 2017.

At June 30, 2017, the Company had various uncommitted credit facilities available, under which it had drawn approximately \$3 million, which bear interest at rates between 0.74% and 4.50%.

# Debt Covenants

The agreements governing the Company's indebtedness contain restrictive covenants, including restrictions on dividends paid to the Company by certain of its subsidiaries, the incurrence of additional indebtedness by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries, acquisitions, mergers, liquidations, and sale and leaseback transactions. The Company's senior credit facility also contains a maximum leverage ratio requirement. As of June 30, 2017, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants governing its indebtedness.

10. Debt Under Vehicle Programs and Borrowing Arrangements

Debt under vehicle programs, including related party debt due to Avis Budget Rental Car Funding (AESOP) LLC ("Avis Budget Rental Car Funding"), consisted of:

	As of	As of
	Juna 20	December
	June 30,	31,
	2017	2016
Americas - Debt due to Avis Budget Rental Car Funding <sup>(a)</sup>	\$7,912	\$ 6,733
Americas - Debt borrowings <sup>(a)</sup>	924	577
International - Debt borrowings (a)	2,410	1,449
International - Capital leases	161	162
Other	2	7
Deferred financing fees <sup>(b)</sup>	(47)	(50)
Total	\$11,362	\$ 8,878

<sup>(a)</sup> The increase reflects additional borrowings principally to fund increases in the Company's car rental fleet.

(b) Deferred financing fees related to Debt due to Avis Budget Rental Car Funding as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 were \$35 million and \$38 million, respectively.

In March 2017, the Company's Avis Budget Rental Car Funding subsidiary issued approximately \$600 million in asset-backed notes with an expected final payment date of September 2022. The weighted average interest rate was 3%. The Company used the proceeds from these borrowings to fund the repayment of maturing vehicle-backed debt and the acquisition of rental cars in the United States.

In May 2017, the Company increased its capacity under the European rental fleet securitization program by €250 million. The Company used the proceeds to finance fleet purchases for certain of the Company's European operations.

# **Debt Maturities**

The following table provides the contractual maturities of the Company's debt under vehicle programs, including related party debt due to Avis Budget Rental Car Funding, at June 30, 2017.

Debt under Vehicle Programs Within 1 year <sup>(a)</sup> \$ 1,311 Between 1 and 2 years 5,655 Between 2 and 3 years 1,996 Between 3 and 4 years 1,310 Between 4 and 5 years 716

Thereafter421Total\$ 11,409

<sup>(a)</sup> Vehicle-backed debt maturing within one year primarily represents term asset-backed securities.

### Table of Contents

Committed Credit Facilities and Available Funding Arrangements

As of June 30, 2017, available funding under the Company's vehicle programs, including related party debt due to Avis Budget Rental Car Funding, consisted of:

	Total	Outstanding	Available
	Capacity (a)	Borrowings	Capacity
Americas - Debt due to Avis Budget Rental Car Funding <sup>(b)</sup>	\$ 9,057	\$ 7,912	\$ 1,145
Americas - Debt borrowings <sup>(c)</sup>	947	924	23
International - Debt borrowings <sup>(d)</sup>	2,806	2,410	396
International - Capital leases <sup>(e)</sup>	188	161	27
Other	2	2	—
Total	\$ 13,000	\$ 11,409	\$ 1,591

<sup>(a)</sup> Capacity is subject to maintaining sufficient assets to collateralize debt.

<sup>(b)</sup> The outstanding debt is collateralized by approximately \$9.4 billion of underlying vehicles and related assets.

<sup>(c)</sup> The outstanding debt is collateralized by approximately \$1.2 billion of underlying vehicles and related assets.

<sup>(d)</sup> The outstanding debt is collateralized by approximately \$2.7 billion of underlying vehicles and related assets.

<sup>(e)</sup> The outstanding debt is collateralized by approximately \$0.2 billion of underlying vehicles and related assets.

### Debt Covenants

The agreements under the Company's vehicle-backed funding programs contain restrictive covenants, including restrictions on dividends paid to the Company by certain of its subsidiaries and restrictions on indebtedness, mergers, liens, liquidations, and sale and leaseback transactions and in some cases also require compliance with certain financial requirements. As of June 30, 2017, the Company is not aware of any instances of non-compliance with any of the financial covenants contained in the debt agreements under its vehicle-backed funding programs.

### 11. Commitments and Contingencies

### Contingencies

In 2006, the Company completed the spin-offs of its Realogy and Wyndham subsidiaries. The Company does not believe that the impact of any resolution of pre-existing contingent liabilities in connection with the spin-offs should result in a material liability to the Company in relation to its consolidated financial position or liquidity, as Realogy and Wyndham each have agreed to assume responsibility for these liabilities. The Company is also named in litigation that is primarily related to the businesses of its former subsidiaries, including Realogy and Wyndham. The Company is entitled to indemnification from such entities for any liability resulting from such litigation.

In February 2015, the French Competition Authority issued a statement of objections alleging that several car rental companies, including the Company and two of its European subsidiaries, engaged with (i) twelve French airports, the majority of which are controlled by public administrative bodies or the French state, and violated competition law through the distribution by airports of company-specific statistics to car rental companies operating at those airports and (ii) two other international car rental companies in a concerted practice relating to train station surcharges. In February 2017, the Company was notified that the French Competition Authority dismissed the charges and cleared the Company and its subsidiaries of any wrongdoing.

In February 2017, following a state court trial in Georgia, a jury found the Company liable for damages in a case brought by a plaintiff who was injured in a vehicle accident allegedly caused by an employee of an independent contractor of the Company who was acting outside of the scope of employment. In March 2017, the Company was

also found liable for damages in a companion case arising from the same incident. The Company considers the attribution of liability to the Company, and the amount of damages awarded, to be unsupported by the facts of these cases and intends to appeal the verdicts. At December 31, 2016, the Company had recognized a \$26 million liability for the expected loss related to these cases. During the three months ended March 31, 2017, the Company increased this liability by \$13 million and during the three months ended June 30, 2017, recognized recoverable insurance proceeds of \$27 million.

Therefore, at June 30, 2017, the Company has recognized a net liability for the expected loss related to these cases of approximately \$12 million.

The Company is involved in claims, legal proceedings and governmental inquiries related, among other things, to its vehicle rental operations, including contract and licensee disputes, competition matters, employment matters, insurance and liability claims, intellectual property claims, business practice disputes and other regulatory, environmental, commercial and tax matters. Litigation is inherently unpredictable and, although the Company believes that its accruals are adequate and/or that it has valid defenses in these matters, unfavorable resolutions could occur. The Company estimates that the potential exposure resulting from adverse outcomes of legal proceedings in which it is reasonably possible that a loss may be incurred could, in the aggregate, be up to approximately \$50 million in excess of amounts accrued as of June 30, 2017; however, the Company does not believe that the impact should result in a material liability to the Company in relation to its consolidated financial condition or results of operations.

### Commitments to Purchase Vehicles

The Company maintains agreements with vehicle manufacturers under which the Company has agreed to purchase approximately \$1.7 billion of vehicles from manufacturers over the next 12 months. Certain of these commitments are subject to the vehicle manufacturers' satisfying their obligations under their respective repurchase and guaranteed depreciation agreements. The purchase of such vehicles is financed primarily through the issuance of vehicle-backed debt and cash received upon the disposition of vehicles.

### Concentrations

Concentrations of credit risk at June 30, 2017 include (i) risks related to the Company's repurchase and guaranteed depreciation agreements with domestic and foreign car manufacturers, including Ford, General Motors, Chrysler, Peugeot, Kia, Volkswagen, Fiat, Mercedes, Toyota and Volvo, and primarily with respect to receivables for program cars that have been disposed but for which the Company has not yet received payment from the manufacturers and (ii) risks related to Realogy and Wyndham, including receivables of \$41 million and \$25 million, respectively, related to certain contingent, income tax and other corporate liabilities assumed by Realogy and Wyndham in connection with their disposition.

# 12. Stockholders' Equity

# Stockholder Rights Plan

In January 2017, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the adoption of a short-term stockholder rights plan, with an expiration date in January 2018. Effective May 3, 2017, the Company terminated the rights plan. Pursuant to the rights plan, the Company declared a dividend of one preferred share purchase right for each outstanding share of common stock, payable to holders of record as of the close of business on February 2, 2017. Each right, which was exercisable only in the event any person or group were to acquire a voting or economic position of 10% or more of the Company's outstanding common stock (with certain limited exceptions), would have entitled any holder other than the person or group whose ownership position had exceeded the ownership limit to purchase common stock having a value equal to twice the \$90 exercise price of the right, or, at the election of the Board of Directors, to exchange each right for one share of common stock (subject to adjustment). On May 3, 2017, the Company also entered into a new cooperation agreement with SRS Investment Management LLC and certain of its affiliates.

Share Repurchases

The Company's Board of Directors has authorized the repurchase of up to approximately \$1.5 billion of its common stock under a plan originally approved in 2013 and subsequently expanded, most recently in 2016. During the six months ended June 30, 2017, the Company repurchased approximately 3.4 million shares of common stock at a cost of approximately \$100 million under the program. During the six months ended June 30, 2016, the Company repurchased approximately \$180 million under the program. As of June 30, 2017, approximately \$200 million of authorization remains available to repurchase common stock under this plan.

Total Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income consists of net income and other gains and losses affecting stockholders' equity that, under GAAP, are excluded from net income.

The components of other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows:

	Three Mont Ende June	hs d	Six Mo Ended June 30	
	2017	2016	2017	2016
Net income (loss)	\$3	\$36	\$(104)	\$(15)
Other comprehensive income:				
Currency translation adjustments (net of tax of \$17, \$(5), \$20 and \$4, respectively)	48	8	73	80
Net unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities (net of tax of \$0 in each period)	1		1	—
Net unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges (net of tax of \$1, \$3, \$1 and \$5, respectively)	(2)	(5)	(1)	(8)
Minimum pension liability adjustment (net of tax of $0, (1), (1)$ and $(1)$ , respectively)	1 48	1 4	3 76	2 74
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$51	\$40	\$(28)	\$59

Currency translation adjustments exclude income taxes related to indefinite investments in foreign subsidiaries.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows:

	Currency (Losses) Translation			ized Net Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Liability Available-for Sale Securities				Accumulated Other Comprehensive Uncome (Loss)	
Balance, January 1, 2017	\$ (39 )	\$ 2		\$	1	\$ (118	)	\$ (154	)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications	73	(2	)	1				72	
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	—	1		—		3		4	
Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss)	73	(1	)	1		3		76	
Balance, June 30, 2017	\$ 34	\$ 1		\$	2	\$ (115	)	\$ (78	)
Balance, January 1, 2016	\$ (80 )	\$ (2	)	\$		\$ (65	)	\$ (147	)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications	80	(10	)					70	
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	_	2		_		2		4	
Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss)	80	(8	)			2		74	
Balance, June 30, 2016	\$ —	\$ (10	)	\$		\$ (63	)	\$ (73	)

All components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are net of tax, except currency translation adjustments, which exclude income taxes related to indefinite investments in foreign subsidiaries and include a \$52 million gain, net of tax, as of June 30, 2017 related to the Company's hedge of its net investment in euro-denominated foreign operations (see Note 14 - Financial Instruments).

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into corporate interest expense were \$1 million (\$0 million, net of tax) and \$2 million (\$1 million,

(a) net of tax), respectively. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into corporate interest expense were \$2 million (\$1 million, net of tax) and \$4 million (\$2 million, net of tax), respectively.

### Table of Contents

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into selling, general and administrative expenses were \$2 million (\$2 million, net of tax) and \$4

- <sup>(b)</sup> million (\$3 million, net of tax), respectively. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into selling, general and administrative expenses were \$2 million (\$1 million, net of tax) and \$3 million (\$2 million, net of tax), respectively.
- 13. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of \$4 million and \$6 million (\$3 million and \$4 million, net of tax) during the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and \$5 million and \$14 million (\$3 million and \$9 million, net of tax) during the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

The Company uses a Monte Carlo simulation model to calculate the fair value of stock unit awards containing a market condition. For the six months ended June 30, 2017, the Company did not issue any stock unit awards containing a market condition. For the six months ended June 30, 2016, the Company's weighted average assumptions for expected stock price volatility, risk-free interest rate, valuation period and dividend yield were 46%, 0.99%, 3 years, and 0.0%, respectively.

The activity related to the Company's restricted stock units ("RSUs") consisted of (in thousands of shares):

	Time- RSUs	Based	Performa and Mark RSUs	nce-Based et-Based
	Numb of Shares	Grant	Number of Shares	Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value
Outstanding at		* • / ~ •		* * * * * *
January 1, 2017 (a)	878	\$ 34.83	923	\$ 34.11
Granted	528	34.41	572	34.41
Vested <sup>(b)</sup>	(447)	36.69	(146)	36.55
Forfeited/expired	l(50)	32.49	(276)	39.51
Outstanding at June 30, 2017 <sup>(c)</sup>	909	\$ 33.80	1,073	\$ 32.55

Reflects the maximum number of stock units assuming achievement of all time-, performance- and market-vesting criteria and does not include those for non-employee directors. The weighted-average fair value of time-based

<sup>a)</sup> RSUs, and performance-based and market-based RSUs granted during the six months ended June 30, 2016 was \$25.86 and \$23.29, respectively.

(b) The total grant date fair value of RSUs vested during the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was \$22 million and \$25 million, respectively.

The Company's outstanding time-based RSUs, and performance-based and market-based RSUs had aggregate intrinsic values of \$25 million and \$29 million, respectively. Aggregate unrecognized compensation expense

(c) related to time-based RSUs, and performance-based and market-based RSUs, at target, amounted to \$45 million and will be recognized over a weighted average vesting period of 1.5 years. The Company assumes that substantially all outstanding awards will vest over time.

The stock option activity consisted of (in thousands of shares):

-	Number of Options	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Int Va	gregate rinsic lue (in llions)	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term (years)
Outstanding at January 1, 2017	810	\$ 2.91	\$	27	2.3
Granted					
Exercised	(9)	0.79			
Forfeited/expired	1—		—		
Outstanding and exercisable at June 30, 2017	801	\$ 2.94	\$	19	1.8

### 14. Financial Instruments

### Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

Currency Risk. The Company uses currency exchange contracts to manage its exposure to changes in currency exchange rates associated with its non-U.S.-dollar denominated receivables and forecasted royalties, forecasted earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries and forecasted non-U.S.-dollar denominated acquisitions. The Company primarily hedges a portion of its current-year currency exposure to the Australian, Canadian and New Zealand dollars, the euro and the British pound sterling. The majority of forward contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment. The fluctuations in the value of these forward contracts do, however, largely offset the impact of changes in the value of the underlying risk they economically hedge. Forward contracts used to hedge forecasted third-party receipts and disbursements up to 12 months are designated and do qualify as cash flow hedges. The Company has designated its euro-denominated notes as a hedge of its investment in euro-denominated foreign operations. The amount of gains or losses reclassified from other comprehensive income (loss) to earnings resulting from ineffectiveness or from excluding a component of the hedges' gain or loss from the effectiveness calculation for cash flow and net investment hedges during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was not material, nor

flow and net investment hedges during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was not material, nor is the amount of gains or losses the Company expects to reclassify from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to earnings over the next 12 months.

Interest Rate Risk. The Company uses various hedging strategies including interest rate swaps and interest rate caps to create an appropriate mix of fixed and floating rate assets and liabilities. The Company uses interest rate swaps and interest rate caps to manage the risk related to its floating rate corporate debt and its floating rate vehicle-backed debt. The Company records the effective portion of changes in the fair value of its cash flow hedges to other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, and subsequently reclassifies these amounts into earnings in the period during which the hedged transaction is recognized. The Company records the gains or losses related to freestanding derivatives, which are not designated as a hedge for accounting purposes, in its consolidated results of operations. The changes in fair values of hedges that are determined to be ineffective are immediately reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to earnings resulting from ineffectiveness related to the Company's cash flow hedges was not material during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. The Company estimates that \$2 million of losses currently recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) will be recognized in earnings over the next 12 months.

The Company enters into derivative commodity contracts to manage its exposure to changes in the price of unleaded gasoline. Changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recorded within operating expenses.

The Company held derivative instruments with absolute notional values as follows:

	As of
	June 30,
	2017
Interest rate caps <sup>(a)</sup>	\$10,855
Interest rate swaps	1,800
Foreign exchange contracts	1,176

Commodity contracts (millions of gallons of unleaded gasoline) 6

Represents \$8.0 billion of interest rate caps sold, partially offset by approximately \$2.9 billion of interest rate caps <sup>(a)</sup> purchased. These amounts exclude \$5.1 billion of interest rate caps purchased by the Company's Avis Budget

Rental Car Funding subsidiary as it is not consolidated by the Company.

Estimated fair values (Level 2) of derivative instruments were as follows:							
	As o	f Jur	ne 30,	As of December			
	2017	'		31, 20	)16		
	Fair	VFali	reValue,	Fair VFaie, Value,			
	Asse	tLia	bility	Asset Liability			
	Deriv	vÐier	<i>i</i> esatives	s Deriva <b>Dveis</b> vatives			
Derivatives designated as							
hedging instruments							
Interest rate swaps <sup>(a)</sup>	\$4	\$	2	\$7	\$	4	
Derivatives not designated as							
hedging instruments							
Interest rate caps <sup>(b)</sup>	1	2		1	7		
Foreign exchange contracts (c)	2	26		7	2		
Commodity contracts (c)		2					
Total	\$ 7	\$	32	\$15	\$	13	

Amounts in this table exclude derivatives issued by Avis Budget Rental Car Funding; however, certain amounts related to the derivatives held by Avis Budget Rental Car Funding are included within accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

(a) Included in other non-current assets or other non-current liabilities.

<sup>(b)</sup> Included in assets under vehicle programs or liabilities under vehicle programs.

<sup>(c)</sup> Included in other current assets or other current liabilities.

The effects of derivatives recognized in the Company's Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements were as follows:

Ended	1	Six Months Ended June 30,		
2017	2016	2017 2016		
\$(2)	\$(5)	\$(1)\$(8)		
(26)	7	(31)(7)		
	(1)	— (1)		
(21)	22	(33) 12		
(1)	2	(2) —		
\$(50)	\$25	\$(67) \$(4)		
	Month Ended June 2017 \$(2) (26) 	Months Ended June 30, $2017 \ 2016$ (26) 7 (26) 7 (21) 22		

<sup>(a)</sup> Recognized, net of tax, as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders' equity.

(b) Gains (losses) related to derivative instruments are expected to be largely offset by (losses) gains on the underlying exposures being hedged.

<sup>(c)</sup> For the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, included in operating expense.

(d) For the three months ended June 30, 2017, included a \$11 million loss in interest expense and a \$10 million loss in operating expense and for the six months ended June 30, 2017, included a \$18 million loss in interest expense and a \$15 million loss in operating expense. For the three months ended June 30, 2016, included a \$26 million gain in interest expense and a \$4 million loss in operating expense and for the six months ended June 30, 2016, included a \$10 million gain in interest expense and a \$4 million loss in operating expense and for the six months ended June 30, 2016, included a \$10 million gain in interest expense and a \$10 million loss in operating expense and for the six months ended June 30, 2016, included a \$10 million gain in interest expense and a \$10 million loss in operating expense and for the six months ended June 30, 2016, included a \$10 million gain in interest expense and a \$10 million loss in operating expense and for the six months ended June 30, 2016, included a \$10 million loss in operating expense and for the six months ended June 30, 2016, included a \$10 million loss in operating expense and for the six months ended June 30, 2016, included a \$10 million loss in operating expense and for the six months ended June 30, 2016, included a \$10 million loss in operating expense and for the six months ended June 30, 2016, included a \$10 million loss in operating expense and for the six months ended June 30, 2016, included a \$10 million loss in operating expense and for the six months ended June 30, 2016, included a \$10 million loss in operating expense.

\$35 million gain in interest expense and a \$23 million loss in operating expense. (e) Included in operating expense.

### **Debt Instruments**

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values (Level 2) of debt instruments were as follows:

	As of June 30, 2017		As of D 31, 201	ecember 6
			Carryin Amoun	Estimated Fair Value
Corporate debt				
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt	\$26	\$ 26	\$279	\$ 280
Long-term debt	3,546	3,555	3,244	3,265
Debt under vehicle programs Vehicle-backed debt due to Avis Budget Rental Car Funding Vehicle-backed debt Interest rate swaps and interest rate caps <sup>(a)</sup>	\$7,876 3,484 2	\$ 7,920 3,494 2	\$6,695 2,176 7	\$ 6,722 2,187 7

<sup>(a)</sup> Derivatives in a liability position.

### 15. Segment Information

The Company's chief operating decision maker assesses performance and allocates resources based upon the separate financial information from the Company's operating segments. In identifying its reportable segments, the Company considered the nature of services provided, the geographical areas in which the segments operated and other relevant factors. The Company aggregates certain of its operating segments into its reportable segments.

Management evaluates the operating results of each of its reportable segments based upon revenue and "Adjusted EBITDA," which the Company defines as income from continuing operations before non-vehicle related depreciation and amortization, any impairment charges, restructuring and other related charges, early extinguishment of debt costs, non-vehicle related interest, transaction-related costs, net charges for unprecedented personal-injury legal matters and income taxes. Net charges for unprecedented personal-injury legal matters are recorded within operating expenses in the Company's Consolidated Condensed Statement of Comprehensive Income. The Company has revised its definition of Adjusted EBITDA to exclude costs associated with the separation of certain officers of the Company and its limited voluntary opportunity plan, which offers certain employees the limited opportunity to elect resignation from employment for enhanced severance benefits. Costs associated with the separation of certain officers and the limited voluntary opportunity plan are recorded as part of restructuring and other related charges in the Company's Consolidated Condensed Statement of Comprehensive Income. The Company did not revise prior year's Adjusted EBITDA amounts because there were no costs similar in nature to these costs. The Company's presentation of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly-titled measures used by other companies.

	Three Months Ended June 30, 2017 2016							
	Revenues	Adjuste EBITD		Revenu	Adjuste EBITD			
Americas International	\$ 1,565 673	\$96 59		\$1,593 650	\$ 163 57			
Corporate and Other <sup>(a)</sup>	—	(15	)	_	(16	)		
Total Company	\$ 2,238	\$ 140		\$2,243	\$ 204			
	Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to income before							
income taxes		<i>л</i> с						
Adjusted EBITDA		\$ 140			\$ 204			
Non-veh	icle							
related depreciation and amortization Interest expense related to corporate debt, net		65			65			
		48			56			
Early extinguis corporate	shment of e debt	_			10			
·	uring and	38			5			
Transact costs, ne	ion-related t	5			5			
Charges for legal matter, net <sup>(b)</sup>		(27	)					
Income								
before		\$ 11			\$ 63			
income taxes								

<sup>(a)</sup> Includes unallocated corporate overhead which is not attributable to a particular segment.

<sup>(b)</sup> Reported within operating expenses in our Consolidated Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Income.

	Six Months Ended June 30,							
	2017		2016					
	Revenues	Adjusted EBITDA	Revenu	Adjusted es EBITDA				
Americas	\$ 2,879	\$ 76	\$2,957	\$ 226				
International	1,198	66	1,167	58				

Table of Contents

Corporate and Other <sup>(a)</sup> Total Company	 \$ 4,077	(29 \$ 113	)	 \$4,124	(36 \$ 248	)
Reconciliatio EBITDA to 1 taxes	•					
Adjusted EBITDA	• •	\$ 113			\$ 248	
Non-veh related depreciat	tion and	128			126	
amortiza Interest e related to debt, net		97			106	
Early extinguis corporate	shment of e debt	3			10	
-	uring and	45			20	
Transact costs, ne	ion-related t	8			9	
Charges for legal matter, net <sup>(b)</sup>		(14	)		_	
Loss before income taxes		\$ (154	)		\$ (23	)

<sup>(a)</sup> Includes unallocated corporate overhead which is not attributable to a particular segment.

<sup>(b)</sup> Reported within operating expenses in our Consolidated Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Income.

Since December 31, 2016, there have been no significant changes in Americas segment assets exclusive of assets under vehicle programs, and as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, Americas segment assets under vehicle programs were approximately \$10.6 billion and \$9.2 billion, respectively. As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, International segment assets exclusive of assets under vehicle programs were approximately \$2.6 billion and \$2.0 billion, respectively, and International segment assets under vehicle programs were approximately \$3.3 billion and \$2.4 billion, respectively.

### Table of Contents

### 16. Guarantor and Non-Guarantor Consolidating Condensed Financial Statements

The following consolidating financial information presents Consolidating Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, Consolidating Condensed Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, and Consolidating Condensed Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 for: (i) Avis Budget Group, Inc. (the "Parent"); (ii) ABCR and Avis Budget Finance, Inc. (the "Subsidiary Issuers"); (iii) the guarantor subsidiaries; (iv) the non-guarantor subsidiaries; (v) elimination entries necessary to consolidate the Parent with the Subsidiary Issuers, and the guarantor and non-guarantor subsidiaries; and (vi) the Company on a consolidated basis. The Subsidiary Issuers and the guarantor and non-guarantor subsidiaries are 100% owned by the Parent, either directly or indirectly. All guarantees are full and unconditional and joint and several. This financial information is being presented in relation to the Company's guarantee of the payment of principal, premium (if any) and interest on the notes issued by the Subsidiary Issuers. See Note 9 - Long-term Debt and Borrowing Arrangements for additional description of these guaranteed notes. The Senior Notes are guaranteed by the Parent and certain subsidiaries.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for using the equity method of accounting for purposes of the consolidating presentation. The principal elimination entries relate to investments in subsidiaries and intercompany balances and transactions. For purposes of the accompanying Consolidating Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Income, certain expenses incurred by the Subsidiary Issuers are allocated to the guarantor and non-guarantor subsidiaries.

Consolidating Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Income

Three Months Ended June 30, 2017

Three Month's Ended June 50, 2017	Parei	nt	Subsic Issuers	•	Guarantor Subsidiaries	Non- Guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminatio	ns	Total
Revenues									
Vehicle rental	\$—		\$ —		\$ 1,055	\$ 508	\$ —		\$1,563
Other					316	1,022	(663	)	675
Net revenues	—				1,371	1,530	(663	)	2,238
Expenses									
Operating	1		9		644	454			1,108
Vehicle depreciation and lease charges, net					614	592	(609	)	597
Selling, general and administrative	10		2		158	123			293
Vehicle interest, net					52	75	(54	)	73
Non-vehicle related depreciation and amortization			1		40	24		,	65
Interest expense related to corporate debt	•								
net:									
Interest expense (income)			83			(35)			48
Intercompany interest expense (income)	(3	)	5		5	(7)			
Early extinguishment of debt			1			(1)	_		
Restructuring and other related charges			2		33	3			38
Transaction-related costs, net						5			5
Total expenses	8		103		1,546	1,233	(663	)	2,227
Income (loss) before income taxes and equity in earnings of subsidiaries	(8	)	(103	)	(175)	297	_		11
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	(2	)	(39	)	11	38			8
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries	9	<i>,</i>	73	,	259		(341	)	
Net income	\$3		\$9		\$ 73	\$ 259	\$ (341	)	\$3
Comprehensive income	\$ 51		\$ 58		\$ 123	\$ 309	\$ (490	)	\$51

# Six Months Ended June 30, 2017

	Paren	t	Subsidia Issuers	ry	Guarantor Subsidiaries	Non- Guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminatio	ns	Total
Revenues									
Vehicle rental	\$—		\$ —		\$ 1,941	\$ 908	\$ —		\$2,849
Other	—				583	1,893	(1,248	)	1,228
Net revenues					2,524	2,801	(1,248	)	4,077
Expenses									
Operating	2		13		1,284	858	_		2,157
Vehicle depreciation and lease charges, net					1,160	1,085	(1,144	)	1,101
Selling, general and administrative	20		4		311	220			555
Vehicle interest, net					97	144	(104	)	137
Non-vehicle related depreciation and amortization			1		80	47	_		128
Interest expense related to corporate debt	,								
net:									
Interest expense (income)			129		1	(33)	_		97
Intercompany interest expense (income)	(6	)	6		11	(11)	_		_
Early extinguishment of debt	_		4			(1)	_		3
Restructuring and other related charges			2		39	4	—		45
Transaction-related costs, net	—					8	—		8
Total expenses	16		159		2,983	2,321	(1,248	)	4,231
Income (loss) before income taxes and equity in earnings of subsidiaries	(16	)	(159	)	(459)	480			(154 )
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	(4	)	(62	)	(28)	44	_		(50)
Equity in earnings (loss) of subsidiaries	(92	)	5		436		(349	)	
Net income (loss)	\$(104	1)	\$ (92	)	\$ 5	\$ 436	\$ (349	)	\$(104)
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$(28	)	\$ (16	)	\$ 82	\$ 512	\$ (578	)	\$(28)

# Three Months Ended June 30, 2016

	Parent	-	ubsidia ssuers	ary	Guarantor Subsidiaries	Non- Guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminatio	ns	Total
Revenues									
Vehicle rental	\$ —	\$			\$ 1,084	\$ 489	\$ —		\$1,573
Other	—	_			316	931	(577	)	670
Net revenues		_	_		1,400	1,420	(577	)	2,243
Expenses									
Operating	1	1			666	454	_		1,122
Vehicle depreciation and lease charges, net		_	_		528	529	(525	)	532
Selling, general and administrative	9	5			170	128			312
Vehicle interest, net		_	_		49	76	(52	)	73
Non-vehicle related depreciation and amortization		_	_		40	25			65
Interest expense related to corporate debt									
net:									
Interest expense		4	-2		1	13			56
Intercompany interest expense (income)	(3)	(	2	)	5				
Early extinguishment of debt		1	0						10
Restructuring and other related charges					1	4			5
Transaction-related costs, net					1	4			5
Total expenses	7	5	6		1,461	1,233	(577	)	2,180
Income (loss) before income taxes and equity in earnings of subsidiaries	(7)	(.	56	)	(61)	187			63
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	(3)	(	22	)	37	15			27
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries	40	7	4		172		(286	)	
Net income	\$ 36	\$	40		\$ 74	\$ 172	\$ (286	)	\$36
Comprehensive income	\$ 40	\$	44		\$ 83	\$ 180	\$ (307	)	\$40

## Six Months Ended June 30, 2016

Six Month's Ended June 50, 2016	Parent		bsidia suers	ry	Guarantor Subsidiarie		Non- Guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminatic	ons	Total	
Revenues											
Vehicle rental	\$—	\$			\$ 2,013		\$ 888	\$ —		\$2,901	L
Other					587		1,725	(1,089	)	1,223	
Net revenues					2,600		2,613	(1,089	)	4,124	
Expenses											
Operating	2	11			1,294	;	855			2,162	
Vehicle depreciation and lease charges,					989		996	(990	`	995	
net					909		990	(990	)	995	
Selling, general and administrative	19	10			319		233			581	
Vehicle interest, net					94		143	(99	)	138	
Non-vehicle related depreciation and		1			77	,	48			126	
amortization		1			//	•	+0			120	
Interest expense related to corporate debt	,										
net:											
Interest expense		81			2		23			106	
Intercompany interest expense (income)	(6)	(5		)	11	-					
Early extinguishment of debt		10				-				10	
Restructuring and other related charges					7		13			20	
Transaction-related costs, net		1			1		7			9	
Total expenses	15	10	9		2,794		2,318	(1,089	)	4,147	
Income (loss) before income taxes and	(15)	(10	09	)	(194	)	295			(23	)
equity in earnings of subsidiaries				,		·					)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	· /	(43		)	32		)	—		(8	)
Equity in earnings (loss) of subsidiaries	· /	60			286	-		(340	)		
Net income (loss)	\$(15)	\$	(6	)	\$ 60		\$ 286	\$ (340	)	\$(15	)
Comprehensive income	\$59	\$	68		\$ 141		\$ 365	\$ (574	)	\$59	

Consolidating Condensed Balance Sheets

As of June 30, 2017

	Parent	Subsidiary Issuers	Guarantor Subsidiaries	Non- Guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Total
Assets Current assets:						
Cash and cash equivalents	\$3	\$ 121	\$ —	\$ 652	\$—	\$776
Receivables, net			225	537	_	762
Other current assets	5	83	105	644	_	837
Total current assets	8	204	330	1,833	_	2,375
Property and equipment, net Deferred		157	324	203		684
income taxes	19	1,341	271	11		1,642
Goodwill		_	488	555		1,043
Other intangibles, net Other	_	28	491	348		867
non-current assets	76	23	17	86	_	202
Intercompany receivables	178	370	1,590	972	(3,110)	_
Investment in subsidiaries Total assets exclusive of	(42)	3,799	3,839	_	(7,596)	
assets under vehicle programs	239	5,922	7,350	4,008	(10,706)	6,813
Assets under vehicle						
programs: Program cash	_	_	_	65	_	65
Vehicles, net Receivables		25	68	13,229	_	13,322
from vehicle manufacturers	_	1	1	235	_	237
and other Investment in Avis Budget	—		_	395	_	395

Table of Contents

		0	0			
Rental Car Funding (AESOP) LLC-related party		26	69	13,924		14,019
Total assets	\$239	\$ 5,948	\$ 7,419	\$ 17,932	\$ (10,706 )	\$20,832
Liabilities and stockholders' equity Current liabilities: Accounts						
payable and other current liabilities Short-term debt and	\$21	\$ 223	\$ 686	\$ 919	\$ —	\$1,849
current portior of long-term debt	1—	17	3	6		26
Total current liabilities	21	240	689	925	_	1,875
Long-term debt Other	t—	2,916	2	628	_	3,546
non-current liabilities	70	87	231	380	_	768
Intercompany payables Total liabilities exclusive of	_	2,738	370	2	(3,110)	
liabilities under vehicle programs	91	5,981	1,292	1,935	(3,110)	6,189
Liabilities under vehicle programs:						
Debt Due to Avis Budget Rental		9	61	3,416	_	3,486
Car Funding (AESOP) LLC-related party		_		7,876	_	7,876
Deferred income taxes	_	_	2,267	170	_	2,437
Other	_	9	2,328	696 12,158	_	696 14,495

Table of Contents

Total stockholders' 148 ) 3,799 (7,596 (42 3,839 ) 148 equity Total liabilities and \$239 \$5,948 \$ 7,419 \$ 17,932 \$(10,706) \$20,832 stockholders' equity

As of December 31, 2016

	Parent	Subsidiary	Guarantor Subsidiaries	Non- Guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Total
Assets						
Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents Receivables,	\$3	\$ 12	\$ —	\$ 475	\$—	\$490
net	—	_	231	577		808
Other current assets	2	101	90	326		519
Total current assets	5	113	321	1,378	_	1,817
Property and equipment, net		148	341	196	_	685
Deferred income taxes	20	1,219	268	_	(14)	1,493
Goodwill			489	518	_	1,007
Other		28	502	340	_	870
intangibles, net Other						
non-current assets	75	24	16	78		193
Intercompany receivables	171	359	1,466	670	(2,666 )	
Investment in subsidiaries Total assets exclusive of	42	3,717	3,698		(7,457)	_
assets under vehicle programs	313	5,608	7,101	3,180	(10,137)	6,065
Assets under vehicle						
programs: Program cash				225		225
Vehicles, net		24	70	10,370	_	10,464
Receivables						
from vehicle manufacturers		1		526	_	527
and other Investment in Avis Budget Rental Car Funding (AESOP)			_	362	_	362
Funding						

Table of Contents

LLC-related party	_	25	70	11,483	_	11,578
Total assets	\$ 313	\$ 5,633	\$ 7,171	\$ 14,663	\$ (10,137	\$17,643
Liabilities and stockholders' equity Current liabilities: Accounts						
payable and other current liabilities Short-term debt and	\$23	\$ 189	\$ 512	\$ 764	\$ —	\$1,488
current portion of long-term debt	ı—	264	3	12	_	279
Total current liabilities	23	453	515	776	—	1,767
Long-term deb Other	t—	2,730	3	511	_	3,244
non-current liabilities	69	88	253	368	(14	) 764
Intercompany payables Total liabilities		2,306	359	1	(2,666	) —
exclusive of liabilities under vehicle programs	r 92	5,577	1,130	1,656	(2,680	) 5,775
Liabilities under vehicle						
programs: Debt Due to Avis Budget Rental	—	14	66	2,103	_	2,183
Car Funding (AESOP) LLC-related party		_	—	6,695	—	6,695
Deferred income taxes		_	2,258	171	_	2,429
Other	_			340		340
Total	—	14	2,324	9,309		11,647
Total stockholders' equity	221	42	3,717	3,698	(7,457	) 221

Total liabilities and stockholders' \$313 \$5,633 \$7,171 \$14,663 \$(10,137) \$17,643 equity

## Consolidating Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

Six Months Ended June 30, 2017

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Paren	Subsid	liar S	yGuarai Subsid	nto liar	r Non-Guara ie <b>S</b> ubsidiarie	nt s	or Eliminati	offsotal	
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities	\$9	\$ (41	)	\$ 47		\$ 1,124		\$ —	\$1,139	)
Investing activities										
Property and equipment additions		(22	)	(34	)	(30	)		(86	)
Proceeds received on asset sales		1				3			4	
Net assets acquired (net of cash acquired)				(4	)	(10	)		(14	)
Intercompany loan receipts (advances)				(1	)	(313	)	314		
Other, net	100				-	(1	)	(100)	(1	)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	100	(01	`	(20	`		`	014	(07	
exclusive of vehicle programs	100	(21	)	(39	)	(351	)	214	(97	)
Vehicle programs:										
Decrease in program cash		—				168			168	
Investment in vehicles		1		(2	)	(8,115	)	—	(8,116	)
Proceeds received on disposition of vehicles		31				5,028			5,059	
Investment in debt securities of Avis Budget Rental Car						(33	`		(33	`
Funding (AESOP) LLC—related party	_					(33	)	_	(55	)
		32		(2	)	(2,952	)		(2,922	)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	100	11		(41	)	(3,303	)	214	(3,019	)
Financing activities										
Proceeds from long-term borrowings		325				264			589	
Payments on long-term borrowings	—	(396	)	(1	)	(194	)	_	(591	)
Net change in short-term borrowings						(1	)		(1	)
Intercompany loan borrowings (payments)		313				1		(314)		
Repurchases of common stock	(109)								(109	)
Debt financing fees		(3	)			(5	)		(8	)
Other, net		(100	)					100		
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	(109)	139		(1	)	65		(214)	(120	`
exclusive of vehicle programs	(109)	139		(1	)	03		(214)	(120	)
Vehicle programs:										
Proceeds from borrowings		—				11,255			11,255	
Payments on borrowings		—		(5	)	(8,983	)		(8,988	)
Debt financing fees		—				(8	)		(8	)
		—		(5	)	2,264			2,259	
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	(109)	139		(6	)	2,329		(214)	2,139	
Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents		_		_		27			27	
equivalento										
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		109				177			286	
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period	3	10)				475			490	
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	\$ 3	\$ 121		\$ —		\$ 652		\$ —	\$776	

Six Months Ended June 30, 2016

	Paren	t Subsid Issuers	iar	yGuaraı Subsid	nto liar	r Non-Gua ie <b>S</b> ubsidia	arar ries	ntor Elimina	atio	nTotal	
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities	\$ 89	\$ 144		\$ 30		\$ 896		\$ (80	)	\$1,079	
Investing activities Property and equipment additions Proceeds received on asset sales Net assets acquired (net of cash acquired) Intercompany loan receipts (advances) Other, net Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities exclusive of vehicle programs	  93 93	(11 4 — — (7	)	1 (1 28 —	) )	(32) 2 (2)  4 (28)	) )	 (28 (93 (121	) ) )	$ \begin{array}{c} (89) \\ 7 \\ (3) \\ \hline 4 \\ (81) \\ \end{array} $	)
Vehicle programs: Decrease in program cash Investment in vehicles Proceeds received on disposition of vehicles Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	  93	(2 20 18 11	)	$\frac{(7)}{(7)}$	) ) )	82 (8,491 5,398 (3,011 (3,039	) ) )	  (121	)	82 (8,500 ) 5,418 (3,000 ) (3,081 )	)
Financing activities Proceeds from long-term borrowings Payments on long-term borrowings Intercompany loan borrowings (payments) Repurchases of common stock Debt financing fees Other, net Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities exclusive of vehicle programs	 (183)  (183)	557 (518 	) ) ) )	(1 	)	1 (1 (28 — — (28	))	 28  173 201		558 (520) (183) (10) (155)	)
Vehicle programs: Proceeds from borrowings Payments on borrowings Debt financing fees Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash	  (183)	  (144	)	(4) (4) (5)	) ) )	9,850 (7,610 (17 2,223 2,195 13	)	  201		9,850 (7,614) (17) 2,219 2,064	)
equivalents Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	(1) 4 \$3	11 70 \$ 81				65 378 \$ 443				75 452 \$527	

### Table of Contents

### Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements and accompanying Notes thereto included elsewhere herein, and with our 2016 Form 10-K. Our actual results of operations may differ materially from those discussed in forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including but not limited to those included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and those included in the "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," "Risk Factors" and other portions of our 2016 Form 10-K. Unless otherwise noted, all dollar amounts in tables are in millions and those relating to our results of operations are presented before taxes. OVERVIEW

### Our Company

We operate three of the most recognized brands in the global vehicle rental and car sharing industry, Avis, Budget and Zipcar together with several brands well recognized in their respective markets, including Maggiore in Italy and APEX in both New Zealand and Australia. We are a leading vehicle rental operator in North America, Europe, Australasia and certain other regions we serve, with an average rental fleet of more than 600,000 vehicles. We also license the use of our trademarks to licensees in the areas in which we do not operate directly. We and our licensees operate our brands in approximately 180 countries throughout the world.

### Our Segments

We categorize our operations into two reportable business segments: Americas, consisting primarily of our vehicle rental operations in North America, South America, Central America and the Caribbean, and our car sharing operations in certain of these markets; and International, consisting primarily of our vehicle rental operations in Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Asia, Australasia, and our car sharing operations in certain of these markets.

### **Business and Trends**

Our revenues are derived principally from vehicle rentals in our Company-owned operations and include: time and mileage fees charged to our customers for vehicle rentals;

payments from our customers with respect to certain operating expenses we incur, including gasoline and vehicle licensing fees, as well as concession fees, which we pay in exchange for the right to operate at airports and other locations;

sales of loss damage waivers and insurance and rentals of navigation units and other items in conjunction with vehicle rentals; and

royalty revenue from our licensees in conjunction with their vehicle rental transactions.

Our operating results are subject to variability due to seasonality, macroeconomic conditions and other factors. Car rental volumes tend to be associated with the travel industry, particularly airline passenger volumes, or enplanements, which in turn tend to reflect general economic conditions. Our vehicle rental operations are also seasonal, with the third quarter of the year historically having been our strongest due to the increased level of leisure travel during the quarter. We have a partially variable cost structure and routinely adjust the size, and therefore the cost, of our rental fleet in response to fluctuations in demand.

Thus far in 2017, we have continued to operate in an uncertain and uneven economic environment marked by heightened geopolitical risks, competitive market conditions and soft used-vehicle values in the U.S. in particular. Nonetheless, we continue to anticipate that worldwide demand for vehicle rental and car sharing services will increase in 2017, most likely against a backdrop of modest and uneven global economic growth. Our access to new fleet vehicles has been adequate to meet our needs for both replacement of existing vehicles in the normal course and for

growth to meet incremental demand, and we expect that to continue to be the case. We will look to pursue opportunities for pricing increases in 2017 in order to enhance our profitability and returns on invested capital.

### Table of Contents

Our objective is to focus on strategically accelerating our growth, strengthening our global position as a leading provider of vehicle rental services, continuing to enhance our customers' rental experience, and controlling costs and driving efficiency throughout the organization. We operate in a highly competitive industry and we expect to continue to face challenges and risks. We seek to mitigate our exposure to risks in numerous ways, including delivering upon our core strategic initiatives, continued optimization of fleet levels to match changes in demand for vehicle rentals, adjustments in the size, nature and terms of our relationships with vehicle manufacturers, appropriate investments in technology and maintenance of liquidity to fund our fleet and our operations.

### During 2017:

Our net revenues totaled \$4.1 billion in the six months ended June 30, 2017 and decreased 1% compared to the six months ended June 30, 2016 due to lower time and mileage revenue per day offset by increased rental volumes.

In the six months ended June 30, 2017, our net loss was \$104 million, representing an \$89 million year-over-year reduction in earnings, and our Adjusted EBITDA was \$113 million, representing a \$135 million year-over-year reduction, due to lower revenues and higher per-unit fleet costs in the Americas, partially offset by an \$11 million favorable effect from currency exchange rate movements.

In the six months ended June 30, 2017, we repurchased approximately \$100 million of our common stock, reducing our shares outstanding by approximately 3.4 million shares, or 4%.

We issued €250 million of 4½% euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2025 and \$188 million of incremental term loan borrowings, the proceeds of which were used to redeem all of our outstanding 6% euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2021 and our Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2017. As a result of these transactions, we will have no significant corporate debt maturities until 2022.

### **RESULTS OF OPERATIONS**

We measure performance principally using the following key operating statistics: (i) rental days, which represents the total number of days (or portion thereof) a vehicle was rented, (ii) time and mileage revenue per rental day, which represents the average daily revenue we earned from rental time and mileage fees charged to our customers, both of which exclude our U.S. truck rental and Zipcar car sharing operations and (iii) per-unit fleet costs represent vehicle depreciation, lease charges and gain or loss on vehicle sales, divided by average rental fleet and exclude our U.S. truck rental operations. We also measure our ancillary revenues (rental-transaction revenue other than time and mileage revenue), such as from the sale of collision and loss damage waivers, insurance products, fuel service options and portable GPS navigation unit rentals. Our vehicle rental operating statistics (rental days and time and mileage revenue per rental day) are all calculated based on the actual rental of the vehicle during a 24-hour period. We believe that this methodology provides our management with the most relevant statistics in order to manage the business. Our calculation may not be comparable to other companies' calculation of similarly-titled statistics. We present currency exchange rate effects to provide a method of assessing how our business performed excluding the effects of foreign currency rate fluctuations. Currency exchange rate effects are calculated by translating the current-year results at the prior-period average exchange rate plus any related gains and losses on currency hedges.

We assess performance and allocate resources based upon the separate financial information of our operating segments. In identifying our reportable segments, we also consider the nature of services provided by our operating segments, the geographical areas in which our segments operate and other relevant factors. Management evaluates the operating results of each of our reportable segments based upon revenue and "Adjusted EBITDA," which we define as income from continuing operations before non-vehicle related depreciation and amortization, any impairment charges, restructuring and other related charges, early extinguishment of debt costs, non-vehicle related interest,

transaction-related costs, net charges for unprecedented personal-injury legal matters and income taxes. Net charges for unprecedented personal-injury legal matters are recorded within operating expenses in our consolidated results of operations. We have revised our definition of Adjusted EBITDA to exclude costs associated with the separation of certain officers of the Company and its limited voluntary opportunity plan, which offers certain employees the limited opportunity to elect resignation from employment for enhanced severance benefits. Costs associated with the separation of certain officers and the limited voluntary opportunity plan are recorded as part of restructuring and other related charges

### Table of Contents

in our consolidated results of operations. We did not revise prior year's Adjusted EBITDA amounts because there were no costs similar in nature to these costs. We believe Adjusted EBITDA is useful as a supplemental measure in evaluating the aggregate performance of our operating businesses and in comparing our results from period to period. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is useful to investors because it allows investors to assess our results of operations and financial condition on the same basis that management uses internally. Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for net income or other income statement data prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly-titled measures used by other companies.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2017 vs. Three Months Ended June 30, 2016

Our consolidated results of operations comprised the following:

	-				0
		\$			
	n		hle		
		•			
2017	2016		<i>(</i> )		ngo
				Clia	inge
¢1562	¢ 1 572	¢ (10	`	(1	(7)
			)		%) ~
			`		%
2,238	2,243	(5	)	0	%
1 100	1 1 2 2	1.4			C.
1,108	1,122	14		I	%
597	532	(65	)	(12	%)
203	312	10		6	%
295	512	19		0	10
72	72			0	07
13	13			0	%
				0	~
65	65	_		0	%
۹					
C					
18	56	0		14	%
40	50	0		14	70
	10	10		*	
	10	10			
• •	_				
38	5	(33	)	*	
d <sub>5</sub>	5			0	%
5	5			0	10
2,227	2,180	(47	)	(2	%)
	Ended June 30 2017 \$1,563 675 2,238 1,108 597 293 73 65 e 48  38 d <sub>5</sub>	June 30,         2017       2016         \$1,563       \$1,573         675       670         2,238       2,243         1,108       1,122         597       532         293       312         73       73         65       65         e       48       56          10         38       5         d <sub>5</sub> 5	Ended June 30, 2017       2016       Schange Faver (Unfavorable V)         2017       2016       (Unfavorable V)         \$1,563       \$1,573       \$ (10         675       670       \$ (2000)         1,108       1,122       14         597       532       (65         293       312       19         73       73          65       65          e       48       56       8          10       10         38       5       (33         d_5       5	Ended June 30, 2017 $\$$ Change Favoral (Unfavorable)20172016 $\$1,563$ $\$1,573$ $670$ $2,238$ $\$(10)$ $2,243$ 1,1081,12214597532(65)2933121973736565e485681010385(33)d5	Ended June 30, 2017 $\begin{tabular}{ c c c c } & \begin{tabular}{ c c c c } & \begin{tabular}{ c c c c } & \begin{tabular}{ c c } &$

Income before income taxes	11	63	(52	)	(83 %)
Provision for income taxes	8	27	19		70 %
Net income	\$3	\$36	\$ (33	)	(92 %)

\*Not meaningful

During second quarter 2017, our net revenues were in line with prior year as a result of a 5% increase in rental volumes, offset by a 5% reduction in time and mileage revenue per day. Currency exchange rate movements reduced revenues by \$20 million.

Total expenses increased as a result of increased volumes, a 7% increase in per-unit fleet costs and increased restructuring and other related charges, which include a voluntary termination program to reduce expenses in our field operations, shared services and general and administrative functions. These increases were partially offset by a \$19 million favorable effect on expenses from currency exchange rate movements and cost mitigating actions. Our effective tax rates were a provision of 73% and 43% for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, due to the mix of our earnings in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions. As a result of these items, our net income decreased by \$33 million.

For the three months ended June 30, 2017, the Company reported earnings of \$0.04 per diluted share, which includes after-tax restructuring and other related charges of (\$0.28) per share, after-tax transaction-related costs of (\$0.05) per share and after-tax reversal of charges for legal matter of \$0.19 per share. For the three months ended June 30, 2016, the Company reported earnings of \$0.38 per diluted share, which includes after-tax debt extinguishment costs of (\$0.06) per share, after-tax restructuring and other related charges of (\$0.04) per share and after-tax transaction-related costs of (\$0.04) per share.

### Table of Contents

In the three months ended June 30, 2017:

Operating expenses were reduced to 49.5% of revenue from 50.0% in second quarter 2016, primarily due to the recognition of recoverable insurance proceeds related to an unprecedented personal-injury legal matter.

Vehicle depreciation and lease charges increased to 26.7% of revenue from 23.7% in second quarter 2016, due to higher per-unit fleet costs.

Selling, general and administrative costs were reduced to 13.1% of revenue compared to 13.9% in second quarter 2016, due to cost mitigating actions.

Vehicle interest costs, at 3.3% of revenue, remained in line with the prior-year period.

Following is a more detailed discussion of the results of each of our reportable segments and reconciliation of net income to Adjusted EBITDA:

	Revenu	es			Adjusted EBITDA					
	2017	2016	%	Change	2017	2016	% Ch	nange		
Americas	\$1,565	\$1,593	(2	%)	\$96	\$163	(41	%)		
Internation	a <b>d</b> 73	650	4	%	59	57	4	%		
Corporate and Other (a)	_	_	*		(15)	(16)	*			
Total Company	\$2,238	\$2,243	0	%	\$140	\$204	(31	%)		
Reconciliation of Net income to Adjusted EBITDA										
					2017	2016				
Net income	e				\$3	\$36				
Provision f	or incor	na tavac			8	27				

Provision for income taxes	8	27
Income before income taxes	11	63
Add Non-vehicle related depreciation and amortization Interest expense related to	65	65
corporate debt, net:		
Interest expense	48	56
Early extinguishment of debt		10
Restructuring and other related charges	38	5
Transaction-related costs, net <sup>(b)</sup>	5	5
Charges for legal matter, net (c)	(27)	
Adjusted EBITDA	\$140	\$204

\*Not meaningful.

<sup>(a)</sup> Includes unallocated corporate overhead which is not attributable to a particular segment.

<sup>(b)</sup> Primarily comprised of acquisition- and integration-related expenses.

<sup>(c)</sup> Recorded within operating expenses in our consolidated results of operations.

Americas

	2017	2016	% Cha	nge
Revenue	\$1,565	\$1,593	(2	%)
Adjusted EBITDA	96	163	(41	%)

Revenues were 2% lower in second quarter 2017 compared with second quarter 2016, primarily due to a 4% reduction in time and mileage revenue per day, partially offset by a 2% increase in rental volumes. Currency movements reduced revenues by \$4 million.

Adjusted EBITDA decreased 41% in second quarter 2017 compared with second quarter 2016, due to lower revenues and a 10% increase in per-unit fleet costs.

### Table of Contents

In the three months ended June 30, 2017:

Operating expenses were reduced to 47.6% of revenue from 48.6% in second quarter 2016, primarily due to the recognition of recoverable insurance proceeds related to an unprecedented personal-injury legal matter.

Vehicle depreciation and lease charges increased to 29.5% of revenue from 25.9% in the prior-year period, due to higher per-unit fleet costs.

Selling, general and administrative costs were reduced to 11.3% of revenue from 11.7% in second quarter 2016, primarily due to cost mitigating actions.

Wehicle interest costs increased to 3.8% of revenue compared to 3.6% in second quarter 2016.

International

	2017	2016	% Ch	ange
Revenue	\$673	\$650	4	%
Adjusted EBITDA	59	57	4	%

Revenues increased 4% in second quarter 2017 compared to second quarter 2016, due to an 11% increase in rental volumes, largely driven by the acquisition of FranceCars in December 2016 and the shift in Easter to second quarter, partially offset by a 6% reduction in time and mileage revenue per day (including a 3% negative effect from currency movements). Currency movements negatively effected revenues by \$16 million.

Adjusted EBITDA increased 4% in second quarter 2017 compared to second quarter 2016, due to increased revenues and cost mitigating actions, partially offset by a 3% increase in per-unit fleet costs (including a 2% favorable effect from currency exchange rates) and a \$6 million negative effect from currency movements.

In the three months ended June 30, 2017:

Operating expenses, at 53.3% of revenue, remained in line with the prior-year period.

Vehicle depreciation and lease charges increased to 20.3% of revenue from 18.4% in second quarter 2016, due to higher per-unit fleet costs.

Selling, general and administrative costs were reduced to 15.6% of revenue from 17.1% in the prior-year period, primarily due to cost mitigating actions.

Vehicle interest costs were reduced to 2.1% of revenue compared to 2.5% in second quarter 2016, principally due to lower borrowing rates.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 vs. Six Months Ended June 30, 2016

Our consolidated results of operations comprised the following:

	Six Months Ended June 30,		\$ Change Favorable		~	C
	2017	2016	/(Unfavorabl	le)	% Cha	nge
Revenues Vehicle rental Other Net revenues	\$2,849 1,228 4,077	\$2,901 1,223 4,124	\$ (52 5 (47	) )	(2 0 (1	%) % %)
Expenses Operating Vehicle	2,157	2,162	5		0	%
depreciation and lease charges, net	1,101	995	(106	)	(11	%)
Selling, general and administrative	555	581	26		4	%
Vehicle interest, net	137	138	1		1	%
Non-vehicle related depreciation and amortization	128	126	(2	)	(2	%)
Interest expense related to corporate	e					
debt, net: Interest expense	97	106	9		8	%
Early extinguishment of debt	3	10	7		70	%
Restructuring and other related charges	45	20	(25	)	*	
Transaction-related costs, net	<sup>d</sup> 8	9	1		11	%
Total expenses	4,231	4,147	(84	)	(2	%)
Loss before income taxes	(154	) (23 )	(131	)	*	
Benefit from income taxes	(50	) (8 )	42		*	
Net loss	\$(104	) \$(15 )	\$ (89	)	*	

\*Not meaningful

During the six months ended June 30, 2017, our net revenues decreased as a result of a 5% reduction in time and mileage revenue per day (including a 1% negative effect from currency exchange rate movements), partially offset by a 4% increase in rental volumes. Currency movements reduced revenues by \$24 million year-over-year.

Total expenses increased as a result of increased volumes and a 6% increase in per-unit fleet costs, partially offset by a \$46 million (1%) favorable effect on expenses from currency exchange rate movements and cost mitigating actions. Our effective tax rates were a benefit of 32% and 35% for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. As a result of the decrease in our net revenues and these items, our net loss increased by \$89 million.

For the six months ended June 30, 2017, the Company reported a loss of \$1.22 per diluted share, which includes after-tax restructuring and other related charges of (\$0.33) per share, after-tax transaction-related costs of (\$0.08) per share, after-tax debt extinguishment costs of (\$0.02) per share and after-tax reversal of charges for legal matter of \$0.10 per share. For the six months ended June 30, 2016, the Company reported a loss of \$0.16 per diluted share, which includes after-tax restructuring and other related charges of (\$0.15) per share, after-tax transaction-related costs of (\$0.07) per share and after-tax debt extinguishment costs of (\$0.06) per share.

In the six months ended June 30, 2017:

Operating expenses increased to 52.9% of revenue from 52.4% in the prior-year period, due to lower time and
mileage revenue per day, partially offset by the recognition of recoverable insurance proceeds related to an unprecedented personal-injury legal matter.

Vehicle depreciation and lease charges increased to 27.0% of revenue from 24.1% in the six months ended June 30, 2016, primarily due to higher per-unit fleet costs.

Selling, general and administrative costs were reduced to 13.6% of revenue from 14.1% in first half 2016, primarily due to cost mitigating actions.

Vehicle interest costs were 3.4% of revenue compared to 3.3% in the prior-year period.

Following is a more detailed discussion of the results of each of our reportable segments and reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA:

	Revenu	es	s Adjusted EBITDA					
	2017	2016	% C	Change	2017	2016	% Cł	nange
Americas	\$2,879	\$2,957	(3	%)	\$76	\$226	(66	%)
Internation	all,198	1,167	3	%	66	58	14	%
Corporate and Other (a)	_	_	*		(29 )	(36)	*	
Total Company	\$4,077	\$4,124	(1	%)	\$113	\$248	(54	%)

#### Reconciliation of Net loss to Adjusted EBITDA

	2017	2016
Net loss	\$(104)	\$(15)
Benefit from income taxes	(50)	(8)
Loss before income taxes	(154)	(23)
Add Non-vehicle related depreciation and amortization	128	126
Interest expense related to		
corporate debt, net:		
Interest expense	97	106
Early extinguishment of debt	3	10
Restructuring and other related costs	45	20
Transaction-related costs, net <sup>(b)</sup>	8	9
Charges for legal matter, net (c)	(14)	
Adjusted EBITDA	\$113	\$248

\*Not meaningful.

<sup>(a)</sup> Includes unallocated corporate overhead which is not attributable to a particular segment.

<sup>(b)</sup> Primarily comprised of acquisition- and integration-related expenses.

<sup>(c)</sup> Reported within operating expenses in our consolidated results of operations.

#### Americas

	2017	2016	%	
	2017	2010	Cha	nge
Revenue	\$2,879	\$2,957	(3	%)
Adjusted EBITDA	76	226	(66	%)

Revenues decreased 3% during the six months ended June 30, 2017 compared with the same period in 2016, primarily due to a 4% reduction in time and mileage revenue per day, partially offset by 2% growth in rental volumes.

Adjusted EBITDA decreased 66% in the six months ended June 30, 2017 compared with the same period 2016, due to lower revenues and an 8% increase in per-unit fleet costs.

In the six months ended June 30, 2017:

Operating expenses increased to 51.3% of revenue, compared to 50.6% in the prior-year period, due to lower time and mileage revenue per day, partially offset by the recognition of recoverable insurance proceeds related to an unprecedented personal-injury legal matter.

Vehicle depreciation and lease charges increased to 29.8% of revenue from 26.2% in the prior-year period, primarily due to higher per-unit fleet costs.

• Selling, general and administrative costs, at 11.9% of revenue, remained level compared to first half 2016.

#### Table of Contents

Vehicle interest costs were 3.9% of revenue, an increase from 3.7% in the six months ended June 30, 2016.

International

	2017	2016	%	
			Cha	nge
Revenue	\$1,198	\$1,167	3	%
Adjusted EBITDA	66	58	14	%

Revenues increased 3% in the six months ended June 30, 2017 compared with the same period in 2016, primarily due to a 9% increase in rental volumes, largely driven by the acquisition of FranceCars, partially offset by a 6% reduction in time and mileage revenue per day (including a 2% negative effect from currency exchange rate changes). Currency movements negatively effected revenues by \$24 million.

Adjusted EBITDA increased 14% in the six months ended June 30, 2017 compared with the same period in 2016, due to increased revenues, cost mitigating actions and an \$11 million favorable effect from currency movements.

In the six months ended June 30, 2017:

Operating expenses were 56.4% of revenue compared to 56.5% in the prior-year period.

Vehicle depreciation and lease charges increased to 20.3% of revenue from 18.8% compared to first half 2016, primarily due to lower time and mileage revenue per day.

Selling, general and administrative costs were reduced to 15.6% of revenue compared to 17.2% in the prior-year period, due to cost mitigating actions.

Vehicle interest costs were reduced to 2.1% of revenue compared to 2.5% in the six months ended June 30, 2016 due to lower borrowing rates.

### FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We present separately the financial data of our vehicle programs. These programs are distinct from our other activities as the assets under vehicle programs are generally funded through the issuance of debt that is collateralized by such assets. The income generated by these assets is used, in part, to repay the principal and interest associated with the debt. Cash inflows and outflows relating to the generation or acquisition of such assets and the principal debt repayment or financing of such assets are classified as activities of our vehicle programs. We believe it is appropriate to segregate the financial data of our vehicle programs because, ultimately, the source of repayment of such debt is the realization of such assets.

### FINANCIAL CONDITION

	June	December	
	30,	31,	Change
	2017	2016	
Total assets exclusive of assets under vehicle programs	\$6,813	\$ 6,065	\$ 748
Total liabilities exclusive of liabilities under vehicle programs	6,189	5,775	414
Assets under vehicle programs	14,019	11,578	2,441
Liabilities under vehicle programs	14,495	11,647	2,848
Stockholders' equity	148	221	(73)

Total assets exclusive of assets under vehicle programs increased primarily due to a seasonal increase in value-added tax receivables, which are recoverable from government agencies and a temporary increase in cash. Total liabilities exclusive of liabilities under vehicle programs increased primarily due to a seasonal increase in accounts payable.

The increases in assets under vehicle programs and liabilities under vehicle programs are principally related to the seasonal increase in the size of our vehicle rental fleet. The decrease in stockholders' equity is primarily due to our net loss.

## LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our principal sources of liquidity are cash on hand and our ability to generate cash through operations and financing activities, as well as available funding arrangements and committed credit facilities, each of which is discussed below.

During the six months ended June 30, 2017, we issued €250 million of 4½% euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2025 at par. The proceeds from this borrowing were used to redeem all of our outstanding 6% euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2021 and a portion of our Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2017. We also increased our Floating Rate Term Loan borrowing by \$188 million, these proceeds were used to repay the remainder of our outstanding Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2017. In addition, our Avis Budget Rental Car Funding subsidiary issued approximately \$600 million in asset-backed notes with an expected final payment date of September 2022 and a weighted average interest rate of 3%. The proceeds from these borrowings were used to fund the repayment of maturing vehicle-backed debt and the acquisition of rental cars in the United States. We also increased our capacity under our European rental fleet securitization program by €250 million, the proceeds of which were used to finance fleet purchases for certain of our European operations. During the six months ended June 30, 2017, we repurchased approximately 3.4 million shares of our outstanding common stock for approximately \$100 million.

### CASH FLOWS

The following table summarizes our cash flows:

C	Six Months Ended June 30,			
	2017	2016	Change	
Cash provided by				
(used in):				
Operating activities	\$1,139	\$1,079	\$ 60	
Investing activities	(3,019)	(3,081)	62	
Financing activities	2,139	2,064	75	
Effect of exchange rate changes	27	13	14	
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	286	75	211	
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period	490	452	38	
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	\$776	\$527	\$ 249	

The increase in cash provided by operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2017 compared with the same period in 2016 is principally due to changes in the components of working capital.

The decrease in cash used in investing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2017 compared with the same period in 2016 is primarily due to a net decrease in investment in vehicles.

The increase in cash provided by financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2017 compared with the same period in 2016 primarily reflects a decrease in our repurchases of common stock.

### DEBT AND FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

At June 30, 2017, we had approximately \$15 billion of indebtedness, including corporate indebtedness of approximately \$4 billion and debt under vehicle programs of approximately \$11 billion. For detailed information regarding our debt and borrowing arrangements, see Notes 9 and 10 to our Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements.

## LIQUIDITY RISK

Our primary liquidity needs include the payment of operating expenses, servicing of corporate and vehicle-related debt and procurement of rental vehicles to be used in our operations. The present intention of management is to reinvest the undistributed earnings of the Company's foreign subsidiaries indefinitely into its foreign operations. We do not anticipate the need to repatriate foreign earnings to the United States to service corporate debt or for other U.S. needs. Our primary sources of funding are operating revenue, cash received upon the sale of vehicles, borrowings under our vehicle-backed borrowing arrangements and our senior revolving credit facility, and other financing activities.

### Table of Contents

As discussed above, as of June 30, 2017, we have cash and cash equivalents of approximately \$0.8 billion, available borrowing capacity under our committed credit facilities of approximately \$0.5 billion and available capacity under our vehicle programs of approximately \$1.6 billion.

Our liquidity position could be negatively affected by financial market disruptions or a downturn in the U.S. and worldwide economies, which may result in unfavorable conditions in the vehicle rental industry, in the asset-backed financing market, and in the credit markets generally. We believe these factors have in the past affected and could in the future affect the debt ratings assigned to us by credit rating agencies and the cost of our borrowings. Additionally, a downturn in the worldwide economy or a disruption in the credit markets could impact our liquidity due to (i) decreased demand and pricing for vehicles in the used-vehicle market, (ii) increased costs associated with, and/or reduced capacity or increased collateral needs under, our financings, (iii) the adverse impact of vehicle manufacturers, including Ford, General Motors, Chrysler, Peugeot, Kia, Volkswagen, Fiat, Mercedes, Toyota and Volvo, being unable or unwilling to honor their obligations to repurchase or guarantee the depreciation on the related program vehicles and (iv) disruption in our ability to obtain financing due to negative credit events specific to us or affecting the overall debt market.

Our liquidity position could also be negatively impacted if we are unable to remain in compliance with the financial and other covenants associated with our senior credit facility and other borrowings, including a maximum leverage ratio. As of June 30, 2017, we were in compliance with the financial covenants governing our indebtedness. For additional information regarding our liquidity risks, see Part I, Item 1A, "Risk Factors" of our 2016 Form 10-K.

### CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Our future contractual obligations have not changed significantly from the amounts reported within our 2016 Form 10-K with the exception of our commitment to purchase vehicles, which decreased by approximately \$6.0 billion from December 31, 2016, to approximately \$1.7 billion at June 30, 2017. Changes to our obligations related to corporate indebtedness and debt under vehicle programs are presented above within the section titled "Liquidity and Capital Resources—Debt and Financing Arrangements" and also within Notes 9 and 10 to our Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements.

### ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The results of the majority of our recurring operations are recorded in our financial statements using accounting policies that are not particularly subjective, nor complex. However, in presenting our financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, we are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported therein. Several of the estimates and assumptions that we are required to make pertain to matters that are inherently uncertain as they relate to future events. Presented within the section titled "Critical Accounting Policies" of our 2016 Form 10-K are the accounting policies (related to goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets, vehicles, income taxes and public liability, property damage and other insurance liabilities) that we believe require subjective and/or complex judgments that could potentially affect 2017 reported results. There have been no significant changes to those accounting policies or our assessment of which accounting policies we would consider to be critical accounting policies.

### New Accounting Standards

For detailed information regarding new accounting standards and their impact on our business, see Note 1 to our Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements.

### Table of Contents

### Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to a variety of market risks, including changes in currency exchange rates, interest rates and gasoline prices. We assess our market risks based on changes in interest and currency exchange rates utilizing a sensitivity analysis that measures the potential impact on earnings, fair values and cash flows based on a hypothetical 10% change (increase and decrease) in interest and foreign currency exchange rates. We used June 30, 2017 market rates to perform a sensitivity analysis separately for each of these market risk exposures. We have determined, through such analyses, that the impact of a 10% change in interest or currency exchange rates on our results of operations, balance sheet and cash flows would not be material. Additionally, we have commodity price exposure related to fluctuations in the price of unleaded gasoline. We anticipate that such commodity risk will remain a market risk exposure for the foreseeable future. We determined that a 10% change in the price of unleaded gasoline would not have a material impact on our earnings for the period ended June 30, 2017. For additional information regarding our long-term borrowings and financial instruments, see Notes 9, 10 and 14 to our Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements.

#### Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure (a) controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")). Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2017.

(b) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. During the fiscal quarter to which this report relates, there has been no change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Table of Contents

## PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

During the quarter ended June 30, 2017, the Company had no material developments to report with respect to its legal proceedings. For additional information regarding the Company's legal proceedings, see Note 11 to our Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements and refer to the Company's 2016 Form 10-K and Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2017.

### Item 1A. Risk Factors

During the quarter ended June 30, 2017, the Company had no material developments to report with respect to its risk factors. For additional information regarding the Company's risk factors, please refer to the Company's 2016 Form 10-K.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following is a summary of the Company's common stock repurchases by month for the quarter ended June 30, 2017:

	Total Number of Shares Purchased <sup>(a)</sup>	Average Price Paid per Share	Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plans or Programs	Approximate Dollar Value of Shares That May Yet Be Purchased Under the Plans or Programs
April 2017	637,823	\$29.00	637,823	\$231,976,168
May 2017	339,639	25.03	339,639	223,476,318
June 2017	948,580	24.25	948,580	200,476,522
Total	1,926,042	\$25.96	1,926,042	\$200,476,522

(a) Excludes, for the three months ended June 30, 2017, 40,658 shares which were withheld by the Company to satisfy employees' income tax liabilities attributable to the vesting of restricted stock unit awards.

The Company's Board of Directors has authorized the repurchase of up to approximately \$1.5 billion of its common stock under a plan originally approved in 2013 and subsequently expanded, most recently in 2016. The Company's stock repurchases may occur through open market purchases or trading plans pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The amount and timing of specific repurchases are subject to market conditions, applicable legal requirements and other factors. The repurchase program may be suspended, modified or discontinued at any time without prior notice. The repurchase program has no set expiration or termination date.

Item 6. Exhibits

See Exhibit Index.

### SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. AVIS BUDGET GROUP, INC.

Date: August 8, 2017

/s/ Martyn Smith
Martyn Smith
Interim Chief Financial Officer

Date: August 8, 2017

/s/ David T. Calabria David T. Calabria Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase.

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase.

Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions of this Exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities

\*Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which portions have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.